Contribution of the DNA binding domain of p53 to regulation of its stability

Natalia Lukashchuk

Thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow towards the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The Faculty of Medicine University of Glasgow The Beatson Institute for Cancer research Cancer Research UK Glasgow

September 2008

© Natalia Lukashchuk, 2008

Abstract.

Tumour suppressor p53 is frequently mutated in cancers. While wild type p53 is normally a rapidly degraded protein, mutant forms of p53 are stabilised and accumulate to high levels in tumour cells. Several studies have shown that mutant p53 acquires oncogenic properties and actively contributes to tumourigenesis. It is therefore important to understand how the stability of mutant p53 is regulated. This thesis shows that mutant and wild type p53 are ubiquitinated and degraded through overlapping but distinct pathways. While Mdm2 can drive the degradation of both mutant and wild type p53, this study suggests that the ability of Mdm2 to function as a ubiquitin ligase is less important in the degradation of mutant p53, which is heavily ubiquitinated in an Mdm2-independent manner. The contribution of Mdm2 to the degradation of mutant p53 may reflect an ability of Mdm2 to deliver the ubiquitinated mutant p53 to the proteasome. Ubiquitination does not efficiently target mutant p53 for the proteasomal degradation, however ubiquitinated p53 mutants localize to the cytoplasm. This thesis suggests the role for the chaperoneassociated ubiquitin ligase CHIP in ubiquitination of mutant p53, although other unidentified ubiquitin ligases appear to contribute. Interaction of mutant p53 with its family member p73 decreases ubiquitination, suggesting p73 can play a role in regulation of stability of mutant p53.

Acknowledgements.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Karen Vousden for her supervision, support and encouragement during the course of my PhD. I would also like to thank my internal adviser David Gillespie for the helpful advice and discussion of my results. Many thanks to all the present and past members of R15 group for sharing with me their experience, ideas and reagents. I am very grateful to Dr. Stjepan Uldrijan for his support and advice.

I am very thankful to all my friends and colleagues at the Beatson for making the atmosphere so friendly and enjoyable. Particularly I would like to thank Houda and Ireen for being great friends and making these years so much fun.

My special thanks go to my parents for their continuous support, encouragement and inspiration throught my PhD. I want to thank especially my sister Vera for her care, love, support, friendship, for reading my thesis and for being around. I would also like to thank my boyfriend Makis for his love and support.

Finally I wish to thank the Beatson institute and Cancer Research UK for funding this project.

Abbreviations.

AA	Amino acids
APS	ammonium persulfate
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATP	Adenosine 5'-triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Cdk	cyclin dependent kinase
cDNA	DNA complementary to mRNA
CHIP	Carboxyl terminus of Hsc70-interacting protein
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBD	DNA binding domain
DDW	Double distilled water
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylene diamine triacetic acid
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
FCS	Foetal calf serum
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
h	hours
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethane-sulfonic acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
kDa	kilodalton
LB	Luria-Bertani medium
min	minutes
mRNA	messenger RNA
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal
NES	Nuclear export signal
NP-40	Nonidet P40

OD Oligomerization domain

- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PD Proline rich domain
- PFA Paraformaldehyde
- PMSF phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride
- RD *Regulatory domain*
- RNA *Ribonucleic acid*
- RNase Ribonuclease
- RPE *Retinal pigment epithelia*
- Rpm *Revolutions per minute*
- rRNA Ribosomal RNA
- RT-PCR Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulphate
- siRNA Short interfering RNA
- T *Thymine*
- TA *Transactivation domain*
- TBS Tris buffered saline
- TBST TBS-Tween
- TE Tris-EDTA buffer
- TEMED *N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine*

Table of Contents.

Abstract.	2
Acknowledgements.	3
Abbreviations.	4
List of figures.	9
List of tables.	
Accompanying material.	
Declaration	14
1 Introduction	16
1.1 Cancer.	16
1.2 p53 is a tumour suppressor gene: history of discovery	18
1.3 Function of p53	19
1.3.1 p53 is a transcription factor.	19
1.3.2 Activation of p53.	23
1.3.3 Structure of p53.	25
1.4 Regulation of p53	
1.4.1 Ubiquitination.	
1.4.2 Proteasome	34
1.4.3 Ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of p53 by Mdm	236
1.4.4 Other ubiquitin ligases.	45
1.4.5 Ubiquitin-independent mechanism of p53 degradation	47
1.4.6 Regulation of p53 localization.	47
1.5 p53-like proteins.	49
1.5.1 p53 isoforms.	49
1.5.2 p53 family members.	50
1.6 Mutant p53	53
1.6.1 Mutations of p53 in cancer.	53
1.6.2 Properties of mutant p53	57
1.6.3 Accumulation of mutant p53 protein.	62
1.7 p53 and cancer therapy.	63
1.8 Aims	67
2 Materials and Methods	69
2.1 Materials.	69
2.2 Methods.	71
2.2.1 DNA preparation	71

2.2.2	Site-directed mutagenesis.	71
2.2.3	RNA extraction and RT-PCR.	72
2.2.4	Agarose gel electrophoresis.	72
2.2.5	Plasmids	73
2.2.6	Cells.	75
2.2.7	Growth conditions	75
2.2.8	Transfections	76
2.2.9	SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	77
2.2.10	Western blotting	77
2.2.11	Immunoprecipitation under native conditions.	78
2.2.12	<i>In vivo</i> ubiquitination of p53	79
2.2.13	<i>In vitro</i> ubiquitination of p53	79
2.2.14	Analysis of half-life of p53 by cycloheximide treatment.	80
2.2.15	Analysis of half-life of p53 by pulse-chase.	80
2.2.16	Subcellular fractionation	80
2.2.17	Immunofluorescence labeling	80
2.2.18	Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation.	81
3 Contrib	oution of the DNA binding domain of p53 to regulation of its degradation	n
by Mdm2.		83
3.1 Ana	alysis of the interaction of p53 DBD mutants with Mdm2	84
3.1.1	Mutant conformation of DNA binding domain of p53 promotes binding of	
Mdm2	outside box I	84
3.1.2	The RING domain of Mdm2 contributes to the interaction with p53 DBD	
mutant	lacking box I	88
3.2 Ana	alysis of the ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2	93
3.2.1	p53 mutants are less efficiently ubiquitinated by Mdm2 in vitro	93
3.2.2	p53 mutants are more highly ubiquitinated in vivo independently of Mdm2	96
3.3 Ana	alysis of degradation of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2	99
3.3.1	p53 DBD mutants are degraded by Mdm2 in vivo independent of the N-	
termin	al interaction.	.101
3.3.2	Mdm2 interacts with the proteasomal subunits.	.110
3.4 Sur	nmary and discussion.	.114
4 Analysi	s of Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants	.118
4.1 Cor	ntribution of Mdm2-dependent and Mdm2-independent mechanisms to	
ubiquitin	ation of mutant p53	.118

	4.2	Increase in ubiquitination of p53 mutants is not reflected in increased degrada	tion.
		125	
	4.3	Summary and discussion.	129
5	Lo	calization of p53 DBD mutants.	131
	5.1	Ubiquitinated p53 mutant proteins localize to the cytoplasm	131
	5.2	Cytoplasmic localization is not due to enhanced export	135
	5.3	Mutant p53 is sequestered in the cytoplasm by interaction with Parc	141
	5.4	Localization of p53 mutants in H1299.	142
	5.5	Summary and discussion.	143
6	Int	eraction of p53 DBD mutants with p73	145
	6.1	p53 with deletions of the conserved boxes of DBD interact with p73	145
	6.2	Effect of interaction of p53 mutants with p73 on degradation of p53 and p73.	146
	6.3	p73 inhibits ubiquitination of mutant p53	149
	6.4	Localization of mutant p53 and p73.	151
	6.5	Summary and discussion.	153
7	Dis	scussion.	155
R	efere	nces.	160

List of figures.

FIGURE 1.1. Scheme of p53 response.	20
FIGURE 1.2. Regulation of p53.	24
FIGURE 1.3. Structure of p53 protein.	26
FIGURE 1.4. Comparison of p53 protein sequence across species.	27
FIGURE 1.5. Ubiquitin-proteasome system.	29
FIGURE 1.6. Structure of the proteasome.	35
FIGURE 1.7. Structure of Mdm2 protein.	38
FIGURE 1.8. Modifications of p53 regulating its stability.	40
FIGURE 1.9. Human p53 gene.	49
FIGURE 1.10. Mutational frequency of p53.	55
FIGURE 3.1. Structural organization of the wild type p53 and p53 mutants used in	84
the study.	
FIGURE 3.2 p53s with deletions of the conserved boxes of DBD interact with	86
Mdm2.	
FIGURE 3.3. Mdm2 interacts with p53 DBD mutants lacking the N-terminal	87
Mdm2 binding site.	
FIGURE 3.4. Structural organization of wild type Mdm2 and Mdm2 mutants.	88
FIGURE 3.5. The acidic domain of Mdm2 is not required for the interaction of	89
Mdm2 with p53 DBD mutants lacking box I.	
FIGURE 3.6. Analysis of functional domains of Mdm2 involved in the interaction	90
of Mdm2 with p53175/ Δ I.	
FIGURE 3.7. Deletion of the RING domain on Mdm2 abrogates its ability to	92
interact with p53175/ Δ I.	
FIGURE 3.8. RING domain of Mdm2 is involved in interaction with $p53175/\Delta I$.	93
FIGURE 3.9. Analysis of ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants in vitro.	95
FIGURE 3.10. In vivo ubiquitination assay.	96
FIGURE 3.11. Analysis of ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2 in p53-/-	97
mdm2-/- cells.	
FIGURE 3.12. Analysis of ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants in H1299 cells.	98
FIGURE 3.13. Deletion of Mdm2-binding site on p53 mutant does not reduce	99
ubiquitination in H1299 cells.	
FIGURE 3.14. Mdm2-mediated proteasomal degradation of p53.	100
FIGURE 3.15. p53 DBD mutants are degraded by Mdm2.	101

FIGURE 3.16. p53 DBD mutants lacking box I are degraded by Mdm2.	103
FIGURE 3.17. Mdm2 lacking the N-terminus retains the ability to degrade p53	104
DBD mutants.	
FIGURE 3.18. p53 DBD mutants lacking box I are resistant to degradation by	105
Mdm2 in H1299 cells.	
FIGURE 3.19. Mdm2C464A is able to degrade p53 mutants lacking box I.	106
FIGURE 3.20 . p53ΔII is stabilized by nutlin-3 treatment less than wild type p53.	109
FIGURE 3.21. Interaction of wild type Mdm2 and Mdm2 Δ R with the proteasomal	112
subunits.	
FIGURE 3.22. Analysis of the involvement of the N-terminus and the acidic	113
domain of Mdm2 to the interaction with the proteasomal subunits.	
FIGURE 4.1. Contribution of Mdm2, Cop1 and ARF-BP1 to ubiquitination of wild	119
type p53 and p53175H in U2OS cells.	
FIGURE 4.2. Contribution of Mdm2, Cop1 and ARF-BP1 to ubiquitination of wild	120
type p53 and p53175H in H1299 cells.	
FIGURE 4.3. Contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and	121
p53175H (downregulation of CHIP expression with the pool of siRNA	
oligonucleotides).	
FIGURE 4.4. Contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and	122
p53175H (downregulation of CHIP expression with a single pair of siRNA	
oligonucleotides).	
FIGURE 4.5. Effect of siRNA-mediated reduction of Hsp70 expression on	123
ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H.	
FIGURE 4.6. Analysis of CHIP expression in cancers.	124
FIGURE 4.7. Analysis of half-life of p53 in p53-/-mdm2-/- cells by cycloheximide	126
treatment.	
FIGURE 4.8. Analysis of half-life of p53 in p53-/-mdm2-/- cells by pulse-chase.	127
FIGURE 4.9. Analysis of half-life of p53 in H1299 cells by cycloheximide	128
treatment.	
FIGURE 5.1. Ubiquitinated p53 DBD mutants localize to the cytoplasm in p53-/-	132
mdm2-/- cells.	
FIGURE 5.2. Immunofluorescence analysis of transfected p53 in U2OS cells.	133
FIGURE 5.3. Ubiquitinated p53 DBD mutants localize to the cytoplasm in U2OS	133
cells.	
FIGURE 5.4. Mutant p53 is detected in the cytoplasmic fraction of U2OS cells.	134

FIGURE 5.5. Schematic representation of the structure of p53 and p53 mutants.	135
FIGURE 5.6. Contribution of nuclear import and export to regulation of mutant	137
p53 localization in U2OS cells.	
FIGURE 5.7. Quantitative analysis of the contribution of nuclear import and	137
nuclear export to cytoplasmic localization of p53.	
FIGURE 5.8. Treatment with leptomycin B does not block cytoplasmic localization	138
of mutant p53 in p53-/-mdm2-/- cells.	
FIGURE 5.9. Contribution of NLS and NES to localization of mutant p53 in p53-/-	139
mdm2-/- cells.	
FIGURE 5.10. p53 DBD mutants lacking box I display cytoplasmic localization in	140
U2OS cells.	
FIGURE 5.11. p53 DBD mutants interact with Parc.	141
FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells.	142
FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73.	142 145
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and 	142 145 147
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. 	142 145 147
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2. 	142 145 147 148
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2. FIGURE 6.4. siRNA-mediated knockdown of Itch expression does not affect the 	142 145 147 148 149
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2. FIGURE 6.4. siRNA-mediated knockdown of Itch expression does not affect the ubiquitination of p53175H. 	142 145 147 148 149
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2. FIGURE 6.4. siRNA-mediated knockdown of Itch expression does not affect the ubiquitination of p53175H. FIGURE 6.5. p73 inhibits ubiquitination of p53175H. 	 142 145 147 148 149 150
 FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells. FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73. FIGURE 6.2. Effect of p53 and p73α on Mdm2-mediated degradation of p73α and p53. FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2. FIGURE 6.4. siRNA-mediated knockdown of Itch expression does not affect the ubiquitination of p53175H. FIGURE 6.5. p73 inhibits ubiquitination of p53175H. FIGURE 6.6. Mutant p53 and p73 partially colocalize in the nucleus. 	 142 145 147 148 149 150 152

List of tables.

Table 1.1. Proteins interacting with Mdm2 and/or p53 and affecting	43
ubiquitination.	
Table 1.2. p53 ubiquitin ligases.	46
Table 2.1. General chemicals and reagents.	69
Table 2.2. Solutions and buffers.	70
Table 2.3 RT-PCR primers.	72
Table 2.4. Plasmids.	73-74
Table 2.5. Primers used for site-directed mutagenesis of p53.	74
Table 2.6. Primers used for sequencing of p53.	75
Table 2.7. SiRNA oligonucleotides.	77
Table 2.8. Primary antibodies	78

Accompanying material.

Part of this work has contributed to the publication which is enclosed at the back of the thesis:

Lukashchuk N, Vousden KH. Ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53. Mol Cell Biol. 2007 Dec;27(23):8284-95.

Declaration

I declare that all of the work in this thesis was performed personally. No part of this work has been submitted for consideration as part of any other degree or award.

Chapter 1. Introduction.

1 Introduction.

1.1 Cancer.

Cancer is a complex disease evolving as a result of a multi-step deregulation of normal processes controlling cell growth and proliferation. Different cellular stresses, such as DNA damage and oncogene activation, can lead to accumulation of mutations in cells, which can deregulate crucial cell regulatory pathways. The current model suggests that several genetic alterations conferring growth advantage to the cell are necessary for oncogenic transformation (1, 2). These hallmarks of cancer have been originally described as self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory signals, evasion of apoptosis and limitless replication potential, sustained angiogenesis and tissue invasion (3). Most of these changes occur as cell-autonomous events or can target cell microenvironment. Later the avoidance of immunosurveillance has been proposed as a seventh hallmark of cancer, representing a more complex cell-extrinsic view of cancer development (4). The current update of this model also describes the alteration in tumour metabolism as an important cancer-associated feature (5), which is linked to most of the mentioned molecular changes and becomes the eighth hallmark of cancer.

Most of the genes altered in cancer have been classified as oncogenes and tumour suppressors (6). Under normal conditions oncogenes stimulate cell growth, subject to a tight regulatory mechanism. Oncogenes are mutated in a way that makes the gene consitutively active under the conditions when the wild type gene is inactive. This can result from chromosomal translocations, gene amplifications or from single amino acid substitutions affecting residues crucial for the activity of the protein. An activating mutation in an oncogene confers growth advantage on the cell. For example, Ras proteins are a family of small GTPases, and are frequently mutated in cancer. The GTPase activity shuttles the protein from active to inactive state. Oncogenic mutation in Ras (for example Gln61Leu in H-Ras) leads to structural alteration of the protein, which impairs the GTPase activity, "locking" Ras in active state. Activated Ras leads to aberrant growth via activation of MAPK pathway (7). Ras oncogenes play a key role in malignant transformation of primary cells (8-10). Other examples of oncogenes include B-Raf, c-Myc, EGFR, met, and many others (11). In contrast to oncogenes, genetic alterations in tumour-suppressor genes lead to inactivation of their function. Such alterations usually represent missense mutations at residues essential for the activity, mutations leading to a truncated protein, deletions or insertions or epigenetic silencing of the gene. Though inactivation of only one allele of some of the tumour suppressor genes can be enough to

confer growth advantage upon the cells, in most other cases mutations in both alleles are required to confer growth advantage (6). The loss of heterozygosity commonly occurs through the deletion of the second allele via a large chromosomal event, such as loss of chromosomal arm (12). The best characterized examples of tumour-suppressor genes are p53, Rb and APC, which are often inactivated in cancers (13, 14). One of the examples is the frequently inactivated in retinoblastomas Rb (retinoblastoma) tumour suppressor, which encodes the Rb protein, which blocks proliferation by sequestering E2F (15). Another tumour suppressor frequently inactivated in cancers is p16Ink4A, which inhibits cyclin dependent kinases (16). The subgroup of the tumor suppressor genes important in cancer is defined by the stability genes. This group involves genes whose products are involved in DNA repair during normal processes, such as replication, mitotic recombination and chromosomal segregation, or upon exposure to mutagens. These genes are exemplified by BRCA1, ATM, BLM and many others. Inactivation of the stability genes leads to higher rate of accumulation of mutations, which can accelerate cancer progression (17). Many hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes occur by mutations of the stability genes (6).

Mutations can be of either germline or somatic origin. Germline mutations lead to increased frequency of occurrence of cancer. Some of the examples of the hereditary types of cancers include familial adenomatous polyposis (mutations in APC), familial breast cancer (mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2) or Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS, caused by mutations in p53). Somatic mutations are acquired in somatic tissue during the lifetime and predominantly give rise to cancer with mutations restricted to cancer cells (12).

Genetic changes in tumours have a different weight in contributing to malignant progression. Some of them are crucial for sustaining tumour growth, such as oncogenic changes in Myc and Ras. Elimination of such oncogenes from tumours leads to tumour regression and has been termed "oncogene addiction" effect (18). Other changes that were selected in early stages of tumour development may not be required for growth of advanced aggressive tumour or could occur as secondary alterations due to genetic instability of tumours.

The concept of cancer being a heterogeneous disease, which arises through a number of several mutations, is supported by recent evidence of cancer-genome studies. One such study, which analyzed 13000 genes in 11 breast and 11 colorectal cancers, revealed that on average there are about 11 mutated genes per tumour, which contribute to tumour progression. Noteworthy, each tumour specimen had its own distinct gene signature with maximum of 6 genes overlap. Though this could be due to the limited number of samples, it seems to reflect the high heterogeneity of tumours even from the

same tissue origin. More recent studies focused on pancreatic cancers and glioblastomas and carried out more extensive analysis (19-21). These studies have found that there are on average 63 genetic alterations in pancreatic cancer and about 47 mutations in glioblastoma with significant variation between the samples. It remains to be determined which of these genes are the "driving" force of tumour progression and which were accumulated on the way. Mutations in pancreatic cancer affected only 12 pathways and 3 pathways in glioblastoma, which implies that several pathways are disrupted in tumour development and several genetic alterations are required to deregulate the pathway.

In addition to mutations, discussed above, there are many other genes, involved in tumourigenesis, which are not mutated, however their expression levels are altered. Changes in expression are generally associated with the epigenetic changes, such as methylation of DNA, which silences the gene. These changes can be found in normal cells at some stage of development, suggesting their reversibility. In many cancers the promoters of some tumour-suppressor genes, such as Rb, VHL and BRCA1, are hypermethylated, which results in inactivation of these genes (22, 23).

One of the most commonly found alterations in cancer is inactivation of the p53 pathway (24) (IARC TP53 database http://www-p53.iarc.fr/). p53 gene is mutated in about 50% of most human cancers (25, 26) and large proportion of the cancers that retain wild type p53 have mutations in pathways directly regulating p53. The germline mutation in p53 causes the cancer predisposition syndrome Li-Fraumeni (27). The key role of p53 in tumourigenesis is also reflected in the literature with over 40000 publications since its discovery. p53 has been well described as a tumour suppressor, which is involved in numerous sometimes opposing biological processes preventing the rise of malignant cells (28).

1.2 *p***53** *is a tumour suppressor gene: history of discovery.*

Already during the first years after its discovery the unique character of p53 was revealed, which distinguishes it among other tumour suppressors. p53 was identified in 1979 as a protein in complex with large T-antigen oncoprotein of the SV40 DNA tumour virus (29, 30). Another study reported high levels of p53 in transformed, but not normal cells, with no history of viral infection, suggesting it was coded by cellular genes (31). p53 gene was cloned (32-34) and originally described as an oncogene, due to its ability to transform cells in cooperation with other H-Ras oncogene (35, 36). In support of this notion, expression of p53 then was shown to immortalize the cells (37) and enhance tumourigenic potential of cells injected in mice (38, 39). Later it was realized that the originally studied p53 protein was the product of a mutated p53 gene, which indeed

promoted tumourigenesis. However, after the wild type p53 gene was cloned it became evident that wild type p53 protein blocked the ability of oncogenes to transform cells (40-42). It also became clear that SV40 needed to inactivate wild type p53 in order to transform cells (43). Wild type p53 was then reclassified as a tumour suppressor gene and numerous studies since then have demonstrated its key role in protecting cells from cancer (24). The fact that p53 is mutated in at least half of all human cancers indicates a strong selection for its loss during tumour progression (25, 26). Additional support for its crucial role in tumourigenesis came from the study of Li-Fraumeni patients, who inherit one allele of mutant p53 gene and are extremely predisposed to cancer (44). Most convincing evidence for the tumour suppressive role of p53 has come from the study of p53 knock-out mice (45, 46). Those mice can develop without gross abnormalities, though some problems with development have been reported, however they all spontaneously develop tumours by the age of 6 months. Recognition of p53's prominent role in protection from cancer has boosted a huge amount of scientific reports (around 20000) describing the function of p53 as a tumour suppressor. Quite an unusual feature of a tumour suppressor was noted -p53is point mutated rather than inactivated in cancers and is highly expressed in tumours. Mutation of p53 gene confers novel oncogenic properties on p53 protein.

1.3 Function of p53.

p53 is activated in response to oncogene activation, DNA damage and spindle damage, which can potentially increase the mutation occurrence in cells and increase the risk of becoming cancerous. p53 is also induced in response to other types of cellular stresses such as hypoxia, rNTP depletion and nutrient deprivation which can predispose cells to malignant transformation (Fig.1.1). Activated p53 can induce cell-cycle arrest, allowing DNA repair, or cause senescence, or promote apoptosis, eliminating the damaged cells (24, 28). Numerous studies have demonstrated that p53 can influence many other biological processes, such as invasion and motility, angiogenesis, differentiation, cell survival and more recently discovered glycolysis (47, 48) and autophagy (49) (Fig.1.1).

1.3.1 p53 is a transcription factor.

The p53 gene encodes a transcription factor and mediates much of its biological activities by regulating the expression of numerous p53 target genes (Fig.1.1). p53 binds to the specific sequences – p53 responsive elements - in the regulatory region of its target genes and more than hundred different p53 target genes have been described with various biological functions and the list is likely to grow (50). p53 activates transcription of most

of its targets by recruiting general transcription factors (TATA-binding protein-associated factors) and histone acetyltransferases (HAT) CBP, p300 and PCAF to the promoter





p53 is activated by a number of cellular stresses (blue boxes) and regulates different biological processes (red boxes) via transcriptional activation of its target genes (marked in black).

(51-54). One of the first discovered p53 target genes was the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CDK) p21, which induces a cell cycle arrest (55). Other p53-regulated genes mediating cell cycle arrest include 14-3-3 σ (56), GADD45 (57) and Reprimo (58). p53 induces apoptosis by activating genes mediating extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways (59). Such targets include genes encoding death receptors, Fas/CD95/Apo-1 (60) and Killer/R5 (61), and mitochondrial proteins Bax (62), Noxa (63) and PUMA (64). The mitochondrial proteins function by inducing the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, leading to release of cytochrome C and activating caspases leading to apoptosis. Out of

these proteins PUMA is the key mediator of apoptosis, as it is required for most of the apoptotic activity of p53 (65). In addition to its well-established role as a transcription factor, p53 can induce apoptosis independent of transcriptional activity by direct interaction with members of the BCL2 family proteins at the mitochondria (66). PUMA also mediates induction of apoptosis by cytoplasmic p53 (67). Activation of autophagy via induction of novel gene DRAM by p53 also contributes to cell death (49, 68). Recent studies have identified microRNA miR-34 as a p53 target gene, adding a new twist on regulation of p53 gene network (69-72). miRNAs are a class of small regulatory RNAs that mediate post-transcriptional silencing of specific target mRNAs (73). The miR-34 family is directly induced by p53 in response to DNA damage and oncogenic stress, which can lead to induction of growth arrest and apoptosis through inhibiting gene expression of proliferative and anti-apoptotic genes (69, 72). p53 can contribute to cell survival by allowing DNA repair by activating genes such as Gadd45 (57), p53R2 (74). p53 has also been suggested to play a direct role in mediating DNA repair by interacting with components of the repair machinery (75). In addition, p53 plays a survival role by protecting the genome from damage by reactive oxygen species (ROS). This activity of p53 is mediated by activation of TIGAR (47), sestrins (76), aldehyde dehydrogenase-4 (77) and Sco2 (78), which can decrease the levels of intracellular ROS. TIGAR, one of the most recently described p53 target genes, is involved in regulation of glycolysis, and plays anti-oxidant role by decreasing ROS, which attenuates cell death (47). The survival function of p53 is suggested to be important under conditions of basal physiological stress in normally growing cells to prevent accumulation of DNA damage (79). In the absence of severe stress, low levels of p53 activate the expression of antioxidant genes. This has been demonstrated by removal of p53 in unstressed cells, which leads to down-regulation of levels of sestrins and Sco2. The current model suggests that at low levels of stress p53 plays a survival role and helps the cell to cope with stress, by decreasing ROS and allowing DNA repair. When stress is severe and/or DNA damage is irrepairable, p53 triggers irreversible growth arrest or apoptosis, to eliminate the damaged cells from the healthy pool (28). In light of the current data, the role of p53 therefore emerges as a master regulator of cells well-being, which prevents cancer development.

Several p53 target genes inhibit p53 activity in a negative feedback loop. p53 transcriptionally activates its major negative regulator Mdm2 (mouse double minute) (80, 81), a ubiquitin ligase, which inactivates p53 mainly by targeting p53 it for proteasomal degradation and promoting p53 nuclear export (82). Similarly to Mdm2, p53 target genes Cop1 (83) and Pirh2 encode ubiquitin ligases which can degrade p53 (84).

Though binding of p53 to the response element of most of its target genes results in activation of their transcription, some genes are repressed by p53. p53 can prevent the activation of the promoters of the genes in a number of different ways. p53 can prevent the binding of more potent transcription factors, for example NF-Y and CEBP, due to overlapping binding sites in the promoter. By this mechanism, p53 can repress transcription of BRCA1 and some other genes (85). Similarly, p53 represses anti-apoptotic gene Bcl-2 by preventing its activation by POU4F1 family transcription factor (86). In addition, p53 can directly interact with the transcription factors, such as Sp1 and AP1 and others, preventing their binding to the target genes. By this mechanism p53 leads to repression of genes such as cyclin B1 (87) and TERT (88). p53 also recruits histone deacetylases (HDACs) to the promoters which is mediated by the interaction with SIN3A (89). HDAC2 deacetylates lysine residues of histones in chromatin, repressing transcription of genes (90). By this mechanism, p53 represses transcription of genes such as MAP4 and stathmin (89).

One of the novel target genes CD44 is inhibited by p53 under conditions of basal stress (91). CD44 plays a key role in mediating tumour progression in cells lacking p53. CD44 encodes a cell-surface molecule and can block p53-dependent stress-induced apoptotic signals. Inactivation of p53 function in tumour cells derepresses CD44 expression, which is essential for tumour-initiating ability of transformed mammary epithelial cells (91).

The repertoire of p53 target genes is extremely broad and in addition to genes mentioned above also includes secreted proteins regulating migration (92) and angiogenesis (93, 94). Though some of these biological responses have sometimes opposing roles, they all seem to contribute to the tumour suppressive function of p53.

The choice of p53 response depends on the type of the particular stress and cellular context and is the active area of research (50), which has mostly focused on the choice between the fundamental p53 responses – cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Posttranslational modifications are involved in dictating the choice of transcriptional target genes by p53. Upon UV and DNA damage HIPK2 (95, 96) and DYRK2 (97) phosphorylate p53 on S46. This promotes induction of apoptosis by p53 via activation of pro-apoptotic p53AIP1 gene (95, 98). Acetylation of p53 on lysine 120 by MOF and TIP60 also promotes p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage, via recruitment of p53 to pro-apoptotic target genes, PUMA and Bax (99, 100). Ubiquitination of p53 on Lys320 by E3 ligase E4F1 promotes cell cycle arrest function of p53 via activation of p21, Gadd45 and cyclin G1, while not affecting the pro-apoptotic target genes (101). p53 family members p63 and

p73 can also selectively enhance the apoptotic activity of p53 in some cell types, by promoting transactivation of PERP and BAX but not p21(102).

p53 interacting partners play an important role in the outcome of p53 response. The members of the ASPP (ankyrin-repeat-SH3-domain- and proline-rich-region-containing) family play an important role in regulating the apoptotic function of p53. The family of ASPPs, which also stands for apoptosis-stimulating protein, includes three members: proapoptotic - ASPP1, ASPP2 and anti-apoptotic iASPP (inhibitory) and their function is evolutionary conserved. The ASPP family members contain highly conserved ankyrin repeats, an SH3 domain and proline rich region in their C-terminus (103). Unlike many other proteins, ASPP family members interact with the DNA binding domain of p53 (104). ASPP1 and ASPP2 specifically stimulate the induction of apoptosis by p53, but not cell cycle arrest (105). ASPPs act by selectively enhancing the p53 binding and transactivating promoters of pro-apoptotic target genes such as Bax, PIG3 (p53-induced gene 3) and PUMA, while not affecting the promoters of the CDKN1A and mdm2 genes. The mechanism of the promoter selectivity is currently unknown, but could involve the change of conformation of DBD of p53 or the recruitment of other chromatin-remodelling factors (105). iASPP specifically inhibits p53-induced apoptosis by inhibiting the transactivation of p53 of pro-apoptotic BAX and PIG3 genes, but not of Mdm2 and CDKN1A. It has been suggested that iASPP acts by displacing ASPP2 from p53 (106). ASPP1 and ASPP2 can inhibit the transforming activity of the oncogenes RAS and E1A in cells, suggesting they can act as tumour suppressors. On the other hand iASPP can enhance the transforming activity of RAS and E1A in the same system, suggesting its potential proto-oncogenic role (105, 106). Interestingly, ASPP2+/- mice develop spontaneous tumours, which is accelerated in p53+/- background (107). Downregulation of ASPP1 and ASPP2 expression has been reported in several types of cancer, reflecting their important role in tumourigenesis. Consistent with its anti-apoptotic role, iASPP has been found overexpressed in breast carcinomas (103).

1.3.2 Activation of p53.

Cellular stresses engage different, sometimes overlapping, pathways to activate p53. The most well understood signals that activate the p53 protein in cells are DNA damage and oncogene activation (Fig.1.2). There are different types of DNA damage resulting from gamma or UV irradiation, alkylation of bases, depurination of DNA and reactive oxygen species (108). The major sensors of DNA damage are ATM and ATR

(109-112) and their downstream kinases Chk1 and Chk2 (113-115), respectively, which primarily act by phosphorylation of p53 leading to its stabilization and activation.



FIGURE 1.2. Regulation of p53.

Core regulatory pathway of p53 is shown. Mdm2 is the major negative regulator of p53, whereas p53 transcriptionally activates Mdm2. Stresses, such as DNA damage and oncogenes activation, via ARF, activate p53 by inhibiting its negative regulation by Mdm2.

Oncogene activation leads to accumulation of p53 by a mechanism, which is mostly mediated by the tumour suppressor protein ARF (p19ARF in mouse and p14ARF in human) (14, 116). The ARF protein (Alternative Reading Frame) is a product of the INK4a locus, which also encodes the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4a (117). Deregulated oncogenes, such as overexpressed Myc, oncogenic Ras or deregulated E2F, induce ARF expression, resulting in activation of p53 response (118-120). ARF leads to p53 activation, by inhibiting its major negative regulator Mdm2 (121-124). Mice lacking ARF are tumour-prone, although the phenotype is not as severe as in p53-null mice (125, 126). Interestingly, tumour cell lines retaining wild type p53 almost always lose ARF, suggesting the importance of signalling through this pathway in tumour development (16). Loss of ARF does not prevent the activation of p53 in response to DNA damage, suggesting oncogene activation and DNA damage are independent signals (127). However, the situation is more complex as oncogenes activation has been shown to induce DNA damage response in precancerous lesions (128, 129), suggesting the cross-talk between the two pathways. Indeed, loss of ARF can attenuate the DNA damage response and loss of ATM can impair the ARF response. The contribution of these two fundamental pathways of p53 activation to tumour-suppression by p53 remains quite controversial. On one hand it has been shown that DNA damage pathway is an early event and is constitutively activated in tumours, and activation of p53 response has been shown to protect from tumour formation (130, 131). On the other hand, a study in mice generated to have switchable p53 has shown that p53 is important as a tumour suppressor only after most of the DNA damage has been resolved (132). Consistent with this, another group has shown that signalling through the ARF pathway accounts for almost all tumour suppression activity by p53 (133). This suggests that p53 response to oncogene activation is the most fundamental signals activating p53 function, which remains an issue of debate.

Ribosomal stress, such as treatment with the RNA polymeraseII inhibitor actinomycin D, is a well known activator of p53. This is mediated via a number of ribosomal proteins, such as L5, L11 and L23 which bind and inhibit Mdm2, leading to stabilization and activation of p53 (134-138).

Metabolic stress due to lack of nutrients can activate p53 through a pathway involving AMP kinase, where p53 induces reversible growth arrest playing a survival role during starvation (139). Loss of p53 can contribute to continued proliferation of tumour cells in the conditions when nutrients are scarce and therefore confer a growth advantage. Other stresses that activate p53 pathway include hypoxia, which can lead to growth arrest, autophagy or apoptosis, depending on the severity of hypoxic stress. Interestingly, hypoxia activates a different transcriptional program than DNA damage (140).

1.3.3 Structure of p53.

The p53 gene contains eleven exons with two alternative translation start sites in exon 2 and 4 (GenBank Accession Number: NC_000077) (141). The p53 protein contains three major functional domains: N-terminal transcriptional activation domain (TA), the central sequence-specific DNA-binding domain (DBD) and the oligomerization domain (OD) in the C-terminus (Fig.1.3). There is also an N-terminal proline rich domain involved in protein interactions and regulatory domain in the C-terminus (Fig.1.3). p53 also contains several nuclear localization (NLS) and nuclear export signals (NES) (Fig.1.3) (142). There are five highly evolutionary conserved regions in p53 protein boxes I to V (Fig.1.4). Box I (13-18aa) lies in the TA domain of p53 and encompasses the region interacting with Mdm2, whereas boxes II, III, IV and V reside in the DBD of p53 and are regions most frequently mutated in cancer (143).



FIGURE 1.3. Structure of p53 protein.

The main domains of p53, nuclear export (NES), nuclear localization (NLS) signals and the location of the conserved boxes I, II, III, IV and V are shown. TA - transactivation domain, PD - proline-rich domain, DBD - DNA binding domain, OD - oligomerization domain, RD – regulatory domain.

The transcriptional activation domain of p53 is crucial for its function. Two TA domains are defined in the N-terminus – TA1 (1-42aa) and TA2 (43-92aa) (144, 145) (Fig.1.3). Both TA1 and TA2 interact with the basal transcriptional machinery and independently are sufficient to activate transcription when fused to heterologous DBD (144). TA1 and TA2 are regulated by associated proteins such as p300, Mdm2 and Pin1. Structural studies reveal that N-terminal domain is natively unfolded and fully folds upon binding to its interaction partners (146, 147). A fragment containing 15-29aa adopts an alpha-helical conformation upon binding to N-terminus of Mdm2 (148). N-terminus of p53 is also subject to multiple phosphorylations by different protein kinases. Next to the TA lies the proline-rich domain (64-92aa) (PD), containing five PXXP motifs, which is involved in multiple protein interactions (149). The function of the PD is not entirely understood and has been suggested to contribute to proapoptotic function of p53 (150).

The DNA binding domain (DBD) of p53 is essential for its sequence-specific transcriptional activation. The p53 DBD spans amino acids 102-292 and contains four of the five highly evolutionary conserved regions defined in p53 – boxes II (117-142aa), III (171-181aa), IV (234-256aa) and V (270-286aa) (143) (Fig.1.4). The crystal structure of p53-DBD bound to DNA has been solved (151). Several other structures of p53 DBD have been reported (147) including structures of p53-DBD in solution in its DNA-free form (152) and in complex with interacting patners (104, 153). The structural studies show that the conserved regions are crucial for the p53-DNA interaction. The larger part of the DBD forms an anti-parallel β -sandwich. This sandwich serves as a scaffold for structures interacting with DNA. The DNA-binding surface consists of loop-sheet-helix and two large loops interacting with the minor and major grooves of DNA respectively. The loop-

sheet-helix motif spans conserved region V (151, 152). Two large loops are stabilized by a zinc ion, which is coordinated by residues C176 and H179, located in box III and C238 and C242, located in box IV (154). The p53 consensus site contains two half-sites RRRCWWGYYY, separated by a spacer of 0-13bp, where R=purine, C=cytosine, W=adenine or thymidine, G=guanine and Y=pyrimidine. Residues S241, R248, K120, R273, A276, R283, C277 and R280 directly contact DNA (151, 155). The DBD of p53 is only marginally stable, which is likely to have evolved to allow high flexibility between folded and unfolded states. This can provide the structural basis for diversity of p53-mediated responses (151, 152). Most of the p53 mutations found in cancers affect the DNA binding domain and occur as point mutations of either amino acids contacting DNA or residues important for the structure of the DBD, implying the crucial role of the DBD for tumour suppression (147).

Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	1 HE POSDFSVEP PLSOETFSDLWKLLPENVUSPLSOANDDLHDSE 1 MTAMESOSDISLELPLSOETFSDLWKLLPENVUSPLSOANDDLHDSE 1 MAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPLPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPLPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPLPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPLPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEPTSVFHDLWSKLPISMOOLPPEDHSNWOEDS 1 NAEHEPLLEVELS
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	48 DDIEQMITEDPGPDEAPRHPEAAPPVAPAPAACICAACAPAPSHPLSSSU 48 QDVEEFFE GPSEALRVSGAPAAQDPVTETPGVAAAAAPTPHLSSFU 44 LEPSDPPP
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	98 PSQ KTROG STOFILOFILIS 95 PSQ KTROG NEOFILOFILIS 95 PSQ KTROG NEOFILOFICOSO TAK SVECTISPIL NKLFCQLAKTCPVQL KV 83 PSTEDIOODFDFRUOFIVE AGTAK SVECTISPIL NKLFCQLAKTCPVQV KV 72 PSTEDIVAGKEGLQLDFQQHGTAK SVECTISPIL NKLFCQLAKTCPVQKVV 66 PETSDYPGD HGFRLFFQSGTAK SVECTISPIL NKLFCQLAKTCPVQKVV
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	140 DSTPPGERVRAMATIKOSOMNT 145 SATPPAGSRVRAMATIKOSOMNT 145 SATPPAGSRVRAMATIKESOMNT 145 SATPPAGSRVRAMATIKESOMNT 140 SATPPAGSRVRAMATIKESOMNT 140 SATPPAGSIERATAVIKESENVAEVVRRCPHHERCOGGIOGLAPAONLIR 122 ESPPPGSIERATAVIKESENVAEVVERCPHHERSVEPGEDAAPPSHLER 116 DVAPPOGSVVRATATIKESENVAEVVRCPHHERTPGDN-LAPAGHLIR
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	197 VEGNLRVE VLDDR NTFRNSVVVP VEFPEVGSDCTTIN 194 VEGNLVFFLEDROTFRNSVVVP VEFPEAGSEITIN XXMCNSSCNGGN 183 VEGNEGAR YNDDE TRKRNSVVVP VEFPEVGSDCTTVLYMENCNSSCNGGN 172 VEGNGAX YNDDE TRKRNSVVP VFYEFPEVGSDCTTVLYMENCNSSCNGGN 165 VEGNGRAN YREDN ITLRNSVFVP VEAPGEGAEN TTVLIN YNCNSSCNGGN
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	247 NRRPILTITLEDSSGHLLGRNSFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEEHLRKGEPH 244 NRRPILTITLEDSSGHLLGRDSFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEEHTRKE 233 NRRPILTITLEGPGGQLLGRRCFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEEHTRK 222 NRRPILTITLETPGGLLGRRCFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEEHTRK 215 NRRPILTITLETPGGLLGRRSFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEENTKROLK NRRPILTITLETPGGLLGRRSFEVRVCACPGRDRTEEENTKROLK V
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_lsevis Danio_rerio	207
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	339 BMF RELNEALELE DAOAG KEPGGSRANSSHLMSKKOOSTSRHKKIDT 336 EMF RELNEALELE DANATEESGDSRANSSILMTKKOOSTSRHKKID 322 EMLKEINEALOLAEGGSAPRSKGRANSVEDPOPSCOKKILO 314 EMIRKINDAEEQESLDQQRVIKCROCKEINEKKKKE 315 EILOKUNDSLELSDVVPASDAEKIROKIMTKNKKENRESSEFKOOKKLMV
Homo_sapiens Hus_musculus Gallus_gallus Xenopus_laevis Danio_rerio	386 BTORDOSD - 383 BKVODDSD - 364 DGSD 365 BDTOCDET - 365 BDTOCDET -

Figure 1.4. Comparison of p53 protein sequence across species.

Alignment of human p53 protein sequence with p53 from other species: Mus musculus, Gallus gallus, Xenopus laevis and Danio rerio was done using the ClustalX program. Evolutionary conserved residues are highlighted in black. Divergent amino acids belonging to the same class are highlighted in gray. Highly conserved boxes I, II, III, IV, V are marked in blue.

Full-length p53 functions as a tetramer, which is mediated by the oligomerization domain in the C-terminus of the protein (325-356aa) (Fig.1.3). Structural studies describe the tetrameric structure as a dimer of primary dimers (156). Tetramerisation of p53 is required for high-affinity DNA binding and transcriptional activation. The model suggests that one DBD dimer binds to one half of the consensus DNA binding site, and second dimer to the adjacent half of the site (155). Oligomerization domain also regulates the binding to Mdm2 and nuclear export of p53 (157, 158).

The extreme C-terminus of p53 (364-393aa) is considered to be a regulatory domain and is subjected to extensive posttranslational modifications, including phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, neddylation and methylation, which regulate p53 activity and stability (Fig.1.3). Structure reveals it is intrinsically unstructured but can fold upon binding to other proteins or nonspecific DNA (159). The C-terminus has been shown to be required for activation of many p53 target genes (160).

1.4 Regulation of p53.

Upon cellular stresses, the p53 protein rapidly accumulates and activates transcription of its target genes. The p53 protein has a very short half-life in normal cells and is primarily regulated at the level of protein stability, which provides the means to rapidly induce p53 when needed. In unstressed cells p53 protein levels are kept low due to continuous ubiquitination which targets p53 to proteasomes for degradation. This is primarily mediated by the ubiquitin ligase Mdm2, a key negative regulator of p53. In addition to proteasomal degradation, ubiquitination by Mdm2 can also lead to nuclear export of p53. Several other ubiquitin ligases have also been reported to contribute to regulation of p53 stability (82, 161) and will be discussed later.

1.4.1 Ubiquitination.

Ubiquitin is a highly conserved 76-amino acid polypeptide, which is encoded on multiple genes. The genes encode oligomers of ubiquitin, which are processed to active monomers in cells. Ubiquitins are then covalently attached to lysines on target proteins in a specific and tightly regulated reactions cascade called ubiquitination (Fig.1.5) (162-165). Briefly, ubiquitination is a sequential reaction which is mediated by coordinated action of the E1 - ubiquitin activating enzyme, the E2 - ubiquitin conjugating enzyme, and E3 or ubiquitin protein ligase, which determines the substrate specificity. First E1 forms a thiolester bond between its active site cysteine and the C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin through

ATP-dependent process. The activated ubiquitin is then transferred from E1 to a conserved cysteine on E2 in a reaction of transthiolation. Next, E3 interacts with ubiquitin-bound E2 and the substrate and facilitates formation of an isopeptide linkage between C-terminal glycine on ubiquitin and the ε -amino group of an internal lysine on the substrate (Fig.1.5). Polyubiquitin chains are formed by attachment of ubiquitin to the lysine on the ubiquitin already attached to the substrate (165). In some cases ubiquitin can be attached to the free α -amino group of the substrate (166, 167).



FIGURE 1.5. Ubiquitin-proteasome system.

Ubiquitin is activated by a ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1 and is transferred to a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2. The ubiquitin ligase E3 mediates the transfer from the E2 to the protein substrate. Polyubiquitinated substrates are targeted to the 26S proteasome for degradation. The ubiquitin can be cleaved off the by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs). P_i, inorganic phosphate; PP_i, pyroposphate; Ub, ubiquitin. (Modified from Weissman, A. M. (2001) Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2(3): 169-78.).

E1

It is considered there is one E1 in mammals, which is essential for ubiquitination. There are two isoforms E1a and E1b, which result from alternative translation initiation (168). The reaction of activation of ubiquitin usually involves two steps: the ATPdependent formation of ubiquitin-adenylate intermediate, which is followed by the formation of the E1-ubiquitin thiol ester (169).

E2

There are about 13 genes encoding E2-like proteins in yeast and more than 30 E2 in mammalian genomes. Not all of them can conjugate ubiquitin, for example Ubc9 conjugates ubiquitin-like protein SUMO. They all have a characteristic domain (UBC) of ~ 150 amino acids that contains cysteine that accepts ubiquitin from E1 and is conserved ~35% between the family members. Many E2s also have N- or C-terminal extensions, which are involved in the interactions with E3s (163) and can facilitate the interaction between E3s and the substrate by serving as membrane anchors (170). Importantly, the ubiquitin binding site on the E2 does not overlap with the E3-binding site (171, 172). Another significant finding is the discovery that E1 and E3 binding sites on the E2 overlap, and their binding to E2 is mutually exclusive (173). This implies that for polyubiquitination multiple cycles of E2-E3 binding and release need to occur. There are many more E3s described than E2s. The structural similarity between different E2s suggests redundancy in their function. Indeed, UbcH5 and UbcH7 for example can function with HECT domain (174) and RING domain E3 ligases (171, 175). The structures of UbcH7 bound to HECT domain of E6-AP (172) and RING domain of c-Cbl (171) have been solved. Interestingly, these different E2s interact with the same region on UbcH7. The conserved Phe63 on UbcH7 is crucial for the interaction between UbcH7 and the HECT of E6-AP and RING of c-Cbl and appears to be present in other E2s, suggesting its importance in mediating E2-E3 binding (176). In vitro studies suggest that E3s can also function with several E2s. For example, in the screen for Mdm2-specific ubiquitinconjugating enzymes it has been found that that UbcH5A, -B, -C and E2-25K support Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of p53 in vitro (177). Another report suggests that RING ubiquitin ligase Topors functions with UbcH5a, UbcH5c and UbcH6, but not with UbcH7, CDC34 or UbcH2b (178). It is possible that the E2 step might provide an additional point for specifying and diversifying the signal of ubiquitination and by this dictate the biological function of the ubiquitin conjugation.

E3.

E3s, ubiquitin ligases, largely determine the substrate specificity (163, 179). There are more than 200 different ubiquitin ligases currently characterized and several hundreds are predicted by bioinformatics approach, based on the search for signature domain (180).

Three large families of E3s are defined based on the presence of the functional domain: the HECT (Homologous to E6AP Carboxy Terminus), RING (Really Interesting New Gene) and U-box (UFD2) homology proteins. The RING family contains also a PHD (Plant HomeoDomain)-containing subfamily. Each of the functional domains directly interacts with the corresponding E2.

HECT family.

This family is defined by the presence of the HECT domain and was founded by the first discovered and recognized mammalian ubiquitin ligase E6-AP (E6-Associated Protein). Upon binding to the E6 protein of the human papillomavirus (HPV) E6-AP ubiquitinates and degrades p53 (181). A highly conserved C-terminal domain of ~350 amino acids is a characteristic feature of the members of the HECT family (182). The N-terminus mediates the substrate recognition. The HECT domain binds the E2-ubiquitin intermediate and accepts ubiquitin at a conserved cysteine residue which is usually ~35 aa upstream the C-terminus of E3. The formation of the E3~ubiquitin intermediate is a unique feature of this family, whereas other E3s transfer ubiquitin directly to the substrate. Other family members involve HUWE1/ARF-BP1/Mule which ubiquitinates a number of substrates, such as: Mcl-1 (183), c-Myc (184) and p53 (185)

RING family.

The largest family of the E3s is defined by the presence of RING finger domain usually in the range of 40-100 amino acids (186). The RING finger consists of eight conserved cysteines and histidines [CX2CX(9-39)CX(1-3)HX(2-3)C/HX2CX(4-48)CX2C] that together coordinate two zinc ions in a cross-braced arrangement. The RING domain directly binds E2 and is essential for the ubiquitin ligase activity (171). RING domain E3 functions as an adaptor that positions the substrate lysine in close proximity to E2-ubiquitin intermediate (186).

RING domain ubiquitin ligases can consist of single- or multiple subunits. Mdm2 is the single subunit ubiquitin ligase and contains amino-terminal p53-binding domain and the RING finger domain in its carboxyl terminus. Together with E1 and E2 enzymes Mdm2 is sufficient to ubiquitinate p53 *in vitro* (175). Multisubunit ubiquitin ligase complexes usually contain a RING finger subunit, a member of the cullin family and a F-

box containing structural adaptor (187). The RING finger subunit provides ubiquitin ligase activity, cullins play a role of scaffold, and F-box proteins link the cullin to the substrate. For example, SCF (Skp1-Cul-F-box) complex consists of RING finger protein (Rbx1), cullin1 and Skp1 as an adaptor. The known SCF E3s play an important role in regulation of the G1/S cell cycle transition. The subunits of the complex are in such structural organization, which positions the core ubiquitin ligase activity with multiple substrates. The substrates of the SCF E3 ligases include oncogenes b-catenin, cyclin D, E2F1, as well as proteins involved in growth arrest such as p21, p27 (188).

A small subfamily of RING E3s is defined by the presence of a PHD domain. Structural studies show that PHD domain resembles the RING domain in folding which also relies on the coordination of two zinc ions in a cross-brace arrangement. It usually includes a cysteine rather than a histidine in the fourth position and an invariant tryptophan before the seventh zinc-binding residue. This family includes viral proteins MIRs (modulator of immune recognition), which downregulate MHC class I (189).

U-box.

U-box domain is distantly related to the RING finger, but has no conserved zinc coordinating residues. Sequence analysis demonstrated that the U-box proteins share conserved charged and polar residues and the structure prediction suggests similarity to the RING. Several U-box proteins have been shown to ubiquitinate *in vitro* in a manner similar to the RING finger (163). U-box domain was first identified in yeast Ufd2 ubiquitin ligase. Interestingly, Ufd2 lacks its own substrate and instead promotes the polyubiquitination of another E3's substrate, which led to its classification as an "E4" (190). Another U-box protein, C-terminus of Hsc70 Interacting Protein (CHIP) also displays E4-like activity (191, 192). CHIP is known to ubiquitinates several substrates, most of which are misfolded proteins associated with Hsp70 or Hsp90 chaperones (193). It can also associate with Parkin, belonging to the RING family, and promotes Parkin-mediated ubiquitination of substrate protein Pael-R (194).

Lysines on the substrates can be mono- and polyubiquitinated. A conjugation of single ubiquitin can also occur on several lysines and is termed multiubiquitination. The best studied role of monoubiquitination is regulation of endocytosis and DNA repair and has been shown to affect subcellular localization, conformation, activity and protein interactions of the substrates (195-197). Polyubiquitin chains are formed by conjugation of G76 carboxyl group of the next ubiquitin to the ε -amino group of a lysine within preceding ubiquitin (198, 199). Ubiquitin has seven internal lysine residues K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48 and K63, which are able to serve for conjugation of ubiquitin (200). The best characterized polyubiquitin chains are those linked through K48 and K63 (201). K48-

linked ubiquitin chains of four ubiquitins or longer target the substrate to the proteasomes for degradation (202). However, K48 chains can have proteolysis-independent functions (101, 203). For example, K48- linked ubiquitination of p53 by E4F1 plays a novel role and has been reported to modulate p53 transcriptional activity without affecting proteolysis of p53 (101). K63-ubiquitination requires the action of distinct conjugating enzymes E2s and does not promote degradation, leading to different biological outcomes. For example, IKK is activated through the K63-linked polyubiquitination, mediated by TRAF6 (204). The K63-linked polyubiquitination of PCNA is essential for error-free repair of the damaged DNA (205). There is much less known about the role of the linkages of ubiquitin via K6, K11 and K29 (206-208). Chains that catalyze formation of K6 and K11 have been shown to bind the proteasomal subunit $S5\alpha$, however, it is not clear whether they can promote the degradation of the substrates (207). K6-linked ubiquitination of BRCA1 seems to stabilize BRCA1 and direct it to the DNA repair foci (208). The biological significance of other ubiquitin chains remains to be determined. The mechanisms regulating the choice of the lysine on the ubiquitin during ubiquitination are largely unknown. It is clear that the same E3 can conjugate K48 and K63 linkages. The possible step of specificity could be provided by E2, as distinct E2s are involved in K63 chain formation (209). It is also possible that the interaction partners of the ubiquitin ligases may direct which ubiquitin chain is formed. The same substrate can be modified by different types of ubiquitination, which leads to various biological outputs. For example, K48-linked polyubiquitination of the C-terminus of p53 leads to its proteasomal degradation, whereas K63-linked ubiquitination of lysine K320 modulates its transcriptional activity directing p53 to target genes mediating cell cycle arrest (101).

The ubiquitination can be reversed by the action of deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs): ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases (UCHs) and ubiquitin-specific processing proteases (USPs), both of which are cysteine hydrolases (210). In general, UCHs are capable of cleaving ubiquitin precursors to generate active ubiquitin. UBPs are a large and diverse group of enzymes which can cleave and disassemble ubiquitin chains. DUBs play several biological roles in generation of ubiquitin, recycling of ubiquitin, editing polyubiquitin chains and aiding in proteasome-dependent degradation (211). Various DUBs are associated with the 26S proteasome and regulate its function. For example, UCH37 is an intrinsic subunit of the 19S proteasome and is involved in 'editing' of the ubiquitinated substrates according to the length of polyubiquitin chains (212). Rpn11 also represents proteasome-associated DUB and releases the polyubiquitin chain from the substrate, allowing full translocation of the substrate protein to the proteolytic core of the proteasome (213). Some DUBs have been shown to have substrate specificity. HAUSP

plays an important role in regulating p53 protein levels by deubiquitinating both p53 and Mdm2 (214, 215). CYLD deubiquitinates TRAF2 leading to downregulation of NFkB signaling (216, 217). DUBs are currently intensively investigated and have been implicated in regulation of various processes (218).

Since the discovery of the ubiquitin an entire family of ubiquitin-like molecules has been discovered which currently counts more than ten members including Nedd8, SUMO, ISG15 and Atg8 (219, 220). Though not having high sequence similarity, ubiquitin-like molecules are structurally similar to ubiquitin and all have characteristic ubiquitin, or β grasp, structural fold. Ubiquitin-like molecules are attached to the lysine on the substrate in a reaction similar to ubiquitination. Distinct E1 and E2 enzymes participate for each type of the ubiquitin-like modification. The best characterized so far SUMO and Nedd8 are the closest to ubiquitin with 20 and 60% sequence homology respectively. Several SUMOspecific ligases have been identified: for example PIAS family (221), TOPORS (222). Interestingly, some of the ubiquitin ligases, including Mdm2, can also function as NEDD8 E3 ligases (223).

Conjugation of ubiquitin-like molecules leads to different physiological outputs. SUMOylation is involved in regulation of subcellular localization (224), DNA repair (205), chromatin remodelling (225) and regulation of transcription (226). Neddylation often targets ubiquitin ligases, such as cullins, and can activate their function (227, 228). In addition, neddylation can inhibit the transcriptional activity of the target protein, as has been shown for p53 (223). Isgylation plays a role in regulation of immune response (229). The function of other ubiquitin-like molecules remains largely unknown.

1.4.2 Proteasome.

The fundamental role of the polyubiquitination chains is to target the substrates to the proteasomes for degradation (179, 230). Chains of four and more ubiquitins linked through K48 is the signal for proteasomal recognition (202). The 26S proteasome is a ~2.5 MDa complex made up of two copies of at least 32 subunits which are highly conserved in eukaryotes (Fig.1.6). Proteasomes are highly abundant in cells and degrade proteins in the cytoplasm, the nucleus or the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). The proteasome can be divided by biochemical methods into two major subcomplexes: the 20S core particle (CP) and two 19S regulatory particles (RP) (Fig.1.6). Structural studies in yeast reveal that CP is a 670 kDA barrel-shaped complex consisting of four stacked rings, each composed of seven proteins (231). The two outer rings α and the two inner rings β are identical. The

proteolytic active sites are within a cavity formed by the two β rings at the center of the CP



FIGURE 1.6. Structure of the proteasome.

The schematic organization of 26S proteasome consisting of 20S core particle (CP) and of two 19S regulatory particles (RP) is shown. The 20S subunit is composed of four rings: two outer α -rings and two inner β -rings. Each ring is made of 7 homologous subunits. The RP is subdivided into the lid and the base. RPN10 is found outside of the proteasome. (Modified from Hanna, J. and D. Finley (2007). FEBS Lett 581(15): 2854-61).

(Fig.1.6). Substrates gain access to the CP only through the narrow pores formed by the alpha ring subunit and a mechanism of gate opening is required to facilitate substrate degradation (232). This function is mediated by the 19S RP. The RP is nearly a 1MDa complex and each one associates with the axial end of the CP. The RP is further divided into the base and the lid (233). The base is proximal to the CP and contains six AAA-type ATPases (Rpt1-6) and four non-ATPase subunits (Rpn1, Rpn2, Rpn10 and Rpn13). The six ATPases form a ring and function in substrate unfolding, which is thought to be a prerequisite for the degradation (234). Rpt2 plays a role in opening the pore, whereas Rpt5 is involved in recognition of the substrate-bound ubiquitin chain (235). Non-ATPase Rpn10/S5 α functions as a ubiquitin receptor (236). Several proteins involved in degradation are associated with the proteasomes - Rad23, Dsk2, Ddi1, which share a common ubiquitin-like domain, recognized by Rpn1 (237). These proteins also have a Cterminal UbA domain which binds to the polyubiquitinated chains. Binding of the UbA domain can protect polyubiquinated chains from cleavage by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) (238). It is not clear whether the function of these proteins is to shuttle the substrates to the proteasome or tether the polyubiquitinated substrate to the proteasome (239). The lid of the RP is distal to the base and is an eight-subunit (Rpn3-Rpn11) complex highly homologous to the COP9 signalosome and translation initiation factor eIF3, suggesting the functional homology between these different regulatory pathways (233). Rpn11 has been shown to possess deubiquitinating activity, which removes the ubiquitin molecules from the substrates (213). There are other DUBs that associate with the proteasome. For example, UCH37 trims polyubiquitin chains from substrates attached to the proteasome (212). In addition to deubiquitinating enzymes, ubiquitin ligase Hul6 has recently been reported to associate with the proteasome (240), which can extend the polyubiquitin chain of the substrate at the proteasome.

Therefore the proteasome represents a very complex subunit, with a number of activities. In summary, ubiquitinated substrates are first recognized and bound by the ubiquitin receptors in the RP. Ubiquitins are then removed from the substrate by deubiquitinases and recycled. Substrates are unfolded and then enter the pore of CP through the gate. Some proteins can undergo degradation directly by 20S CP in a ubiquitin-independent manner, such as p21 (241), p53 (242) and Rb (243). This suggests, that ubiquitination is indeed required for recognition of the proteins by the RP of the proteasome.

1.4.3 Ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of p53 by Mdm2.

1.4.3.1 Ubiquitin ligase Mdm2.

The major mechanism, that keeps p53 inactive in cells, is mediated by protooncoprotein Mdm2 (244), which targets p53 for proteasomal degradation (245, 246). p53 transcriptionally activates Mdm2 in an autoregulatory negative feedback loop (80, 81). Mdm2 was identified as the product of one of the three genes located on extrachromosomal amplifications in a spontaneously transformed murine cell line (3T3-DM) (247, 248). Its key role in negatively regulating p53 is best illustrated by the studies of the knock-out mice. Mdm2-null mice die early in embryogenesis (E5.5-6) as a result of p53-dependent apoptosis due to accumulation of p53. Simultaneous inactivation of p53 completely rescues the lethality of Mdm2-null mice, suggesting the key role of Mdm2 in negatively regulating p53 activity (249, 250).

Mdm2 is a RING finger ubiquitin ligase and ubiquitinates p53 and itself in a RING-dependent manner (175). Though several E2s can support Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of p53 in vitro, in cells the most important are UbcH5B and C (177). At low levels Mdm2 can promote monoubiquitination of p53, which leads to the nuclear export, whereas at high levels Mdm2 efficiently polyubiquitinates p53 leading to its proteasomal degradation (245, 246, 251). In addition Mdm2 can inhibit the transcriptional activity of p53 by binding directly to its N-terminal transactivation domain (252, 253). The contribution of these roles of Mdm2 has been addressed in a recent study of mice with knock-in of Mdm2 mutant lacking the E3 activity (254). This has been done by substituting a zinc-coordinating cysteine 462 (464 in human) with alanine, which inactivates the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 but does not prevent the binding to p53.
Mice homozygous for the RING mutation died early in embryogenesis (E7.5), and the lethality was rescued by the simultaneous deletion of p53. This demonstrates that though the Mdm2 RING mutant is capable of binding to p53, it cannot fully suppress p53 activity, suggesting that the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 plays the key role in inhibiting p53 (254). Many mechanisms of p53 activation converge onto disrupting the interaction between p53 and Mdm2, leading to accumulation of p53 in the nucleus and transactivation of its target genes. Such mechanisms involve posttranslational modifications of both p53 and Mdm2, and their binding partners.

Mdm2 gene consists of 12 exons and has two different promoters P1 and P2, the second of which is p53-responsive. Alternative translation initiation generates two proteins, the full-length p90 and a shorter p76. p76 does not bind p53 and can act as a dominant-negative inhibitor of p90 leading to activation of p53 (255-258). Other alternative splice variants of Mdm2 lacking the p53-binding domain have been described and some of them are overexpressed in tumours (259). One of them Mdm2-ALT1 sequesters full-length Mdm2 in the cytoplasm and inhibits the interaction of Mdm2 with p53, enhancing p53 activity (260). It is not yet clear why these alternative splice forms are overexpressed in cancers.

Full-length human Mdm2 is a 491-aa protein and contains several functional domains (Fig.1.7). The p53 binding domain is in the N-terminal portion of Mdm2 and interacts with a highly conserved region on the N-terminus of p53 (Fig.1.7) (148, 256). Mdm2 also contains a central acidic domain, which is important for its E3 activity (261, 262). Acidic domain is involved in interaction with several binding partners, such as ARF (121, 122), ribosomal proteins L5, L11 and L23 (134-138, 263) and also mediates the interaction with the central domain on p53 (264-266). Mdm2 also contains a zinc finger domain, which has been recently suggested to be involved in interaction with ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 (267). However, the exact function of this domain remains unclear. As already mentioned, RING finger domain is required for ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 (Fig.1.7). The solution structure of the C2H2C4 RING domain of human Mdm2 reveals a symmetrical dimer with a unique cross-brace zinc-binding scheme (268). Recently it has been shown that C-terminal tail of Mdm2 is also critical for efficient E3 activity (269, 270).

RING domain of Mdm2 also contains a conserved Walker A or P loop motif, found in nucleotide binding proteins. Mdm2 has been reported to interact with adeninecontaining nucleotides, which leads to conformational change at the C-terminus of Mdm2 (271). Nucleotide binding is not required for the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2, and is involved in regulating nucleolar localization of Mdm2. Other important structural elements of Mdm2 involve nuclear localization signal (NLS), which lies close to nuclear export signal (NES) (272) and a nucleolar localization signal (273).



FIGURE. 1.7. Structure of Mdm2 protein.

The main domains of Mdm2 - p53-binding domain, acidic domain, RING domain and zinc finger domain are depicted. The major p53 binding site (full line) is in the N-terminus and second p53 binding site (dashed line) is in the acidic domain of Mdm2. Other interacting partners ARF, L11, L5, L23 interact with the acidic domain of Mdm2.

1.4.3.2 Interaction between p53 and Mdm2.

The interaction between p53 and Mdm2 is necessary for the ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by Mdm2 and is tightly regulated. A conserved region in the N-terminus of p53 binds to a deep hydrophobic binding cleft in the N-terminal domain of Mdm2 (25-109aa), as shown by crystal structure of the p53-Mdm2 complex (148). On Mdm2 the cleft is formed by the residues 26-108 and residues G58, G68, V75 and C77 are the most important, as shown by mutagenesis analysis (274). The Mdm2 interaction region on p53 has been mapped to 18-26aa and residues L14, F19, L22, W23 and Leu26 have been found to be important for the interaction by mutational analysis (256, 275-277). The crucial role of the residues F19, W23 and L26 has been also demonstrated by the structural study (148). The neighbouring residues also appear to contribute, probably by modulating the conformation of this region. Conserved box I (13-18aa) on p53 overlaps the Mdm2-binding site on p53 and is required for interaction and degradation by Mdm2 (158).

Mutation of residues L22 and W23 on p53 inhibits the interaction with Mdm2 and also reduces p53 transcriptional activity (278). Mouse models with p53 with equivalent mutations of L25 and W26 have shown that p53 is very stable due to decreased binding to Mdm2 (279-281), confirming the importance of binding of Mdm2 to regulation of p53 stability. Small-molecule inhibitors named nutlins bind to the p53-binding pocket on Mdm2 and effectively prevent the interaction, resulting in stabilization and activation of the p53 pathway (282).

The C-terminus of p53 also plays an important role in regulating the interaction. Tetramerization of p53 is necessary for the efficient Mdm2 binding and degradation, as has been demonstrated by deletion studies (158).

In addition to the N-terminus and C-terminus, the DNA binding domain of p53 provides a secondary binding site for Mdm2, involving its acidic domain (264, 265). In agreement with this, structural study has shown that the acidic domain and part of the zinc finger domain of Mdm2 are involved in the interaction with the core domain of p53 (266). This second interaction has been shown to contribute to efficient ubiquitination. The current model suggests that the N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2 induces a conformational change in Mdm2 and leads to the interaction of the acidic domain of Mdm2 with the core domain on p53 (265).

In response to different types of stress p53 is stabilized and activated due to several mechanisms, including posttranslational modifications and interacting partners. Most of these mechanisms affect Mdm2-mediated proteasomal degradation of p53 (161).

1.4.3.3 Posttranslational modifications involved in regulation of p53 stability.

In response to stresses p53 is phosphorylated and acetylated predominantly at its Nterminus and C-terminus, which lead to accumulation and activation of p53 (283). The most characterized modifications of p53, which can regulate p53 stability, are summarized on Figure 1.8. p53 is phosphorylated in response to DNA damage and other stresses on numerous sites: S6, S9, S15, T18, S20, S33, S37, S46, T81 in the N-terminal domain of p53; S315 and S392 in C-terminus; and T150, T155 and S149 in the DBD. In addition, residues T55, S376 and S378 are constitutively phosphorylated in unstressed cells (283). Mdm2 has also been reported to undergo phosphorylations in response to DNA damage, such as Ser395 by ATM kinase (284) and Y394 by c-Abl (285), which impair its ability to degrade p53. Akt phosphorylates Mdm2 on residues 166 and 186, which promote nuclear import of Mdm2 resulting in increase in ubiquitination of p53 (286).



FIGURE. 1.8. Modifications of p53 regulating its stability.

The schematic organization of p53 and the Mdm2 binding sites are shown. The best described phosphorylations of the N-terminus and of the DBD of p53 and modifications of the C-terminal lysines indicated.

p-phosphorylation; ac - acetylation; ub - ubiquitination; nd - neddylation; su - sumoylation.

N-terminal phosphorylations have been suggested to stabilize p53 by inhibiting the interaction with Mdm2 (111, 112). Upon DNA damage, kinases ATM and Chk2 phosphorylate p53 on S15 and S20 respectively (110, 287, 288) (113-115), whereas ATR and Chk1 phosphorylate p53 at S15 and S37 (109, 115, 289). The biological significance of N-terminal phosphorylations sites on p53, which have been best characterized in cells systems, has been addressed in mouse models. p53 knock-in mice with mutation S18A and S23A (equivalent to S15 and S20 in human) have been generated which would be predicted to have increase in binding of Mdm2 to p53 and impaired stabilization and transactivation if p53. However, the knock-in mice with single mutations do not have a gross phenotype and p53 stability and response are not largely affected (290, 291). Knockin mice with mutations in both residues have mild alterations in p53 stability and transactivation capability (292). They also develop tumours, however after long latency (>1 year). These observations suggest that although S15 and S20 partially contribute to regulating the interaction, other mechanisms might be involved. There is a significant redundancy in that some sites are phosphorylated by different kinases, and one kinase can phosphorylate several residues on p53. This could potentially explain the lack of pronounced phenotypes in mice. For example, several kinases can phosphorylate Ser15, and Chk2 can phosphorylate several different residues (283). In support of the functional redundancy, mutations of these sites are very rare in cancers. The variety of phosphorylation sites and kinases suggests that it could be the way of regulating the choice

of p53 response to different stimuli. Other phosphorylations in the N-terminus lead to accumulation of p53 possibly by modulating the interaction with local alterations of the conformation. Their physiological relevance remains to be elucidated.

Three phosphorylation sites (S33, T81 and S315) are followed by proline sites, which are subject to regulation by Pin1 (293, 294). Phosphorylation of these sites in response to certain types of stress promotes interaction with Pin1, which isomerises prolines, and is required for full activation of p53. Loss of Pin1 impairs p53 response to DNA damage. The mechanism is not entirely clear but it is proposed that conformational change on p53 induced by Pin1 reduces the interaction with Mdm2, leading to stabilization of p53 and also increases transcriptional activity of p53 (293, 294). In agreement with this, p53 lacking proline-rich domain (PD), which removes one Pin1-binding site, is hypersensitive to Mdm2-mediated degradation (295). The study in which mice lacking murine PD were generated, has confirmed the role of PD in regulation of stability of p53. Contradictory to *in vitro* data, however, $p53\Delta P$ fails to induce cell cycle arrest, but can promote apoptosis (296).

Modifications of p53 in the DBD are much less well characterized but also have been shown to affect the stability of p53. In contrast to N-terminal phosphorylations, which stabilize p53, phosphorylation of the DBD of p53 (S149, T150 and T155) targets it for degradation (297). This is mediated by COP9 signalosome kinase and occurs in unstressed cells, providing another way to restrain p53 activity. Some of the recently reported modifications also involve glycosylation of p53 on S149 in the DBD of p53, which leads to stabilization of p53 by blocking its ubiquitination and degradation. This modification prevents T155 phosphorylation (298).

Mdm2 binds to the N-terminus of p53 and ubiquitinates its C-terminal lysines (K370, K372, K373, K381, K382 and K386) (Fig.1.8), targeting p53 for proteasomal degradation. Mutation of these lysines (6KR) impairs the degradation of p53 by Mdm2 (299, 300) (301). However, some amount of Mdm2-dependent ubiquitination of p53-6KR has been noted, suggesting that other lysines on p53 can be targeted by Mdm2. In addition to ubiquitination C-terminal lysines on p53 are modified with ubiquitin-like molecules – Nedd8 and SUMO-1. Neddylation of p53 is promoted by Mdm2 on lysines K370, K372 and K373 (Fig.1.8) (223). In addition to Mdm2, a member of F-box family FBXO11 has been identified as a new p53-interacting protein, which can neddylate p53 on K320 and K321 (302). Neddylation inhibits transcriptional activity of p53, probably by preventing acetylation of p53 occurs on K386, however its biological significance remains unclear as it has been shown to both positively and negatively regulate p53 function (226, 303-

305). Since these modifications affect the same lysines it is possible that they can inhibit or potentiate each other.

p53 stability and activity is also regulated by the acetylation on C-terminal lysines by p300/CBP and PCAF which activate p53-mediated transcription PCAF acetylates p53 at K320 and p300/CBP heterodimers are recruited to the N-terminus of p53 and acetylates p53 on C-terminal lysines (K370, K372, K373, K381, K382, K386) (54, 306-308). Acetylation of p53 is regulated by deacetylaton by HDAC-1 (histone deacetylase1)containing complex or by Sir2a (silent information regulator 2α) (309, 310). The Cterminal lysines are also used for ubiquitination (299) and acetylation of these lysines has been proposed to compete with ubiquitination (311). Acetylation inhibits ubiquitination and stabilizes p53, whereas deacetylation of p53 results in its ubiquitination and degradation. Similarly to acetylation, methylation of lysine 370 by SET9 also leads to stabilization of p53 and upregulation of its target genes (312).

The physiological significance of the C-terminal lysines has recently been addressed in two studies which generated the knock-in mice with substitutions of 6 or 7 C-terminal lysines of p53 with arginines. Surprisingly, p53-7KR or p53-6KR mice develop normally and only have a mild phenotype, which proposes their role in fine-tuning the response of p53 (313, 314). This suggests the C-terminal lysines are not required for regulation of the stability of p53 and other lysines can be the targets of ubiquitination. Consistent with this, significant amount of Mdm2-dependent ubiquitination of p53-6KR has been detected (299), suggesting that other lysines can be used when the C-terminal lysines are not available. It is possible to envision that ubiquitination is quite promiscuous and if the primary lysines are removed, ubiquitin ligase moves to the other lysines. In fact, p53 protein contains 20 different lysines, which can potentially be used for the ubiquitin conjugation.

1.4.3.4 Regulation of p53 stability by proteins interacting with p53 and Mdm2.

In addition to modifications, p53 and Mdm2 interacting partners can regulate Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation of p53 and are summarized on Table 1.1. Several factors appear to contribute to efficient ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by Mdm2. p300, a transcriptional co-activator, has been suggested to act as E4 in Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of p53. In *in vitro* system, when Mdm2 can only monoubiquitinate p53, p300 acting together with Mdm2 can further polyubiquitinate p53. In cells, p300 has been shown to play an important role in p53 turnover (315). Several other proteins promote ubiquitination by binding to Mdm2 and/or p53, such as: YY1 (316, 317), gankyrin (318) and MTBP (319) (Table 1.1A). Gankyrin, an ankyrin repeat protein, interacts with Mdm2

and enhances the p53-mediated ubiquitination and degradation (316, 317). The transcription factor YY1 binds to both p53 and Mdm2 and facilitates their interaction, promoting the ubiquitination of p53 (316, 317). Consistent with their role as negative regulators of p53, gankyrin is often overexpressed in hepatocellular carcinomas (320), whereas YY1 has been found to be overexpressed in several types of tumours (321). These studies suggest that factors such as YY1 and gankyrin promote Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination by facilitating the binding of p53 and Mdm2. Another co-factor of ubiquitination MTBP was identified in a yeast-two-hybrid screen as an Mdm2-binding protein and promotes ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2 in a different way. It interacts with Mdm2 and inhibits autoubiquitination of Mdm2, resulting in stabilization of Mdm2. This results in increased ubiquitination and degradation of p53 (319). However, the early embryonic lethality phenotype of inactivation of MTBP is not rescued by the simultaneous loss of p53 leaving the physiological relevance of the MTBP unclear (322). It is possible that these co-factors play an important role when Mdm2 levels are less abundant, and their physiological relevance remains to be elucidated.

Table 1.1 Proteins interacting with Mdm2/p53 and affecting ubiquitination.

Protein	Description	Binding	effect	ref
gankyrin	Ankyrin repeat protein	Binds to Mdm2 and facilitates p53/Mdm2 binding	Enhances ubiquitination and degradation of p53	(318)
YY1 (Yin Yang1)	Transcription factor	Binds to Mdm2 and p53	Enhances ubiquitination and degradation of p53	(316, 317)
P300	Transcriptional coactivator	Binds Mdm2 and p53	E4, polyubiquitinates p53	(315)
MTBP	Mdm2 binding protein	Binds to Mdm2	Enhances ubiquitination and degradation of p53, but not Mdm2	(319)

A. Binding partners which promote ubiquitination.

B. Binding partners	which	inhibit	ubiqu	uitination.
---------------------	-------	---------	-------	-------------

Protein	Description	Binding	effect	ref
ARF	Alternative reading frame	Interacts with Mdm ²	Inhibits E3 activity of Mdm2 leads to	(121)
	product of ink4a locus		stabilization of p53	
L11, L5, L23	Ribosomal proteins	Interact with Mdm2	Inhibits E3 activity of Mdm2, leads to stabilization of p53	(137, 263, 323)
Numb	Notch antagonizer	Binds Mdm2	Inhibits	(324, 325)
TSG101	tumour susceptibility gene	Binds Mdm2 and p53	Inhibits autoubiquitination, downregulates p53	(326)

In addition to ARF and ribosomal proteins mentioned above, other proteins inhibit Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and lead to stabilization and activation of p53 (Table 1.1B). Recent report shows that the Numb protein, Notch antagonizer, which plays a role in cell fate and differentiation, can enter a tricomplex with p53 and Mdm2 and inhibit ubiquitination of p53. Numb seems to play an important role in tumour development, as it is frequently lost in breast cancers leading to inactivation of p53 pathway (324). It is worth mentioning another regulator of Mdm2 - TSG101 (tumour susceptibility gene). TSG101 physically interacts with both p53 and Mdm2 and leads to inhibition of autoubiquitination of Mdm2, elevating its protein levels. This is associated with the downregulation of p53 protein (326), suggesting that TSG101 does not inhibit E3 activity of Mdm2 towards p53. tsg101 knock-out mice embryos die at day 6.5 which is partly due to accumulation of p53 (327). However, inactivation of TSG101 results in transformation of NIH 3T3 cells and their ability to generate metastatic tumours in nude mice (326), which is inconsistent with the negative role of TSG101 in regulation of p53 and the reason is not clear. The existence of multiple positive and negative regulators might provide the way to differentially regulate p53/Mdm2 pathway in response to various stresses and cellular context.

In addition to its ubiquitin ligase activity, Mdm2 has been suggested to play a role at the post-ubiquitination step. Acidic domain of Mdm2 might play a role in this function, as some acidic domain mutants of Mdm2 retain the ubiquitin ligase activity, but fail to degrade p53 (328-330). The details of such function of Mdm2 are not clear and could involve the interaction with hHR23A (Rad23) protein. However, there is a certain discrepancy in the role of hHR23 in p53 degradation, with one report suggesting that hHR23A blocks the entry of p53 to the proteasome (330) and the other showing that hRH23 delivers p53 to the proteasome and promotes its degradation (331).

The important role of Mdm2 in antagonizing p53 is reflected in its frequent overexpression in human cancers. Mdm2 gene is amplified in about 7% of human tumours, most frequently in sarcomas (30-40%) and is overexpressed in leukemias (332-336). In a subset of tumours the overexpression of Mdm2 is mutually exclusive to inactivation of p53, suggesting it can functionally substitute for loss of p53 function.

A more recent study suggests that single nucleotide polymorphism within the Mdm2 promoter can lead to increased susceptibility to cancer in population. This study shows that SNP309 in Mdm2 promoter can lead to increased affinity for the transcription factor SP1, which results in higher levels of Mdm2 mRNA and protein. This can result in attenuation of p53 pathway and is associated with an increased cancer incidence (337, 338).

p53/Mdm2 pathway can also be regulated by deubiquitination. The deubiquitinase HAUSP (Herpes virus-associated ubiquitin-specific protease) was originally shown to deubiquitinate p53 *in vitro* and *in vivo* and stabilize p53 protein (215). However, another report has demonstrated that disruption of HAUSP leads to p53 accumulation (214, 339). Later it has been realized that the interplay between p53, Mdm2 and HAUSP is complex, as the primary target of HAUSP is Mdm2, and HAUSP deubiquitinates Mdm2 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (340). This seems to be required for maintaining a sufficient level of Mdm2 to act as a ubiquitin ligase on p53. In addition to HAUSP, another deubiquitinase of Mdm2 Usp2a play an important role in regulation of stability of p53. Usp2a has been identified in bacterial two-hybrid screen. Usp2a selectively deubiquitinates Mdm2 in cells, but does not have deubiquitinating activity towards p53. Downregulation of Usp2a stabilises Mdm2, which degrades p53 (341). Deubiquitinating p53 can provide a quick way for stabilizing p53 in response to stress, however a p53-specific deubiquitinase is yet to be found.

1.4.4 Other ubiquitin ligases.

Mdmx is another important regulator of p53, structurally related to Mdm2, and has been identified as a product of extrachromosomal amplification similarly to Mdm2 (342). Mdmx shows significant homology to Mdm2, including the N-terminal p53-binding domain and C-terminal RING finger domain (343). Despite similarity between RING domains Mdmx does not possess the intrinsic ubiquitin ligase activity. Mdmx interacts with the N-terminus of p53 similarly to Mdm2 (344), however fails to ubiquitinate p53 and does not target p53 for degradation (345, 346). Mdm2 and Mdmx heterodimerize with each other (347) and Mdmx can cooperate with Mdm2, contributing to its ubiquitin ligase activity (270) when overexpressed in cells. At physiological levels Mdmx has been shown to play an important role in negative regulation of p53 activity. This has been demonstrated by the rescue of embryonic lethal phenotype of Mdmx-/- mice by simultaneous inactivation of p53 (348-350). These studies have suggested that Mdm2 can not compensate for the loss of Mdmx and they might have distinct roles in regulation of p53. The recent study of roles of Mdm2 and Mdmx done with mice with conditional p53 expression suggests that Mdmx inhibits the transcriptional activity of p53 independently of Mdm2, whereas Mdm2 is required for regulation p53 protein levels (351, 352). Loss of Mdmx does no lead to accumulation of p53, suggesting that Mdmx does not regulate p53 stability (351, 352). However, the effect of Mdmx on downregulation of p53 protein can be

masked by Mdm2-mediated degradation due to an increase in transcriptional activity of p53. Further analysis is needed to resolve the role of Mdmx in regulation of p53 stability.

Other E3 ligases which can ubiquitinate p53 independently of Mdm2 have been reported. Their number is constantly growing and the currently known p53-specific ubiquitin ligases are summarized in Table 1.2. The first discovered ubiquitin ligase acting on p53 was E6-AP (E6-associated protein). E6-AP ubiquitinates and degrades p53 in cells infected with oncogenic HPV (human papilloma virus) where it forms complex with the viral protein E6 (353). Other ubiquitin ligases have also been discovered (Table 1.2). These include Pirh2 (84), Cop1 (83), TOPORS (178, 354), ARF-BP1 (185),

Ubiquitin ligase	Class	function	reference
Mdm2	RING	Mono and polyubiquitination, degradation, nuclear export	(175)
Mdmx	RING	Does not ubiquitinate p53, inhibits transcriptional activity of p53	(345, 346)
Pirh2	RING	Ubiquitination and degradation	(84)
Cop1	RING	Ubiquitination and degradation	(83)
ARF-BP1/	HECT	Ubiquitination and degradation.	(185)
HectH9/			
MULE			
E6-AP	HECT	Ubiquitination and degradation	(181)
CHIP	U-box	Ubiquitination and degradation	(355)
Cullin7	RING	Mono- and di-ubiquitination; reduces transactivation of p53	(356)
E4F1	atypical	K48 ubiquitination, modulates p53 activity to induce growth arrest	(101)
Synoviolin	RING	Ubiquitination and degradation, sequesters in the cytoplasm	(357)
WWP1	HECT	Ubiquitination, accumulation of p53 in the cytoplasm	(358)
Topors	RING	Ubiquitination and degradation	(178)
Carps	RING	Ubiquitination and degradation	(359)

Table 1.2. p53 ubiquitin ligases.

Synoviolin (360), Carps (361) and CHIP (C-terminal of Hsp70-interacting protein) (355), WWP1 (358), E4F1 (101) and Cullin 7 (356). They belong to different classes of ubiquitin ligases and all can ubiquitinate p53 independently of Mdm2. Similarly to Mdm2, Pirh2 and Cop1 are p53 target genes and both belong to the RING family of ubiquitin ligases (83, 84). ARF-BP1/HectH9/Mule, a HECT-domain ubiquitin ligase, was purified as a major ARF-binding protein from p53-null cells. However, ARF-BP1 has been shown to bind and ubiquitinate p53 (185). ARF interacts with ARF-BP1 and inhibits its ubiquitin ligase

activity, suggesting it could control p53 in response to oncogenes activation. Synoviolin and CHIP are ER-associated ubiquitin ligases. Synoviolin ubiquitinates p53 and sequesters it in the cytoplasm and could be involved in response to ER stress (357). CHIP can ubiquitinate and degrade p53 bound by the chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90, suggesting it degrades the misfolded p53 protein (355, 362). Most of these ubiquitin ligases affect the stability of p53, with the exception of E4F1, which changes the transcriptional activity of p53 without affecting its proteolysis (101). TOPORS has been reported to conjugate both ubiquitin and SUMO to p53, however, the biological output of this is not clear (222). Some of the ubiquitin ligases as CHIP, Synoviolin, Cullin-7 reside in the cytoplasm, suggesting they contribute more to regulation of cytoplasmic p53. p53 has also been shown to undergo K63-linked ubiquitination mediated by an E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc13, which increases p53 stability and leads to its cytoplasmic localization (363). Other ubiquitin ligases and their function are much less well characterized and are listed in the table. A variety of ubiquitin ligases targetting p53 may be necessary to specifically regulate p53 in response to different types of stresses, however their biological significance needs to be validated.

1.4.5 Ubiquitin-independent mechanism of p53 degradation.

In addition to ubiquitination-mediated degradation of p53 in 26S proteasome, p53 can also be degraded directly by 20S subunit of the proteasome, which does not require its prior ubiquitination (242). Several other proteins have been shown to be degraded via the the ubiquitin-independent pathway (241, 243, 364). This mechanism is regulated by NQO1 (NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1) which is associated with 20S proteasome, where it is proposed to act as a gate-keeper. NQO1 has been shown to interact with p53, which prevents the degradation of p53 by 20S. DNA damage signals increase the association of p53 with NQO1, which can contribute to stabilization of p53 (242, 365). However, it seems that ubiquitin-independent mechanisms plays a minor role in p53 stabilization in cells, as p53 is stabilized in the absence of Mdm2 during embryogenesis and in cells, when binding of Mdm2 to p53 is prevented.

1.4.6 Regulation of p53 localization.

In addition to degradation, p53 activity can be modulated by regulation of its localization (366). It appears that p53 shuttles during the cell cycle locating to the nucleus during G1 and G1/S and to the cytoplasm in the S phase (367). p53 is known to be

regulated by nuclear import and nuclear export mechanisms (368). There are three NLSs in the C-terminus of p53, of which the most active one is the bipartite NLS, which consists of two basic motifs K305-306 and K316-322 and a spacer between them (369). p53 contains two CRM-1 dependent nuclear export signals (NES) in the N-terminus and in the C-terminus (11-27aa, 340-351aa respectively) (157, 370). Several studies suggest that nuclear export of p53 is mediated mainly via c-NES (157, 224, 371). c-NES resides within the OD of p53 and is masked when p53 is a tetramer. Ubiquitination of C-terminus of p53 results in exposure of c-NES of p53, leading to its relocation to the cytoplasm (157, 224, 371). When Mdm2 levels are low, Mdm2 monoubiquitinates p53 and leads to its nuclear export (251, 372-374). The current model suggests that ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2 promotes further modifications of p53 by other E3, such as PIAS γ , which leads to release of Mdm2 and nuclear export of p53 (224). In addition, p53 can be exported in Mdm2-independent manner as demonstrated by a p53 mutant, which cannot interact with Mdm2 but undergoes nucleocytoplasmic shuttling (157).

p53 has been also reported to be sequestered in the cytoplasm by interaction with other proteins. Parc – Parkin-like ubiquitin ligase – forms a stable 1 MDa complex with p53 in the cytoplasm (375). Parc has an intrinsic ubiquitin ligase activity, however it fails to ubiquitinate p53. Parc binds to the C-terminus of p53 and sequesters p53 in the cytoplasm, by masking p53 NLS and therefore blocking p53 nuclear import (375). Another ubiquitin ligase WWP1 has been reported to ubiquitinate p53 and increase its cytoplasmic localization, leading to inactivation of p53 (358). Another report suggests that E2-conjugating enzyme Ubc13 can promote ubiquitination and cytoplasmic localization of p53 (363). Interaction with an Hsp70 family member, Mot2, can also tether p53 in the cytoplasm and inhibit its nuclear import (376). Relocation of p53 to the cytoplasm can represent the means of inhibiting transcriptional activity of p53 by keeping it away from its target genes or by degrading in cytoplasmic proteasomes. It may also promote the cytoplasmic function of p53 in inducing apoptosis, which is still a subject of extensive investigation (377-379).

Many neoplasms display cytoplasmic wild type p53 suggesting it is the way of inactivation of p53 function (380-384). In neuroblastomas p53 is virtually exclusively wild type and is sequestered in the cytoplasm (382). It has been found that p53 translocates to the cytoplasm due to enhanced nuclear export and is sequestered in the cytoplasm by binding to Parc in cell lines derived from neuroblastomas. Inactivation of Parc can restore nuclear localization of p53 and cause p53-dependent apoptosis in neuroblastoma cell lines (375).

1.5 *p*53-like proteins.

1.5.1 p53 isoforms.

The human p53 gene is composed of 19, 200 bp, spanning over 11 exons on chromosome 17p13.1 (NC_000017). Until recently only 3 mRNA splice variants of p53 have been known, which encode full-length p53, p53i9 (385) and p53 Δ 40 (386, 387). p53i9 results from alternative splicing at exon 9 and encodes a protein truncated of the last 60 amino acids, which is defective in transcriptional activity. p53 Δ 40 (other names p47 and Δ Np53) protein is truncated of the first 40 amino acids and can be generated by two mechanisms: either by an alternative splicing of the intron 2 (387) or by alternative initiation of translation (386). p53 Δ 40 contains the second transactivation domain and is capable of activating some of the p53 target genes. Interestingly, it can also inhibit



FIGURE 1.9. Human p53 gene.

The structure of p53 gene and the alternatively spliced p53 isoforms are depicted. (Adopted from Murray-Zmijewski, F., D. P. Lane, et al. (2006). Cell Death Differ 13(6): 962-72).

transcriptional activity of the full-length p53 in a dominant-negative way (387). A recent study reports that the structure of the p53 gene is much more complex than previously thought and many more p53 isoforms exist (388). The structure of p53 gene and the currently known p53 isoforms are summarized on Figure 1.9. The p53 gene is transcribed from two distinct sites upstream of exon 1 and from an internal promoter located in intron 4. The alternative promoter leads to the expression of an N-terminally truncated p53 (Δ 133p53), which lacks the entire TA domain and part of the DNA binding domain. Usage of alternative promoter in intron 4 gives rise to Δ 40p53 with truncation of N-terminal transactivation domain. In addition alternative splicing at intron 9 gives rise to α , β and γ isoforms. Therefore at least 9 different isoforms of p53 can be generated. These p53 isoforms have been shown to be expressed at both mRNA and protein levels. It was found that p53 isoforms have different subcellular localisations, suggesting the possibility of differential regulation of their activities. p53 isoforms, like p63 or p73 isoforms, have distinct transactivation functions. p53ß binds preferentially to the p53-responsive promoters p21 and Bax, rather than Mdm2, and can specifically enhance the transcriptional activity of full-length p53 at Bax promoter in response to cellular stress. This leads to an interesting interplay between p53 isoforms where p53-mediated apoptosis is increased by p53 β , which can be inhibited by the action of Δ 133p53 (388). Many of the p53 isoforms are differentially expressed in normal human tissues, which explain the mechanism of the tissue-specific regulation of p53 transcriptional activity. This suggests that deregulation of p53 isoforms could be another way to down-regulate p53 function in cancers. Indeed, head and neck and some breast tumours show abnormal expression of p53 isoforms (389). Transactivation-capable isoform $p53\beta$ is lost, whereas dominant-negative $\Delta 133p53$ isoform is overexpressed frequently in breast tumours, consistent with their tumoursuppressive and oncogenic functions respectively. The differential expression of p53 isoforms can also alter drug sensitivity of some human cancers which retain wild type p53 (141, 389).

1.5.2 p53 family members.

p53 family members p63 (390) and p73 (391) show significant structural and sequential homology to p53, and are even more similar to each other. Sequence comparison suggests that p63 and p73 are evolutionary more ancient, as the p53-like protein in lower species is more similar to p63 and p73. Both proteins retain some of the p53 functions, but also play distinct roles during development. p63 and p73 contain three functional domains with significant amino acid sequence homology to those of p53: DNA binding domain (65% homology) with most of the structural and contact residues conserved, N-terminal domain (25%), and oligomerization domain (35%). p63 and p73 also have a unique sterile alpha motif (SAM) domain within their C-termini, which is involved in protein-protein interactions (392-394). Similarly to p53, p63 and p73 can be upregulated by oncogenes and DNA damage and both function as transcription factors and can upregulate many of the p53 target genes and induce growth arrest and apoptosis (102, 395-399). There are some target genes, which are differentially regulated by p53 family members (400, 401).

However, unlike p53, both p63 and p73 are necessary for normal development. Original studies have shown that p53-null mice are viable and do not have any gross developmental abnormalities (45, 46), although small developmental defects have been noticed. A fraction of female p53-null embryos show exencephaly due to the failure of the closure of the neural tube (402) and some p53-null animals have a reduced fertility (403). p73-null mice suffer from different neurological abnormalities, such as hydrocephalus and hippocampus dysgenesis, and inflammatory defects and die within the first two months (404). p63 knock-out mice have the most severe phenotype: they are born alive but do not survive beyond a few days postnatally due to severe abnormalities in development (390). Their limbs are truncated or absent and they also display craniofacial malformations. The skin of p63-null mice does not progress past an early developmental stage and lacks stratification. This severe phenotype suggests p63 plays an essential role in ectodermal differentiation during early embryogenesis (390).

In all studied adult tissues p73 is expressed at very low levels with differential expression of some isoforms. The expression of p63 is restricted to the nuclei of basal cells of normal epithelia (skin, prostate, esophagus) and also to some populations of basal cells of glandular structure (prostate, breast, bronchi) (394).

Both p63 and p73 are expressed as multiple isoforms due to usage of different promoters and alternative splicing (391, 405). The two promoters give rise to full-length transcriptionally active TA isoforms and N-terminally truncated ΔN isoforms, which act as dominant negative inhibitors of all full-length members. Both p63 and p73 undergo additional splicing at the C-terminus, which generates at least 9 forms of p73 (α , β , γ , δ , ε , ζ , η , η_1 , ϕ) and 3 for p63 (α , β , γ). Structurally, γ isoforms are the most similar to p53, harbouring a small C-terminal extension beyond the last 30 amino acids stretch of p53. $\Delta Np73$ seems to be the most highly expressed isoform in the brain, suggesting differential expression of isoforms in tissues (394, 406).

N-terminally truncated (Δ N) isoforms of p63 and p73, which are also present in all possible C-terminal variations, lack the TA domain and are incapable of inducing gene expression (406, 407). However, Δ N isoforms oligomerize with TA isoforms of p63 and p73, and inhibit their transactivation ability in a dominant-negative effect, promoting cell survival. In addition, Δ Np73 inhibits p53 transactivation ability. This seems to occur via competition for the same DNA binding sites (408). Interestingly, p53 and TAp73 can induce the expression of Δ Np73 through p53-responsive element in its promoter, in a negative feedback loop (409, 410).

Despite having functional similarities to p53, p63 and p73 are rarely mutated in cancers (<1%) (392, 393). Their role in cancers appears to be more complicated due to existence of TA and ΔN isoforms which can have opposing effects on tumour progression. The current knowledge suggests that TA isoforms can play a tumour-suppressive role, whereas ΔN isoforms can be oncogenic by inhibiting TA isoforms (411, 412). p63 gene maps to chromosome 3q27-28 region, which is frequently amplified in squamous cell carcinomas (413), though it is not clear whether it is the targeted gene driving the amplification in this locus. Numerous studies have shown that p63 is overexpressed in nearly 80% of primary head and neck squamous carcinomas and in some other types of epithelial cancers due to genomic amplification or other mechanisms (392). The early studies of p63 expression did not discriminate between the different isoforms. Recent approach using the isoform-specific RT-PCR has shown that TAp63 mRNA overexpression is a rare event and $\Delta Np63$ is the predominant form in squamous cell carcinomas. However, at later stages of tumour development the p63 expression seems to be unfavourable and is often lost with progression to invasion and metastasis, which correlates with poor prognosis (414).

Like p63, p73 has been supposed to play a tumour suppressor role, based on its relation to p53 and the fact that its cytogenetic locus 1p36.33 is commonly deleted in a variety of cancers (391). Overexpression of p73 mRNA and/or protein has been shown in a large variety of tumour types, suggesting oncogenic role for p73. The only exception is lymphoid malignancies, where p73 is often silenced due to hypermethylation (392). Recent studies, which analyzed isoform-specific expression of p73, have found that both Δ N and TA-isoforms are upregulated in tumours compared to normal tissues (412, 415). However, the exact functions of overexpressed p63 and p73 isoforms in cancers and the extent of their contribution to tumour development are still unclear.

In addition to their regulation at transcriptional level, p63 and p73 are subjected to regulation at the level of protein stability. Like p53, p73 protein turnover is mediated by proteasomal degradation, as shown by stabilization of p73 isoforms by the proteasome inhibitors (416). All three p53 residues essential for binding to Mdm2 (F19, W23 and L26) are conserved on both TAp63 and TAp73. Mdm2 binds to N-terminus of TAp73, however it fails to ubiquitinate or degrade it (416-418). This may be due to the absence of C-terminal lysines on p73, which are preferentially targeted by Mdm2 on p53. Motif-swapping experiments have also shown that region of 93-112aa of p53 which is not conserved in p73 could be the reason for resistance to degradation by Mdm2 (419). However, the interaction with Mdm2 inhibits the transcriptional activity of p73 (416-418).

Other ubiquitin ligases have been found to interact with p63 and p73. NEDL2 (NEDD4-related protein), a HECT-domain ubiquitin ligase, has been identified as a protein interacting with the C-terminal proline-rich region of p73. NEDL2 efficiently ubiquitinates p73, although this leads to stabilization of p73, rather than proteolysis, and enhances the p73-dependent transcriptional activation (420). Another NEDD4-related HECT-domain ubiquitin ligase Itch has been shown to regulate the protein degradation of both p63 and p73 (421, 422). Itch interacts with the proline-rich domains of TA and Δ N isoforms of p63 and p73, ubiquitinates and targets them for degradation, however does not degrade p53. Itch regulates p63 and p73 protein levels both in normal and in stress conditions. p73 α but not p73 β can be sumoylated on lysine 627 and this has been shown to potentiate its proteasomal degradation (423). This modification seems to be specific for p73 α and not other splice variants, suggesting possible differential regulation of the isoforms.

It is emerging that p63 and p73 have an important role in cancer development, however their contribution is complex due to existence of TA and Δ N isoforms with opposing functions. Generation of isoforms-specific knock-out mice would help to understand the functions of p63 and p73 in cancer. Recently the mice knock-out for TA isoforms of p73 have been generated (424). The mice have an intermediate phenotype between the p73-/- and p53-/- mice. Similarly to p73-/- mice TAp73-/- mice are infertile. In addition, TAp73-/- mice have mild defects in brain morphology. Interestingly, 30% of TAp73+/- and 70% of TAp73-/- mice spontaneously develop tumors, suggesting that TAp73 isoforms play tumor-suppressive role. Interestingly, TAp73-/- mice develop different spectra of tumors compared to p53-/-mice, suggesting differences in the roles of p73 and p53 in tumor suppression (424).

1.6 Mutant p53.

1.6.1 Mutations of p53 in cancer.

1.6.1.1 Li-Fraumeni syndrome.

Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS) is a rare inherited cancer predisposition syndrome, affecting individuals before the age of 45 years. Unlike other inherited cancer syndromes, LFS is characterized by a variety of different cancers, predominantly sarcomas, breast cancers, brain tumours and adrenocortical carcinomas, though other cancers have also been reported. LFS is dominantly-inherited and is associated with high mortality. Analysis of the LFS families has shown that around 70% of these families have a germline mutation in

the p53 gene. Li-Fraumeni-like syndrome (LFL) describes a similar syndrome, which does not have all features of the classical LFS and similarly has been found to have germ-line mutations in p53 gene (44, 425, 426). In a few cases where no germline mutation in p53 has been described, the mutation in Chk2 has been reported (427, 428). From the database information it is revealed that most of the p53 mutations are missense mutations (72%) and some are deletions (10%). About 46% of the mutations were located at the codons 175, 213, 245, 248, 273 and 282 in the DBD of p53, which correspond to hotspot mutations in sporadic cancers (26). It should be noted however that most studies analyzed the mutations in exons 5-8 and therefore were biased to identify the mutations in the DNA binding domain. There is some correlation between the type of the mutation and the type of tumour. Moreover, the mutations within the DNA binding domain of p53 have generally more cancers and at younger ages than families with null mutations, suggesting a functional importance of type of the mutation in tumour progression in humans (27).

1.6.1.2 p53 in sporadic cancers.

As already mentioned, p53 gene is found mutated in nearly half of all human cancers analyzed. In many other types of cancers p53 pathway is inactivated by other ways, such as inactivation of ARF or overexpression of Mdm2. Unlike most of the tumoursuppressor genes, more than 80% of the p53 alterations are missense mutations which lead to generation of full-length p53 with single amino acid substitution (26, 429, 430). The initial observations, which showed that p53 mutations are a frequent event in many tumour types, were made some twenty years ago (431-433). Those studies demonstrated that most of the mutations are localized in the exons 5-8, which lead to a single amino acid substitution of the DNA binding domain. Therefore most of the later studies (40% of all) have focused on the characterization of these mutations, which mostly affect the DNA binding domain. The database of p53 mutations has been updated and includes the analysis of some of the recent studies have found that mutations also occur outside exons 5-8 (about 10%) (Fig.1.10) (26, 434). The biochemical and functional consequences of the mutations can be described as heterogeneous, but most of the frequently found mutations inactivate the tumour-suppressive p53 function and confer novel oncogenic properties upon mutant p53.

1.6.1.3 Structure of p53 mutations.

The current version of the TP53 mutation database reports about 24000 different mutations most of which occur as single amino acid substitutions in the DNA binding domain of p53 (http://www-p53.iarc.fr). Most of the mutations locate within the highly

evolutionary conserved regions of the DBD of p53 (boxes II-V). The hotspots of mutations are codons 175, 245, 248, 249, 273 and 282 and account for about 30% of all p53 mutations (Fig.1.10) (26, 429). The core domain of p53 is highly flexible and rapidly CODON DISTRIBUTION / 20828 single base substitutions



FIGURE 1.10. Mutational frequency of p53. The frequency of the point mutations of each codon of p53 found in tumors (IARC database, R12 release, 2006, www-p53.iarc.fr).

changes between folded and unfolded states, which can explain such high concentration of the mutations found in this domain (152, 435). Each residue in the DBD has been found mutated, with frequency ranging from two to one thousand times. There are several structural changes conferred by mutations on the DBD of p53. Many mutations alter the conformation of the DBD to a various degree and can lead to its unfolding (147, 435, 436). The change was originally described based on the reactivity with the wild type and mutant conformation-specific antibodies, pAb1620 and pAb240 respectively. The pAb1620 antibody is specific for wild type conformation and does not bind to mutant p53 with altered structure of the DBD (437). This antibody recognizes a specific structural motif on the surface of the core domain, which involves residues R156, Leu206, R209 and Asn210 (438). The pAb240 antibody is directed against the cryptic epitope on the β -strand S7 (213-217aa) which becomes accessible only upon unfolding of the region and recognizes many of p53 mutants, which originally suggested the change in the conformation (439). However, some of the commonly found p53 mutants retain wild type conformation and are not recognized by the unfolded-conformation specific antibody. Structural studies have characterized most of the hot spot p53 mutants (154, 440-443). These structural studies have shown that mutations can either affect the residue which directly contacts the DNA without the effect on the conformation of DBD or can alter the overall structure of the

DBD (441, 442). Based on the reactivity with the conformation-specific antibodies and structural data, p53 mutants have been classified as either contact or structural mutants. Contact mutants usually have substitutions at residues R248 (to W or Q) and R273 (to C or H). These changes result in the loss of contact with the DNA and have only a minor effect on the thermodynamic stability of the protein. The structural changes are very localized and do not perturb the overall structure of the DNA binding domain (441). However, in some cases contact mutants can undergo some structural alterations and can exhibit the mutant-conformation specific epitope, and therefore are described as flexible (436). The structural mutations reduce thermodynamic stability of p53, causing it to unfold at body temperature both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The L3 loop in the minor-groove-binding region is the site of the hotspot mutations G245S and R249S. G245S induces small conformational changes that weaken DNA binding. The R249S has more severe effect on conformation and results in substantial impairment of DNA binding and loss of stability (441). R175, located in the L2 loop is involved in the coordination of the zinc binding and is one of the most frequent sites of mutation, R175H. Although there is no structural data for this mutant yet, it has been proposed that mutation R175H directly affects the zinc binding and is highly destabilizing, based on data for other mutants (147, 444). Mutation R282W has a destabilizing effect, though causing only local changes in conformation, which allows R282W to bind some promoters at a subphysiological temperature (441). All these mutations of p53 result in significant loss of binding to its consensus site on DNA, which leads to an impaired transactivation ability.

The discovery of temperature-sensitive p53 mutants has suggested that p53 cancer mutants can be pharmacologically rescued by conformational alterations. For example, V143A mutant is in mutant conformation and therefore inactive at 37°C, however is in wild type conformation and exhibits transactivation ability at 32°C (445, 446). Many other temperature-sensitive p53 mutants with similar properties have been isolated (447), that show transactivation activity at 30°C. The majority of these mutations cluster in the β -sandwich region of DBD. This suggests that the conformation of the DBD of p53 mutants retains flexibility and can be folded as wild type.

1.6.1.4 p53 polymorphism.

In addition to mutations, a common polymorphism is found in the proline-rich domain of p53 (R72 or P72). The frequency of the p53P72 allele varies between populations and is higher in populations living near the equator, which suggests that P72 is beneficial in the environment with higher UV exposure (448). The study in cells

demonstrate that in fact R72 is more active in p53 tumour suppressor functions as assessed by the ability to induce apoptosis (449). In addition to DBD, the proline-rich region of p53 contributes to binding to the ASPP family members. Recent study, showing that the antiapoptotic iASPP preferentially binds to and inhibits activity of p53P72 more efficiently than that of p53R72, which provides the mechanism for more potent induction of apoptosis by p53R72 (450).

1.6.2 Properties of mutant p53.

1.6.2.1 Interaction partners of p53 mutants.

Mutations in the DNA binding domain can affect the interactions with proteins binding to p53. It has been long noted that many conformational p53 mutants can associate with the molecular chaperones Hsc70, Hsp70 and Hsp90 (41, 439, 451-454). The binding sites to the Hsp70 have been mapped and involve the β -sheets of the hydrophobic core of the central DNA binding domain, where the majority of the mutations are found (452). Mutant p53 bound to heat shock proteins Hsp70 and Hsp90 can be recognized by the ubiquitin ligase CHIP, which leads to its degradation (355, 455). Wild type p53 has also been reported to interact with the molecular chaperones though only transiently, and can also be degraded by CHIP, suggesting that wild type p53 can be unfolded in cells (355).

ASPP family members bind to the core domain of p53 (103, 456). The crystal structure of the DNA binding domain of p53 and C-terminus of ASPP2 (53BP2) has been reported (104) and has shown that the binding site for ASPP2 overlaps the DNA-binding site. All six p53 hot spot mutants (175H, 245S, 248W, 248S, 273H, 282W) fail to bind to ASPP2 (104). The residues on p53 involved in direct contact with ASPP2 are R178, R181, M243 and N247 and are found mutated in cancer. Interestingly, p53 with mutation of the R181 (to L or K), found in cervical and breast tumours, retains the ability to induce cell-cycle arrest, but fails to promote apoptosis (457). These mutations also impair the binding of p53 to ASPP1 and ASPP2 (105).

Interestingly, p53 family members p63 and p73 can associate with hot spot p53 mutants both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, but not with wild type p53 (458-464). This interaction is direct and involves the corresponding core domains of each protein (460, 461, 464). There is a correlation between the unfolded conformation of the DBD of p53 mutant, and the ability to interact with p63/p73, based on the reactivity of p53 with the "mutant" conformation specific antibody (461). However, both conformational (R175H and G245W) and contact (R248H) p53 mutants have been shown to interact with p63/p73. The

ability of contact p53 mutants to interact with p63/p73 might reflect some structural distortions of DBD by contact mutations (436). Apart from the unfolded conformation of DBD, there are other structural requirements on mutant p53 for interaction. The polymorphism of mutant p53 at residue 72 P/R can affect the affinity of binding to p73 (459, 463). Mutant p53 with 72R associates with p73 more efficiently, than p53 72P variant. Though there is not much known yet, several studies suggest the importance of the interaction of mutant p53 with p63 and p73 in malignancy. Mutant p53 inhibits the transcriptional activity of p63/p73 and their ability to induce growth arrest and apoptosis, which has been proposed to contribute to its gain-of-function properties (458-464). This could be related to the direct binding of mutant p53 to the core domain of p63/p73, which might prevent their binding to DNA. Inhibition of p63/p73 by exogenous or endogenous mutant p53 has been suggested to confer chemoresistance in tumour cell lines, which correlates with the ability of mutant p53 to bind p63/p73 (462). In further support of the biological significance of the interaction, there is a correlation between the codon 72 polymorphism in p53 mutants and the response of tumours to the chemotherapy, as shown by study of the head and neck cancers (463). The polymorphism 72R in mutant p53, which is associated with better binding to p63/p73, in many cases correlates with the worse response to chemoradiotherapy.

1.6.2.2 Loss-of-function.

Biochemical studies have shown that p53 mutants exhibit certain heterogeneity in terms of structural alterations and loss of DNA-binding activity. The DNA-binding site recognized by p53 is highly degenerated and the affinity of p53 for target sites varies (465). Though many p53 mutants exhibit total loss-of-function, some p53 mutants retain partial transactivation ability. Tumour-derived point mutants p53175P and p53181L retain the ability to activate p21 and induce cell cycle arrest, however fail to induce other target genes, which impairs their ability to induce apoptosis (457). Mice homozygous for R172P mutation (equivalent to R175P in humans) are defective in p53-dependent apoptosis, but retain a partial cell cycle checkpoint function. Importantly, these mice have a delayed tumour onset compared to p53-/- mice indicating that cell cycle arrest partially contributes to tumour suppression, however the ability to induce apoptosis is needed to prevent tumour development (466). A large-scale study of over 2000 p53 mutants with an attempt to correlate structure and transcriptional activity of p53 was conducted in a yeast-based functional assay (467). This study has analyzed all possible amino acid substitutions caused by a point mutation throughout the protein and indicates a strong correlation of p53 structure and transactivation function and with frequency of the tumour-derived mutations.

Most of the DNA binding mutations impair the ability of p53 to transactivate to a various extent. All p53 mutants most frequently found in cancers (such as R175H, R273H, R248H) exhibit a complete loss of the transactivation ability.

In addition to loss-of-function, p53 mutants acquire cancer promoting properties (38, 39, 41, 468), which have been attributed to the ability of mutant p53 to inhibit wild type p53 in a dominant-negative manner and by gain-of-function effect.

1.6.2.3 Dominant-negative effect.

Overexpression studies in cells have shown that mutant p53 inhibits the function of wild type p53 acting in a dominant-negative manner (469-473). This results in interference with several p53-mediated biological processes, such as: apoptosis (474), growth arrest (475), differentiation (476), genetic stability (477) and transformation suppression (478, 479). One of the explanations was that mutant p53 can induce a conformational change in wild type p53 (480). However, structural studies suggest that contact mutants do not have a gross change to their structure, though are capable of inhibiting wild type p53 when overexpressed (470, 472). The current mechanism of the dominant-negative effect suggests the formation of mixed tetramers of mutant and wild type p53 proteins, which reduces the level of fully active homotetramers of wild type p53 (469, 470, 472, 473, 481, 482). One report suggests that at least three mutant molecules are required per tetramer to inactivate the transactivation ability of p53 (483). This suggests that dominant-negative effects of mutant p53 can be biologically relevant only when the levels of mutant p53 are high. Indeed, recent studies of mutant p53 knock-in mice allele suggest that in normal cells expressing one wild type and one mutant allele derived from these animals, wild type p53 retains its transactivation ability, suggesting that mutant p53 does not inhibit wild type p53 at low levels (484, 485). It is possible that in tumour cells, where mutant p53 accumulates to high levels, it might lead to inhibition of the wild type p53. In the course of tumour progression the wild type allele is often lost (431, 484-488). This might imply that wild type p53 retains its function to some extent in the presence of mutant p53, as there is a selective pressure to lose it.

1.6.2.4 Gain of function.

Experimental systems on a p53-null background have demonstrated novel tumourpromoting properties of mutant p53, which is known as "gain-of-function" effect. One of the early studies showed that mutant p53 expression in cells lacking p53 enhanced their tumourigenic potential (39). Mutant p53 can enhance the transformation potential of p53null cells as assessed by colony formation assay and leads to enhanced growth of the cells. Several studies have shown that exogenously expressed mutant p53 confers tumourigenic potential in several p53-null cell types : murine fibroblasts, murine L-12 pre-B cells and human osteosarcoma cell line (39, 489, 490). The increase in tumourigenic potential could be mediated via the increase in genomic instability. Several reports indicate that mutant p53 increases genomic instability, which could underlie the ability to increase tumourigenic potential. This is reflected by impaired mitotic spindle checkpoint in Lifraumeni-derived fibroblasts expressing mutant p53 (491). Expression of mutant p53 in mouse fibroblasts following DNA damage leads to aberrant centrosome number (492) and in Saos-2 cells results in gene amplification (493). Mutant p53 also enhances colony formation upon overexpression in p53-null cells (492, 494-496) and increases proliferation of these cells (496). Another gain-of-function property of mutant p53 is the ability to interfere with the induction of apoptosis in response to various stress signals, such as DNA damage and growth factor deprivation when overexpressed in cells (497-502). However, most of these studies describe the role of the exogenous mutant p53. Studies showing that LFS-fibroblasts exhibit increased resistance to apoptosis in response to UV and IR, compared to p53-/- cells, indicate that endogenous mutant p53 behaves similarly (491). Mutant p53 actively contributes to cancer cells proliferation, chemoresistance and the ability to form tumours in mice, as evidenced by down-regulation of the expression of the endogenous mutant p53 in various cancer cell lines (503-505). However, the most convincing evidence for the gain-of-function effect is provided by the study of knock-in mice with "hot-spot" mutations in p53. p53 mutant mice with mutation at either R172H (equivalent to 175 in humans) or R270H (equivalent to 273 in humans), belonging to structural and contact class of hot-spot mutants respectively, have been generated (484, 485). Both mutant p53 knock-in and p53-null mice develop tumours, however mutant p53 knock-in mice exhibit different spectra of tumour spectrum, with predisposition to carcinomas and endothelial tumours. Tumours in mutant p53 knock-in mice display more aggressive phenotypes and metastasize with higher frequency. Further analysis of MEFs derived from mice expressing mutant p53 has shown that mutant p53 confers higher growth rate and increases transformation potential by Ras in MEFs derived from these mice compared to p53-null counterparts (484). Interestingly, there are some clear differences in tumour spectra between 172/+ and 270/+ mice. 172/+ mice also have increased frequency of metastatic osteosarcomas compared to 270/+ mice (485). This provides evidence for functional difference between contact and structural classes of mutants in tumour progression. These findings provide the most physiologically relevant evidence for the gain-of-function effect of certain p53 mutants (484, 485). The mechanism of the gain-of-function effect of p53 mutants has been proposed to be mediated via their interaction with p63/p73. In support of this, mutant p53 interacts with both p63 and p73 in the metastatic tumour cell line established from p53172/+ mice. Mutant p53 inactivates transcriptional activity of p63 and p73 in MEFs derived from these mice (484). Some of the phenotypes of the mutant p53 mice, such as increased metastasis, can be recapitulated in mice with only one copy of p53 and one copy of p63 and p73 (506), suggesting that the gain-of-function is mediated via inactivation of p63/p73. However, the exact mechanism of gain-of-function of mutant p53 is still unknown.

Although mouse p53 gene is similar to human p53 gene, with 91% homology in the DNA binding domain, the existing differences prompted the researchers to develop a humanized p53 knock-in (HUPKI) mouse model (507). HUPKI is composed mostly of the human sequence of p53 (amino acids 33-332) and has the murine p53 N- and C-termini. It is considered to be functionally similar to mouse p53 (507, 508). Recent study has addressed the gain-of-function effects of p53 hot spot mutations (R248W and R273H) by introducing them into the HUPKI allele (509). In agreement with the studies described above, mice with R248W develop different tumour spectra compared to tumours in p53-/-mice, providing further support for the gain-of-function effect. Mutant p53-expressing cells also exhibit impaired G2-M checkpoint after DNA damage. The gain-of-function effect of mutant p53 in this system has been attributed to the active disruption of the DNA damage-response pathway. This seems to occur via physical interaction of p53 mutants with the nuclease Mre11 in p53 mutant knock-in mouse cells and human cancer cells (509). The interaction inhibits the binding of the MRN (Mre11-Rad50-NBS1) complex to DNA double-stranded breaks, leading to the impaired activation of the ATM.

Another mechanism of the gain-of-function of mutant p53 involves regulation of the expression of a specific set of genes. One of the first genes shown to be upregulated by mutant p53 was MDR-1, which was suggested as a mechanism underlying chemoresistance promoted by mutant p53 (510). Mutation of L22 and W23, required for transcriptional activity of p53, abrogated the ability of mutant p53 to transactivate MDR-1 and enhancement of tumourigenic potential of the cells by mutant p53 (511). This study has provided the evidence for transcriptional regulation mechanism of the gain-of-function of mutant p53. Several other studies have show that p53 mutants can upregulate the expression of genes involved in growth regulation, such as EGFR (512), PCNA (490) and c-Myc (501). Microarray analyses have shown that several p53 mutants can regulate the expression of genes involved in various processes, such as growth regulation, angiogenesis and genomic stability, which can promote tumour development (494, 497, 513-515). Another study suggests that CD95/Fas/Apo1 gene, encoding a death receptor is negatively regulated by mutant p53, which can contribute to its antiapoptotic activity (498). These

studies have also compared different p53 mutants and show that they can share some transcriptional targets, however they may possess distinct gain-of-function phenotypes. Interestingly, mutant p53 can also increase NF-kB activity, which can play an important antiapoptotic role in many human cancers (514). The mechanism of how mutant p53 regulates gene expression is not known. Mutant p53 is found at the promoters of its target genes (494, 497, 498), however, it is not known whether it can directly bind DNA. The mutant p53 consensus site has not been found so far. It is likely that mutant p53 is engaged in protein complexes, which target it to specific promoters. A recent report has demonstrated that mutant p53 associates with the transcription factor NF-Y and is recruited to the NF-Y target genes involved in regulation of cell cycle, such as cyclin A, cyclin B1 and cdk1. Upon DNA damage, mutant p53 recruits p300 and upregulates the expression of these genes, leading to cell cycle progression (503). Though it is possible, that mutant p53 do not have the p53 consensus sequence. The contribution of these gain-of-function mechanisms to the tumour promotion by mutant p53 remains to be elucidated.

1.6.3 Accumulation of mutant p53 protein.

In the first studies describing p53 it was noted that p53 protein is highly expressed in many transformed cell lines, whereas in normal cells its expression is low (29-31, 516). Though wild type p53 is a short-lived protein in normal cells, mutant p53 protein has increased half-life in transformed cells (41, 517, 518). High levels of mutant p53 protein in cancer cells has become a characteristic feature of cancers with mutant p53 (430, 432, 488). This suggests the selection for overexpression of mutant p53 in the process of tumour development. Though many potential explanations have been suggested, it is still not clear why mutant p53 is stable in tumours. First, it was thought that mutant p53 is not degraded via normal mechanisms. However after Mdm2 was shown to bind and degrade mutant p53 when overexpressed in cells (246, 519), the inability to transactivate Mdm2 was proposed to underlie the stability of mutant p53 proteins. Though this mechanism can account for stability of mutant p53 in some cases, the situation seems to be more complex. Recent studies of mouse models expressing only mutant p53 show that while mutant p53 accumulates in most tumours, it remains unstable in normal cells. In agreement with other reports, accumulation of mutant p53 does not correlate with the loss of heterozygocity (484, 485, 488). This suggests that mutant p53 protein is normally degraded in normal cells and therefore the failure to transactivate Mdm2 is not the underlying cause of mutant p53 stability in tumours. Further supporting this, it has been reported that mutant p53

accumulates to high levels in normal cells when Mdm2 is simultaneously inactivated in mice expressing mutant p53 (520). This suggests that Mdm2 can degrade mutant p53 in normal cells, but not in tumour cells. Indeed, high levels of Mdm2 are found in many tumour cell lines that express high levels of mutant p53 (518). Another study shows that though Mdm2 interacts with mutant p53, it still fails to degrade the protein in some tumour cell lines (518). It is possible that secondary events might occur during tumour development, which contribute to stabilization of mutant p53. Given the gain-of-function effect, mutant p53 can be favorable for tumours, however particularly adverse for cancer patients. High levels of mutant p53 protein are often correlated with the worse clinical prognosis (521-529). Therefore studying how the stability of mutant p53 is regulated can help to understand why it is stable in tumours, which can have important therapeutic implications.

1.7 *p*53 and cancer therapy.

Recent studies have shown that similarly to "oncogenes addiction", tumours depend on having p53 inactivated for their continued growth. Three recent mouse tumour models studies have shown that restoration of p53 function in established tumours causes regression of tumour growth and can be a potent way to treat cancers (530-532). One study has generated mice with switchable p53 in all tissues (531). In this system when p53 is inactivated mice develop lymphomas and sarcomas. Restoration of p53 leads to a pronounced regression of both types of tumours, though by different mechanisms apoptosis in lymphomas and cellular senescence in sarcomas. Interestingly, re-expression of p53 does not induce toxicity in normal tissues, suggesting that oncogenic environment of the tumour is needed for full activation of p53 function (531). Another group has developed a mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma with activated Hras, in which p53 expression can be downregulated by switchable short hairpin RNA against p53 (530). The injection of Hras-expressing p53-inactivated cells into immunodeficient mice results in formation of invasive hepatocarcinomas. When p53 function is restored, even if transiently, tumours completely regress. Similarly to sarcomas, activation of p53 in hepatocellular carcinomas leads to induction of growth arrest with signs of cellular senescence (530). Another study used the p53 knock-in mouse model where one gene is replaced by a switchable p53 gene on the background of Eµ-myc lymphoma mouse model (532). In this system E-myc mice with one wild type p53 allele and one inducible p53 allele develop B-cell lymphomas as they lose the wild type p53 allele. Switching on the remaining p53 allele causes tumour cell death and prolongs survival of the mice. However,

the mice eventually succumb to tumours, which evade p53 action by loss of p19ARF or by deletion of the remaining p53 allele (532). Similarly to two other models this study shows that though p53 activation in tumours can have an important therapeutic benefit in lymphomas, it can be quite short term, suggesting that efficiency of p53 activation might vary between tumour types. All in all these three studies strongly suggest the potential therapeutic benefit for p53 activation in tumours with inactivated p53. These studies have modelled the tumours with loss of p53, however the interesting question of whether tumours are arising with mutant p53 can regress upon inactivation of mutant p53, has yet to be investigated.

One of the promising approaches for cancer therapy using p53 pathway has been gene therapy. The delivery of p53 gene in an adenovirus vector has been already implemented into clinical trials (533). However, specific targeting of the tumours might be quite challenging using this approach.

Several other approaches have been used to activate wild type p53 in tumours (534, 535). The most successful strategy that has been implemented is by blocking the interaction with Mdm2 (536). In about half of all cancers p53 remains wild type and many of these tumours overexpress Mdm2, which inactivates p53. Using synthetic peptides and protein aptamers it has been shown that inhibition of the interaction between p53 and Mdm2 can be used to activate p53 in cells which results in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (276, 277, 344). This suggests that blocking the interaction between p53 and Mdm2 could be implemented for cancer therapy. Targeting protein-protein interactions by small molecules has been considered difficult, however in the case of p53/Mdm2 only three amino acids of p53 F19, W23 and L26 are directly involved in interaction with deep hydrophobic cleft on Mdm2, which allowed design of inhibitors mimicking the interaction (148). Recently highly specific small-molecule inhibitors of the interaction – nutlins - have been described which lead to efficient stabilization and activation of p53 in cells, resulting in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (282). Nutlins were identified from a class of cisimidazoline compounds and can potently inhibit interaction of p53 and Mdm2 in vitro and in cells (282, 537). Structural studies have demonstrated that nutlins bind to the p53 pocket of Mdm2 and mimic the molecular interaction with p53. Interestingly, though binding region of Mdm2 is well conserved in Mdmx, nutlin does not potently inhibit the p53/Mdmx interaction (538).

Nutlins activate p53 pathway with high specificity and only cells with wild type p53 are sensitive to these compounds (282). Importantly, treatment of normal fibroblasts with nutlin-3 induces cell cycle arrest, whereas cancer cells undergo apoptosis when treated at similar doses with nutlin-3a, suggesting nutlins can be promising candidates for

cancer therapy (539). Treatment of human xenografts with nutlins at non-toxic doses results in tumour shrinkage, suggesting promising cancer therapy (537).

Several other inhibitors have been discovered. A class of benzodiazepine Mdm2 antagonists have been reported to prevent the interaction of Mdm2 with p53 and have been shown to be able to suppress growth of cells with wild type p53, however they are much less potent than nutlins (540). A structure-based design study has identified several compounds with a spiro-oxinadole core structure, which can potently inhibit the p53-Mdm2 interaction *in vitro* (541). These compounds have been shown to have anti-proliferative activity in cells with wild type p53, however their biological activity is not well characterized yet.

Another compound that inhibits p53/Mdm2 interaction - RITA (reactivation of p53 and induction of tumour cell apoptosis) - has been discovered based on cell-based screening with chemical library (542). RITA activates p53 and induces p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. In SCID mice RITA inhibits the growth of HCT116 human tumour xenografts. It has been proposed that unlike nutlins, RITA inhibits p53/Mdm2 interaction by binding to p53. However, the mechanism of action of RITA remains controversial, as NMR structural studies reported that RITA does not inhibit the p53/Mdm2 interaction (543).

Other routes to stabilize p53 exploit the ways to inactivate Mdm2. Several studies have inhibited Mdm2 expression by antisense oligonucleotides and have shown p53 stabilization and p53 activation in cancer cells and in tumour xenografts in nude mice (544-546). However, this approach has not been well characterized yet. Inhibiting ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 is another important strategy to activate p53. This approach emerges as particularly important since ubiquitin ligase activity is a crucial determinant for inactivation of p53 by Mdm2. Recently small-molecule inhibitors that specifically target the E3 ligase activity of Mdm2 have been identified in a high-throughput screen. Some of these compounds, named HLI98, potently inhibit p53 ubiquitination *in vitro* and activate p53 in cells, resulting in p53-dependent apoptosis (547, 548). However, some p53-independent toxicity of these compounds might be required for this approach to be implemented into cancer therapy.

The success of the therapeutic approach of reactivating wild type p53 in tumours will depend on the functionality of the p53 pathway. For example, melanomas have low frequency of p53 mutation, however are resistant to chemotherapy. The deregulation of downstream of p53 signalling pro-apoptotic APAF-1 and BAX can account for the

chemoresistance (549). Overexpression of Mdmx, an inhibitor of p53 transcriptional activity can attenuate the p53 response to nutlin treatment (538).

In many tumours where p53 is inactivated by mutation, stabilization of mutant p53 would be undesirable approach as it can have adverse effects due to gain-of-function of mutant p53. The restoration of the activity of mutant p53 has been suggested as a strategy for development of therapy for such tumours. Though many p53 mutants are unable to bind DNA in p53 target promoters due to conformational changes in the DBD, several evidence have suggested that DBD of p53 mutants is flexible, as exemplified by the finding of the temperature-sensitive p53 mutations (550-552). In further support, second site mutations in DBD of p53 can restore the structure and activity of some of the p53 mutants, suggesting the possibility to reactivate mutant p53 (553-555). Several compounds, which activate mutant p53 in cell-based assays, have been described, including CP-31398 (556), PRIMA-1 (p53 reactivation and induction of massive apoptosis) (557) and MIRA-1 (558). CP-31398 acts by modifying the mutant conformation of p53 and can rescue p53 function in some tumour-derived cell lines and xenografts. It has been suggested that CP-31398 stabilize wild type conformation by binding to newly synthesized protein, however there is no evidence of direct interaction and the mechanism of action remains unclear. CP-31398 also has some p53-independent effects and needs to be further characterized and optimized (556). PRIMA and MIRA represent another class of compounds, which have been suggested to restore tumour-suppressive p53 activity of mutant p53 (557-559). These compounds have been identified in a cell-based screen for ability to induce apoptosis in a cell line expressing inducible mutant p53 273H. PRIMA can induce apoptosis in cells expressing wild type p53, however seems to be more specific for cells with mutant p53. PRIMA also has some p53-independent effects and the mechanism of its action is largely unknown (557). MIRA is able to suppress growth of mutant-p53 expressing cells but not p53-null cells. MIRA has been shown to inhibit tumour growth of xenografts in SCID mice (558). Both PRIMA and MIRA have been suggested to promote wild type conformation of mutant p53 in vitro, however there is no data for direct binding of these compounds to p53. These compounds have not been fully characterized and optimized yet. The discovery of such compounds suggests potentially promising approach for refolding conformation of mutant p53 by small molecules. This approach is particularly attractive as it will target specifically tumour cells which bear mutant p53 and not cells with wild type p53.

Clearly the strategy of the therapies should be completely different dependent on whether tumours have wild type or mutant p53. In the first case the approach would be to

activate p53, whereas cancer therapy of tumour cells with mutant p53 should aim at downregulating mutant p53 expression.

1.8 Aims.

The aim of this study has been to analyze the contribution of the DNA binding domain (DBD) of p53 to regulation of its stability. Specifically, the contribution of the conserved boxes of DBD of p53 and of point mutations of p53 found in tumours has been addressed. Chapter 3 describes the contribution of DBD of p53 to regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. In chapter 4 the contribution of Mdm2-independent pathway to ubiquitination of p53 has been investigated. In chapter 5, the role of DBD of p53 in regulation of subcellular localization has been analyzed. Involvement of DBD of p53 to interaction with its family members has been studied in Chapter 6.

Chapter 2. Materials and methods.

2 Materials and Methods.

2.1 Materials.

All general laboratory reagents used in this study are listed in table 2.1.

Table 2.1. General chemicals and reagents.

Reagent	Source
Agarose	Sigma
Acrylamide 29:1	National diagnostics
SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate)	Fisher
APS	Sigma
TritonX-100	Sigma
BSA (bovine serum albumin)	Sigma
DTT (dithiothreitol)	Sigma
Na ₂ HPO ₄	Fisher
KH ₂ PO ₄	Fisher
NaCl	Fisher
KCl	Fisher
PFA (paraformaldehyde)	TAAB labs
Tris-HCl	Sigma
MgCl ₂	Sigma
Methanol	Fisher
Ethanol	Fisher
ATP (Adenosine-5'-triphosphate)	Roche
Agar	Fluka
β-Mercaptoethanol	Sigma
NP-40	Roche
DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide)	Sigma
TEMED (Tetramethylethylenediamine)	Sigma
Tween-20	Sigma
Protease inhibitors cocktail	Roche
Nutlin-3A	Cayman chemicals
Cycloheximide	Sigma
DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole)	Sigma
ECL (enhanced chemiluminescence) reagent	Perbio
Nitrocellulose membranes	VWR
Leptomycin B	Sigma
Kanamycin	Sigma
Ampicillin	Sigma

All general buffers and solutions used in this study are listed in Table 2.2.

Solution	Composition
Phosphate Buffered	170 mM NaCl
Saline (PBS)	3.3 mM KCl
	1.8 mM Na ₂ HPO ₄
	10.6 mM KH ₂ PO ₄
	pH 7.4
Tris-buffered saline (TBS)	25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4
	137 mM NaCl
	5 mM KCl
TBS-T (TBS-Tween)	TBS+0.1%Tween-20
Lysogeny broth (LB)	1% Bacto-tryptone
	86 mM NaCl
	0.5% yeast extract
LB Agar	1% Bacto-tryptone
	86 mM NaCl
	0.5% yeast extract
T.: EDTA (TE)	1.5% agar
$\mathbf{I}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{S}\mathbf{E}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{A}\left(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{E}\right)$	10 mM Ins-HCI pH 8.0
2x SDS DACE comple buffer	1 IIIVI EDIA
2x SDS-FAGE sample burler	125 IIIVI 1115 pri 0.8
	$10\% \beta_{-}$ mercantoethanol
	15% glycerol
	0.01% bromophenol blue
SDS-PAGE running buffer	0.1% SDS
	192 mM glycine
	25 mM TrisH-Cl pH8.3
Electroblotting buffer	192 mM glycine
0	25 mM Tris
	20% methanol
NP-40 buffer	20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8
	120 mM NaCl
	1mM EDTA
	0.5% NP-40
Lysis buffer (in vitro ubiquitination)	50mM Tris-HCl pH7.5
	100mM NaCl
	1% Triton
	0.8 mg/ml D1 T
	supplemented with PMSF
Reaction buffer (in vitro ubiquitination)	SUMM Tris-HCI pH8
	2mW DTT 5mM MaCl
	2 mM ATB
Blocking solution (western blotting)	5% milk powder in TBS-T
Blocking solution (immunostaining)	1% BSA in PBS
Permeabilizing solution (immunostaining)	0.2% TritonX-100 in PBS
Fixing solution	4% PFA in PBS
Resolving gel	8-10% acrylamide
	375mM Tris pH8.8
	0.1% SDS
	0.1% APS
	50mM TEMED
Stripping buffer	0.2M Glycine
	1% SDS
	pH 2.5

 Table 2.2. Solutions and buffers.

2.2 Methods.

2.2.1 DNA preparation.

DNA preparations were carried out as described previously (560). E. Coli (strains DH5 α or TOP-10) competent cells (Molecular Biology services, Beatson Institute, Glasgow, UK) were thawn on ice. The DNA plasmid was added to 30-100 µl of competent cells, mixed and incubated on ice for 20 min. After a heat shock of 45 seconds at 42 °C the cells were grown in 0.5 ml LB for 30 min at 37°C with shaking at 450rpm. Cells were seeded on agar plates with ampicillin or kanamycin and grown upside down at 37°C overnight. The next day the colonies were inoculated in LB with ampicillin or kanamycin and grown overnight at 37°C whilst shaking. Small scale or large scale plasmid DNA preparations were performed using Qiagen kits following manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, UK).

2.2.2 Site-directed mutagenesis.

Point mutations were introduced by site-directed mutagenesis Quick Change kit (Stratagene) following manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, oligonucleotide primers were designed by web-based design program (Stratagene) containing the desired mutations (Table 2.3). Primers were synthesized and purified (MWG).

The reaction was set up in 50 μ l containing 30ng plasmid DNA, 1 μ M primer, 1 μ l of 0.2mM dNTP mix, 5 μ l of 10xreaction buffer (Stratagene) and 1 μ l PfuTurbo DNA polymerase (Stratagene) (2.5U/ μ l). The reaction was cycled using the following parameters.

Cycles	Temperature	Time
1	95°C	30''
17	95°C	30"
	55°C	1'
	68°C	8'

After brief incubation on ice 1 μ l of DpnI restriction enzyme (10U/ μ l) (New England biolabs) was added and reaction was incubated for 3h at 37°C. Then 10 μ l of the reaction was transformed into E.Coli Top10 competent cells. All constructs were verified by sequencing (Research services, Beatson Institute).

2.2.3 RNA extraction and RT-PCR.

Cells were washed twice in PBS and total RNA was isolated with RNeasy extraction kit following manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen). To synthesize cDNA reverse transcription reactions were set up. First RNA (1.4 μ g) and 200ng random hexamers and 1mM dNTP were mixed in 10 μ l and denatured at 65°C for 5 min. Next the 10xreaction buffer, 10mM MgCl₂ and 20mM DTT and 1 μ l RNASe OUT recombinant ribonuclease inhibitor (40u/ μ l) were added and primers were annealed at 25°C for 2 min without reverse transcriptase (RT) and for 10 min with 1 μ l SuperScript II RT (GIBCO). The cDNA synthesis was carried out at 42°C for 50 min. Then reaction was stopped by heat inactivation at 70°C for 15 minutes. To remove RNA the reaction mixes were incubated with 1 μ l RNase H (2u/ μ l) for 37°C for 20 min and cDNAs were stored at -20°C.

For polymerase chain reactions 2μ l cDNA was mixed with 0.2μ M corresponding forward and reverse primers, 1U AmpliTaq DNA polymerase, 10x PCR buffer, 1.5 mM MgCl₂ and 0.2mM NTP in 50 μ l volume. For analysis of CHIP and GAPDH expression the following primers were used (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3	RT-PCR	primers.
-----------	---------------	----------

GAPDH-fw	GCAGAGATGATGACCCTTTTGGCT
GAPDH-rv	TGAAGGTCGGATCAACGGATTTGGT
CHIP-fw	TCATTTTGACCCCGTGACC
CHIP-rv	ACCTCAGTAGTCCTCCACC

Reactions were cycled for 25 cycles in a Peltier Thermal Cycler (MJ research, Helena Bioscience), using the following parameters and transferred to 4°C.

Cycles	Temperature	Time
1	95°C	30''
25	95°C	30''
	60°C	40''
	72°C	1'

Reaction products were resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis.

2.2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis.

1% Agarose (Sigma) in TAE buffer was boiled, mixed with 0.5µg Ethidium bromide and allowed to solidified in gel chamber. DNA samples diluted in 5x loading buffer (30\$glycerol, bromphenol blue) were electrophoresed at 120V in 1xTAE running buffer and visualized by UV transilluminator.
2.2.5 Plasmids.

All p53, Mdm2 and other expression plasmids with deletions and mutations of the indicated amino acids used in this study are shown on table 2.4.

Table 2.4. Plasmids.

A. p53 constructs.

name	mutation	vector	source
wt	Wild type p53	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔΙ	Δ13-19aa	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔΙΙ	Δ117-142aa	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔIII	Δ171-181aa	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔIV	Δ234-258aa	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔV	Δ270-286aa	Pcb6+;	(561)
		pGEM	
ΔNES	L348A,L350A	Pcb6+	(224)
ΔNLS	K305A, R306A, K319A, K320A, K321A	Pcb6+	(224)
175H	R175H	Pcb6+	Site directed
			mutagenesis
273H	R273H	Pcb6+	Site directed
			mutagenesis
175/ΔI	R175H; Δ13-19aa	Pcb6+	Site directed
			mutagenesis
$\Delta V / \Delta I$	Δ270-286aa; Δ13-19aa	Pcb6+	(561)
$\Delta II/\Delta I$	Δ117-142aa; Δ13-19aa	Pcb6+	(561)
175/ΔNLS	R175H;	Pcb6+	Site directed
	K305A, R306A, K319A, K320A, K321A		mutagenesis
175/ΔNES	R175H; L348A,L350A	Pcb6+	Site directed
			mutagenesis

B. Mdm2 constructs.

wt	Wild type Mdm2	pCHDM1A	(562)
ΔR	Δ440-497aa	pCHDM1A	(562)
464	C464A	pCHDM1A	(563)
ΔΝ	Δ58-89aa	pCHDM1A	(256)
ΔΑ	Δ212-296aa	pCHDM1A	Provided by Dr. Uldrijan
ΔC	Δ483-497aa	pCHDM1A	Provided by Dr. Uldrijan
ZF	C305A, C308A	pCHDM1A	Provided by Dr. Uldrijan
GFP-RING	GFP-384-491aa	pEGFP-C1	(270)
GST-Mdm2	GST-tagged wild type Mdm2	pGEX	(564)

V5-S4	pcDNA3	Provided by prof. Blattner
V5-S5α		
V5-S6α		
V5-S6β		
НА-р73α	pcDNA3	Provided by prof. G Melino
FLAG-p73α	pcDNA3	Provided by prof. G Melino
HA-Ub	pMT123	Provided by prof. R.Hay
FLAG-Parc	pcDNA3	Provided by prof. W.Gu
pEGFP-N1	pEFGP	Clontech

C. Other constructs.

Constructs encoding human wild type p53 and p53 deletion mutants (ΔI , ΔII , ΔIII , ΔIV , ΔV , $\Delta V/\Delta I$, $\Delta II/\Delta I$) in mammalian expression vector pcb6+ were made in the laboratory by Dr. N Marston and were characterized previously. p53 ANLS, p53-C6 and p53 ANES in vector pcb6+ were kindly provided by Dr. Stephanie Carter and are described previously (224).p53175H, р53273Н, p53175H/ΔI, p53273H/ΔI, p53175H/ANLS, p53175H/ANES and p53175H-C6 in pcb6+ vector were made by introducing point mutations R175H and R273H by site-directed mutagenesis (QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit; Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) with the corresponding p53 primers (Table 2.4). The polymorphic codon 72 in all p53 constructs was mutated from P to R if needed, using corresponding primers (Table 2.5). For in vitro translation $p53\Delta V$, ΔIV , ΔIII, ΔII in pGEM vector, previously described, (561) and p53175H in pSp65 vector, made by site-directed mutagenesis, were used. All p53 contsructs were verified by sequencing (Research services, The Beatson Institute) with p53-specific primers (Table 2.6).

p53R175Hfw	ACGGAGGTTGTGAGGCACTGCCCCCACCATGAGCGCTGCT
p53R175Hrv	TGCCTCCAACACTCCGTGACGGGGGGGGGG
p53R273Hfw	ACTGGGACGGAACAGCTTTGAGGTGCATGTTTGTGCCTGTCCTGGG
p53R273Hrv	TGACCCTGCCTTGTCGAAACTCCACGTACAAACACGGACAGGACCC
p53P72Rfw	CCAGAGGCTGCTCCCCGCGTGGCCCCTGCACC
p53P72Rrv	GGTCTCCGACGAGGGGGCGCACCGGGGACGTGG

Table	2.5	Primers	used fo	r site	-directed	mutao	enesis	of	n53.
1 ant	4.0.	1 1 111101 5	uscu IU	1 5110	-un ceicu	mutag	CHUSIS	UI	p.55.

146-fw	ATATTGAACAATGGTTC
189-rv	TGCTTCATCTGGACCTGG
282-fw	ATCTTCTGTCCCTTC
361-fw	TCTGTGACTTGCACGTAC
661-fw	GAGCCGCCTGAGGTTGGC
887-rv	ACTCCGAGGGGAAAGAACGCCTC
971-fw	ATGGAGAATATTTCACCCTT

Table 2.6. Primers used for sequencing of p53.

Plasmids expressing wild type Mdm2 (562), C464A Mdm2 (563), GST-Mdm2 (564), Mdm2 Δ 58-89 (256), Mdm2 Δ R (562) were described previously (Table 2.3). Plasmids encoding Mdm2 Δ A and Mdm2ZF were kindly provided by Dr. Stjepan Uldrijan (Table 2.3).

Plasmid encoding HA-tagged ubiquitin was kindly provided by Prof. R. Hay. pEGFP-N1 encoding GFP was obtained from Clontech (Palo Alto, CA). FLAG-Parc was kindly provided by Prof. W. Gu. Constructs encoding HA-p73α and FLAG-p73α were generously provided by Prof. G. Melino.

2.2.6 Cells.

<u>H1299</u> is a human non-small cell lung adenocarcinoma with a homozygous deletion of p53 (565).

<u>U2OS</u> is a human osteosarcoma expressing wild type p53 (566) (ATCC).

<u>MCF7-p53 Δ II</u> human breast cancer cells expressing wild type p53 and stably transfected with p53 Δ II mutant were previously made in the laboratory (567).

<u>MCF7-p53 Δ II/ Δ I</u> human breast cancer cells expressing wild type p53 and stably transfected with p53 Δ II mutant were previously made in the laboratory (567).

p53-/-mdm2-/- mouse embryonic fibroblasts (<u>DKO</u>) cells were described previously (249).

2.2.7 Growth conditions.

Cell lines were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Invitrogen) medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Autogen bioclear), 2mM glutamine and 60 μ g/ml penicillin, 200 μ g/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen) at subconfluent conditions. Cells were maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and split every 3-4 days at a 1/5-1/10 ratios. Medium was aspirated and cells were

washed once with TE+0.25% trypsin, followed by incubation with trypsin for 2-3 minutes. Cells were collected into fresh media and seeded for maintenance or transfections.

For transfections cells were seeded at 30-50% confluency and allowed to adhere overnight unless otherwise stated.

For long-term storage cell lines were cryo-frozen. Cells were trypsinized and pelleted. After one wash with fresh medium, cells were resuspended in 90%FBS and 10%DMSO, frozen in cryotubes at -70°C overnight and stored in liquid nitrogen.

2.2.8 Transfections.

Transfections of cells with plasmids were performed with Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen) or lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. DKO were transfected with Effectene reagent. For immunoprecipitation experiments U2OS and H1299 were transfected with lipofectamine reagent. Transfection of U2OS cells for *in vivo* ubiquitination was carried out with effectene, for immunofluorescence and subcellular fractionation experiments U2OS cells were transfected by calcium phosphate precipitation similarly to as described previously. For 6-well plate 2-4 μ g total amount of appropriate DNA plasmids were diluted in 110 μ l of sterile water and 15 μ l of 2M CaCl₂ was added and mixed. The mix was added dropwise to 125 μ l of 2xHBS (pH 7) and vortexed. The precipitates were allowed to form for 30 minutes at room temperature and added to the cells dropwise. Approximately 5-6 hours later the medium was changed and the cells were harvested 36-48 hours after transfection. For transfections of larger plates the amounts were scaled according to the surface area.

Short interfering RNA (siRNA) oligonucleotides were transfected into cells with lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) or Hiperfect (Qiagen). For down-regulation of Cop1, ARF-BP1 and Mdm2 expression, cells were transfected twice with siRNA with 24 hours between transfections and analyzed 48 hours later. For down-regulation of CHIP expression cells were transfected twice with siRNA with 72 hours between transfections and analyzed 72 hours later. For down-regulation of Cop1, ARF-BP1 and CHIP expression, predesigned pools of four siRNA oligonucleotides were used (SMARTpool, Dharmacon). In the control experiments non-targetting siRNA was used (Dharmacon). Mdm2-specific siRNA oligonucleotides were described previously (568). The following siRNA oligonucleotides were used (Table 2.7).

Table 2.7 siRNA	oligonucleotides.
-----------------	-------------------

Itch1	AAGUGCUUCUCAGAAUGAUGA	(422)
Itch2	AACCACAACACACGAAUUACA	(422)
Stub1	CGCUGGUGGCCGUGUAUUAUU	On-target Smartpool (Dharmacon)
Mdm2	AAGGAAUAAGCCCUGCCCA	(568)
ARF-BP1	Sequence not provided	On-target Smartpool (Dharmacon)
Hsp70	GAAGGACGAGUUUGAGCACAA	Designed with Invitrogen RNAi
		designer software
CHIP3	CAGCUGGAGAUGGAGAGCUAU	Designed with Invitrogen RNAi
		designer software
CHIP4	CCAACUUGGCUAUGAAGGAGG	Designed with Invitrogen RNAi
		designer software
GFP	GGCUACGUCCAGGAGCGCACC	(569)
Cop1	Sequence not provided	On-target Smartpool (Dharmacon)

Cells were treated for indicated time periods with 10-20 μ M proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Sigma), Nutlin-3a (Cayman chemical), cycloheximide (Sigma) and leptomycin B (Sigma) at indicated concentrations.

2.2.9 SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE).

Protein samples were subject to SDS-PAGE electrophoresis as described previously (570). Protein samples were boiled in 2x sample buffer for 10 min at 95°C and loaded into SDS-polyacrylamide gels consisting of 5% stacking gel and 8-10% resolving gel. Prestained protein markers were used (Benchmark, Invitrogen). Small and large gels were electrophoresed at 40-50mA in 1x SDS-PAGE running buffer on vertical tanks (Amersham Biosciences, SE400).

Gels with [³⁵S]-labelled proteins were fixed in isopropanol:water:acetic acid (25:65:10) for 30 min, soaked in Amplify reagent (Amersham, UK) for 15 min, dried and exposed to X-ray film.

2.2.10 Western blotting.

Western blot analysis was carried out similarly to described previously (563). Proteins were transferred from the gel to the nitrocellulose membrane as described previously (571) in 1xtrasfer buffer in Hoefer TE42 Protein Transfer tanks. Small gels were transferred in at 200mA for 2h or 10V overnight. Large gels were transferred at 500mA for 3 h or 30V overnight. The membranes were blocked in 5% milk/TBS-T for 30min-60min and incubated with the primary antibodies usually at a dilution of 1:1000-1:2000 in blocking solution for 2-3h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. Following 3

washes in TBS-T the blots were incubated with the horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-rabbit, anti-mouse or anti-goat HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (GE Healthcare) and visualized with Enchanced Chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham) detection kit.

The primary antibodies used in this study are detailed in table 2.8.

Table 2.8. Primary antibodies

A. Human p53-specific antibodies.

	antibody	epitope	Source
	DO1	20-25aa (572)	Beatson Institute
	1801	46-55aa (573)	Calbiochem
	421	371-380aa (574)	Calbiochem
	1620	106 to 114aa	Calbiochem
		146 to 156aa (575) (detects for	
p53		wild type conformation)	
	240	213-217aa (576)	Calbiochem
		detects mutant conformation	
	CM1	recombinant human p53 (577)	Novocastra

B. Other antibodies.

protein	name	Source
Actin		Chemicon
ARF-BP1		Provided by Prof. M. Eilers
Cdk4		Santa Cruz
CHIP		Abcam
Cop1		Provided by Prof. V. Dixit
FLAG (M2)	M2	Sigma
GFP		Roche
HA	F7 or Y11	Santa Cruz
Hsp70		Calbiochem
LaminA/C		Calbiochem
Mdm2	Ab-1	Calbiochem
	Ab-2	Calbiochem
	SMP-14	Santa cruz
p73	sc-20	Santa Cruz
V5		Calbiochem

2.2.11 Immunoprecipitation under native conditions.

Immunoprecipitation was carried out similarly to described previously (563). 24h before transfection cells were seeded in 6-cm plates. Cells were transfected with 0.6mg p53 and 1.2mg Mdm2 using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen). After 20-24h cells were treated with 10µM MG132 for 4h. Cells were washed in cold PBS and lysed in cold NP-40 buffer containing proteinase inhibitors (Complete, Roche). Immunoprecipitations were performed with Mdm2 or p53-specific antibodies bound to 30ml protein G-Sepharose for 1 or 2h at 4°C. Mdm2 was immunoprecipitated with 0.3-0.6 µg of anti-Mdm2 antibodies Ab-2 (Calbiochem) and SMP-14 (Santa Cruz), p53 was immunoprecipitated

with 0.3-0.6 µg of 1801 and 421 antibodies (Calbiochem). Immunoprecipitated proteins were washed with NP-40 buffer and resuspended in 2xSDS sample buffer. Proteins from whole-cell extracts and immunoprecipitations were resolved by SDS–PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting with anti-p53 polyclonal antibody CM1 (Novocastra) and anti-Mdm2 Ab-1 and Ab-2 antibodies (Calbiochem).

2.2.12 In vivo ubiquitination of p53.

Cells were seeded at 60%-80% confluency in 6-cm plates the day before transfection. Cells were transfected with 0.3mg p53, 0.6mg hemagglutinin (HA)-ubiquitin and with 0.15mg Mdm2 or pcDNA3 where indicated, using Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen). After 20-30h cells were treated with 10-20 mM MG132 for 4-5h. Cells were washed twice in cold PBS and lysed in 350ml 0.5% SDS in TBS. After boiling and vigorous vortexing, extracts were supplemented with 1ml 1.5% Triton X-100 in TBS. Protein G sepharose beads were washed in Np-40 buffer and incubated with DO1 antidoby for 1h at 4°C rotating. Lysates were added to 30ml protein G sepharose beads were washed 3 times in NP-40 buffer and the proteins were extracted by adding 40µl 2x SB and boiling for 5 min. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by analyzed by Western blotting with monoclonal anti-HA antibody followed by anti-light chain secondary antibody.

2.2.13 In vitro ubiquitination of p53.

In vitro ubiquitination of p53 was carried out similarly to described previously (270). DHL5a *E. coli* cells were transformed with pGEX-Mdm2 and grown at 37°C to approximately log phase. Protein expression was induced by addition of IPTG (300 mM) for 3h. Cells from 10 ml of night culture were lysed in 5 ml of lysis buffer and sonicated. GST-Mdm2 was purified on 100 μ l glutathione-Sepharose beads (Amersham), mixed with 20 μ l *in vitro*-translated p53 (TNT Quick Coupled Transcription/Translation System, Promega) and incubated at 4°C for 1 h. The beads were washed three times with 50mM Tris pH7.5 and incubated with 50ng mammalian E1 (Affiniti), 200ng human recombinant UbcH5B E2 (Affiniti) and 5 μ g ubiquitin or methylated ubiquitin (Sigma) in reaction buffer. The reaction was incubated at 37°C for 2h and then stopped by the addition of 2x

SDS sample buffer. Reaction products were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting with anti-p53 DO-1 antibody.

2.2.14 Analysis of half-life of p53 by cycloheximide treatment.

The day before transfection 10⁵ p53-/-mdm2-/- (DKO cells) were seeded in 6-well plates. Cells were transfected with 150ng of p53 with Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen). After 24h cells were treated with 50mg/ml cycloheximide (Sigma) and collected at indicated time points. Cell lysates were subjected to Western blot analysis with p53-specific DO1 antibody.

2.2.15 Analysis of half-life of p53 by pulse-chase.

The day before transfection, $10^5 \text{ p53}^{-/-} \text{ mdm2}^{-/-}$ (DKO) cells were seeded into sixwell plates. Cells were transfected with 400 ng of p53 with Effectene transfection reagent (QIAGEN). The pulse-chase experiment was performed 24 h later. Cells were incubated in methionine/cysteine-free DMEM with 5% dialyzed serum (GIBCO) for 30 min. The medium was then removed and replaced with DMEM with [³⁵S]methionine-cysteine (50 µCi/ml; Promix [Amersham]) for 2 h. Cells were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and chased with DMEM supplemented with 15 mg of methionine/liter and 24 mg of cysteine/liter (both from GIBCO) for the times indicated below. Cells were washed in PBS and lysed in NP-40 buffer. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific DO1 antibody and analyzed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis.

2.2.16 Subcellular fractionation.

The day before transfection U2OS cells were seeded at 30-50% confluency. Cells were transfected with 7 μ g of p53 plasmids by calcium phosphate precipitation method. After 48h fractions of cells were extracted using Subcellular fractionation kit () following manufacturer's instructions. The cell lysates were mixed with 2x Laemmli sample buffer and resolved by SDS-PAGE, followed by Western blot analysis.

2.2.17 Immunofluorescence labeling.

DKO or U2OS cells were seeded onto coverslips and transfected as described above for *in vivo* ubiquitination of p53. After 20-30h, cells were treated with 20 μ M

MG132 for 5 h. Cells on coverslips were washed three times with PBS and then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde/PBS for 10 min at room temperature. After fixation, cells were washed three times in PBS and permeabilized in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 for 5 min. Cells were blocked in PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin at room temperature for 30 min and then incubated for 2 h at room temperature with mouse antip53 DO1 or goat anti-p73 antibody at 1:150 dilution in blocking solution. Cells were washed three times with PBS and incubated for 2 h at room temperature with fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated anti-mouse or Alexa 494-conjugated anti-goat secondary antibodies at 1:150 dilution and in blocking solution containing DAPI (4',6'-diamidino-2phenylindole 1 µg/ml; Sigma). Cells were washed three times with PBS, and slides were mounted with Vectashield hard set (Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, United Kingdom). Cells were visualized with Fluoview 1000 Olympus confocal microscope by acquiring fluorescence for DAPI, FITC and Alexa 494 at the corresponding emission wavelength. To detect co-localization, the channes of red and green were merged and appearance of yellow color was analyzed. The cells with cytolasmic p53 were counted and the average from several experiments and standard deviation for at least three experiments was calculated and presented as a graph. Images representative of the majority of the cells were acquired.

2.2.18 Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation.

The day before transfection 10⁵ DKO or H1299 cells were seeded in 6-well plates. Cells were transfected with 150ng plasmid encoding wild type p53 or indicated p53 mutants and 450ng (DKO cells) or 600ng (H1299 cells) plasmid encoding wild type Mdm2 or indicated Mdm2 mutants or same amount of pcDNA3.1 (Invitrogen). Each transfection mixture also contained 50ng pEGFP-N1 to control for transfection efficiency. Cells were collected 30-40h after transfection, washed with PBS and lysed with 200-250ml 2x SDS sample buffer. Proteins were resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and analyzed by Western blotting with anti-p53 1801 antibody (Calbiochem), anti-Mdm2 Ab-1 and Ab-2 antibodies (Calbiochem) and anti-GFP antibody (Roche).

Chapter 3. Contribution of the DNA binding domain of p53 to regulation of its degradation by Mdm2.

3 Contribution of the DNA binding domain of p53 to regulation of its degradation by Mdm2.

Although previous studies have shown that tumour-derived p53 mutants can be targeted for degradation by Mdm2 when overexpressed in cells (246, 519), the recently identified contribution of the DNA binding domain of p53 to Mdm2 binding (265, 578) has suggested that mutant p53s may show some alterations in their sensitivity to Mdm2. Together, these observations suggest a more complex relationship between Mdm2 and p53, and that the degradation of mutant p53 might be selectively compromised in tumour cells.

Most p53 mutations found in tumours occur as point mutations in the DBD of p53 and localize to highly conserved regions of the DBD - boxes II, III, IV, V (143). Based on structural studies and reactivity with the antibodies, p53 mutants can be largely divided into structural and contact mutants, affecting the conformation of DBD or residues contacting DNA, respectively (147, 441). Structural p53 mutations alter the conformation of the DBD of p53 (436, 579), resulting in the exposure of an epitope recognized by the mutant p53-specific antibody (pAb240), which does not efficiently recognize native wild type p53 (576). This has been described as unfolded or "mutant" conformation and has been associated with many hot spot p53 mutants. Wild type p53 is preferentially recognized by wild type conformation antibody (pAb1620), which fails to recognize unfolded p53 mutants (437, 580). In our study we have utilized previously characterized p53 mutants with deletions of the conserved boxes of DBD - p53 Δ II, Δ III, Δ IV and Δ V (561) (Fig. 3.1), as well as two hot spot tumour derived point mutants, structural - 175H, and contact - 273H. Similarly to tumour derived p53 mutants (581), each of the p53 deletion mutants fails to bind DNA and is therefore transcripitionally inactive (561). Each of the deletion mutants, like 175H, adopt the "mutant" conformation associated with structural tumour-derived p53 mutants (582). The 273H mutant is recognized by both wildtype and mutant p53 specific antibodies, and appears to show a flexible conformation (583, 584).

In this chapter the contribution of mutations and deletions in the DBD of p53 deletions to interaction, ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by Mdm2 was examined.

3.1 Analysis of the interaction of p53 DBD mutants with Mdm2.

3.1.1 Mutant conformation of DNA binding domain of p53 promotes binding of Mdm2 outside box I.

To analyze the contribution of the DBD previously characterized p53 constructs with deletions of conserved boxes of DBD p53 Δ II, Δ III, Δ IV and Δ V and tumour-derived p53 point mutants p53175H and p53273H were used (Fig. 3.1). For analysis of the contribution of Mdm2 binding the following p53 mutants lacking N-terminal box I were used: previously described p53 Δ I, p53 Δ V/ Δ I and p53 Δ II/ Δ I, and p53175H/ Δ I and p53273H/ Δ I, made by site-directed mutagenesis (Fig.3.1). All p53 mutants were sequenced and 72P/R polymorphism was checked. To avoid potential differences due to polymorphism, all mutants were made to have the same 72R polymorphism.





FIGURE. 3.1. Structural organization of wild type p53 and p53 mutants used in the study.

The main domains of p53, nuclear export (NES), nuclear localization (NLS) signals and the location of the conserved boxes I, II, II, IV and V and the corresponding deletions and point mutations 175H and 273H are shown. TA - transactivation domain, DBD - DNA binding domain, PD – proline-rich domain. OD - oligomerization domain.

Previous studies have shown that the p53 mutants with deletion of each of the conserved boxes of DBD retain the ability to interact with Mdm2 in vitro (561). To assess their ability to interact in vivo co-immunoprecipitation analysis of each of the p53 DBD deletion mutants ΔII , ΔIII , ΔIV and ΔV (Fig.3.1) and wild type Mdm2 was carried out in H1299 cells. H1299 is a non-small cell lung carcinoma cell line, which is easily maintained and transfected. H1299 cells are p53-null and express low amounts of endogenous Mdm2, which makes it a convenient system to use for transient transfection of p53 constructs. As a negative control, p53 lacking box I – p53 Δ I, which has been previously shown to lack the ability to interact with Mdm2, was also used in this experiment. H1299 cells were transfected with expression vectors encoding wild type p53, or p53 Δ I or with p53 deletion mutants p53 Δ II, Δ III, Δ IV and Δ V along with wild type Mdm2 or empty vector (Fig.3.2). The p53 protein and its interacting partners were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody 1801 and the Mdm2 protein was detected by Mdm2-specific antibodies (Ab-1, Ab-2). The 1801 antibody recognizes epitope 46-55 aa in the N-terminus of p53 and therefore should immunoprecipitate all p53 mutants used in this experiment. In this experiment wild type p53 was expressed less well than p53 mutants, though this was probably due to difference in the transfection efficiency of the wild type p53 construct as this was not observed in the subsequent experiments (Fig.3.2).

p53 deletion mutants migrated slightly faster than wild type p53 on the gel, as expected. The levels of Mdm2 in the total cell lysates were not detected, however transfected Mdm2 protein was detected in the immunoprecipitates (Fig.3.2). Mdm2 protein is detected as a doublet, which migrates around 80 kD on the gel and represents full length p90 Mdm2 protein (337, 585) (Fig.3.2). It is not known what the double bands are and could be a modified form of Mdm2. All p53 mutants were efficiently immunoprecipitated with p53specific antibody. Consistent with previous reports, wild type Mdm2 associated with wild type p53, but not with the p53 Δ I lacking box I (Fig.3.2) (561), suggesting that Mdm2 binds to the N-terminus of wild type p53 and other regions on p53 do not appear to contribute. Though there have been reports of the interaction between the core domain of p53 and Mdm2 (264, 265), the interaction was not detected in this experiment. Similar amounts of Mdm2 were immunoprecipitated with all the p53 DBD deletion mutants (Fig.3.2). To confirm this observation, the immunoprecipitation was also carried out in reciprocal way with Mdm2 specific antibodies and p53 bound to Mdm2 was detected by Western blot with p53-specific antibodies. Some amount of endogenous Mdm2 was immunoprecipitated, however much more Mdm2 was detected when overexpressed (Fig.3.2). The expression of endogenous Mdm2 increased when p53∆I was co-expressed,



FIGURE 3.2 p53 mutants with deletions of the conserved boxes of DBD interact with Mdm2.

H1299 cells were transfected with indicated p53 constructs and with empty vector or with wild type Mdm2. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with Mdm2 or p53 specifc antibodies and analyzed by Western blotting. IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

which may be due to transcriptional activation of Mdm2 by $p53\Delta I$ (Fig.3.2). Wild type p53 was readily co-immunoprecipitated with overexpressed Mdm2 (Fig.3.2). In agreement with previous reports, $p53\Delta I$ did not associate with transfected or endogenous Mdm2 (Fig.3.2). Weak p53 signal was detected in the lanes where no Mdm2 was overexpressed, which is probably due to interaction with endogenous Mdm2 (Fig.3.2). Each of the p53 DBD deletion mutants interacted with Mdm2 similarly to wild type p53 (Fig.3.2). The results of the reciprocal immunoprecipitation indicates that only part of p53 is engaged in complex with Mdm2 and not all Mdm2 is interacting with p53. Consistent with *in vitro* data (561), this experiment shows that the change in conformation of DBD of p53 does not affect the ability to interact with Mdm2 in cells.

Mdm2 is known to interact with both the N-terminus (256, 561) and the central DBD of p53 (578). To evaluate the contribution of the N-terminal binding site (box I) to the interaction between mutant p53 and Mdm2, the ability of Mdm2 to interact with p53 DBD mutants lacking conserved box I was tested - (Fig 3.1). To this end coimmunoprecipitation analysis of the p53 mutants with wild type Mdm2 was carried out in H1299 cells (Fig.3.3). This and all the following experiments were done in the presence of proteasome inhibitors to avoid effects of different degradation rates of transfected proteins, as shown in Figure 3.2. Mdm2 was efficiently immunoprecipitated with wild type p53, but not with p53 lacking box I (Fig.3.3). In addition to the p53 band, slower migrating form of p53 was detected with p53 specific antibody (Fig.3.3). This modified form of p53 correlated with binding of Mdm2 to p53, suggesting it could be ubiquitinated form of p53. Slightly more Mdm2 was co-immunoprecipitated with p53175H and p53 Δ V than with wild type p53 and similar amount of Mdm2 was immunoprecipitated with p53273H as with wild type p53 (Fig. 3.3). Interestingly, p53 DBD mutants lacking conserved box I - Δ V/ Δ I, 175H/ Δ I and 273H/ Δ I clearly retained the ability to bind Mdm2, although the interaction was reduced compared to the DBD mutants retaining box I - 175H, 273H and Δ V (Fig. 3.3). These results suggest that mutation in the DBD of p53 promotes alternative interaction between Mdm2 and p53, which occurs outside box I of p53. This result was confirmed at least four times in independent experiments.



FIGURE 3.3. Mdm2 interacts with p53 DBD mutants lacking the N-terminal Mdm2 binding site.

H1299 cells were co-transfected with indicated p53 mutants and with empty vector or with indicated Mdm2 constructs. Cells were treated with MG132. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with p53- and Mdm2-specific antibodies.

IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

3.1.2 The RING domain of Mdm2 contributes to the interaction with p53 DBD mutant lacking box I.

Next, the analysis of the functional domains on Mdm2 involved in the interaction with mutant p53 was carried out. To this end Mdm2 mutants with deletions or mutations of functional domains, shown in Figure 3.4, were used.

The N-terminal domain on Mdm2 is involved in interaction with p53 and Mdm2 mutant lacking the region 58-89aa - Mdm2 Δ N - fails to bind p53 and inactivate p53 (256) (Fig.3.4). Mdm2 Δ A, has a deletion of a large part of the central acidic domain (212-296aa) which covers the region previously shown to bind ARF and involved in interaction with DBD of p53. Mdm2ZF mutant has two point mutations in the zinc finger domain substituting structurally important cysteins C305 and C308 with alanines (Fig.3.4). The previously characterized mutant Mdm2 Δ R is truncated from the amino acid 440 in the C-terminus, which deletes the RING finger domain and the extreme C-terminus of Mdm2, and is deficient in the ubiquitin ligase activity, however Mdm2 Δ R retains the ability to interact with p53 (256). Mdm2 C464A, previously characterized, has a substitution of cysteine 464 with alanine in the RING domain of Mdm2, which is involved in the



FIGURE 3.4. Structural organization of the wild type Mdm2 and Mdm2 mutants.

The main domains of Mdm2 - p53-binding domain, acidic domain, RING domain and zinc finger domain - and the corresponding Mdm2 deletion and point mutants are shown.

N - N-terminal p53 binding site, R - RING domain, A - acidic domain, ZF - zinc finger, C - C-terminus.

coordination of zinc atom and abolishes ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 (175). This mutation abrogates the structure of the RING domain of Mdm2 and this mutant also fails to oligomerize with wild type Mdm2. The Mdm2ΔC has a truncation of the 14 last C-terminal amino acids just after the RING domain (Fig.3.4) and has been made in our laboratory by Dr. Uldrijan. The C-terminus of Mdm2 has been shown to contribute to the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2. GFP-tagged RING domain expresses the region of Mdm2 384–491aa, which encompasses the RING domain and a few adjacent residues and was described recently (270) (Fig.3.4).





FIGURE 3.5. The acidic domain of Mdm2 is not required for the interaction of Mdm2 with p53 DBD mutants lacking box I.

H1299 cells were co-transfected with indicated p53 and Mdm2 constructs. Cells were treated with MG132. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with p53- and Mdm2-specific antibodies.

The contribution of the domains of Mdm2 to interaction with p53 mutant outside the N-terminus was analyzed. To this end a co-immunoprecipitation analysis of Mdm2 mutants was carried out with the p53 DBD mutants lacking box I. Recent studies have shown that Mdm2 can interact with the DBD of p53 via its acidic domain (265, 266). To test whether the binding to p53 mutants outside box I involves the acidic domain of Mdm2, co-immunoprecipitation analysis of Mdm2 mutant ΔA lacking acidic domain ($\Delta 212$ -296aa) with p53 DBD mutants lacking box I - $\Delta V/\Delta I$, $\Delta II/\Delta I$ and 175/ ΔI was carried out (Fig.3.5). Mdm2 ΔA migrates lower than wild type Mdm2 around 65 kD and is detected as a single band (Fig.3.5). Similarly to the results shown in Fig.3.3, wild type Mdm2 did not interact with p53 ΔI , however Mdm2 readily associated with all of the p53 DBD mutants lacking box I (Fig.3.5). However, deletion of the acidic domain of Mdm2 did not prevent the interaction with wild type p53 or the DBD mutants lacking box I (Fig.3.5). The modified form of p53 was slightly reduced upon expression of Mdm2 Δ A (Fig.3.5), suggesting that the acidic domain of Mdm2 is important for modifying p53, which could be ubiquitinated p53. This is consistent with previous results showing that acidic domain of Mdm2 is critical for ubiquitin ligase activity (261, 262). The modified form can also be neddylated p53, which is known to be mediated by Mdm2 (223).

Though previous reports have shown that acidic domain contributes to interaction with wild type p53 (264-266), it was not detected in this experiment. The reason for discrepancy is not clear, and is possibly due to difference in the cell types used. H1299



FIGURE 3.6. Analysis of functional domains of Mdm2 involved in the interaction of Mdm2 with $p53175/\Delta I$.

H1299 cells were co-transfected with indicated p53 and Mdm2 constructs. Cells were treated with MG132. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with p53- and Mdm2-specific antibodies. After Western blotting with p53 the membrane was reblotted for Mdm2 to detect Mdm2 Δ A in the immunoprecipitated samples.

IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

To determine which region on Mdm2 interacts with mutant p53 outside box I several additional Mdm2 mutants targeting functionally important regions were examined: N-terminus - ΔN , zinc finger domain - ZF and RING finger domain - ΔR (Fig.3.4) (484). The Mdm2 ΔA mutant was also included again. Mdm2 ZF migrates slightly higher than the full-length Mdm2, probably due to change of the charge of the protein, and is detected as a single band, suggesting mutation of the cysteins prevents the modification of Mdm2 (Fig.3.6). As expected, Mdm2 Δ N and Mdm2 Δ R migrate on the gel slightly faster than wild type Mdm2 and appear as a doublet (Fig.3.6). Consistent with previous data, p53 lacking box I – $p53\Delta I$ - was deficient in the ability to bind wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2 $\Delta RING$ (Fig.3.6). However weak interaction of p53AI with Mdm2ZF and Mdm2AN was detected (Fig.3.6), suggesting that other regions on p53 can contribute to the interaction with Mdm2. Confirming the results described above, wild type Mdm2 co-immunoprecipiated with p53175H/ Δ I, and interaction was not affected by deletion of the acidic domain Δ A. Deletion of N-terminal p53 binding site on Mdm2 did not prevent the interaction (Fig.3.6). consistent with the structural studies suggesting that N-terminus of Mdm2 interacts onlwith N-terminus on p53, and not elsewhere on p53 (266). Mdm2ZF mutant also was able to interact with p53 $175/\Delta I$ with a similar affinity to wild type Mdm2 (Fig.3.6). However, deletion of RING almost completely abolished the ability of Mdm2 to interact with $p53175/\Delta I$ (Fig.3.6). This observation was made in three independent experiments. Next, to confirm this result and to test the contribution of the RING domain to interaction with full-length p53 proteins co-immunoprecipitation analysis of wild type or p53175H, full length or lacking box I, with wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2 Δ R, was carried out. Interestingly, deletion of the RING domain also decreased the interaction of wild type p53 with Mdm2 (Fig.3.7), suggesting that this region contributes to the interaction with wild type p53. Consistent with previously shown results, Mdm2 interacted with p53175H slightly better than with wild type p53, and retained the ability to interact with p53 $175/\Delta I$ though the interaction was reduced. Deletion of the C-terminus of Mdm2 significantly reduced the interaction with p53175H and with p53175/ Δ I, suggesting that much of the interaction between Mdm2 and mutant p53 occurs via RING finger domain (Fig.3.7). RING is involved in binding to E2 and is required for ubiquitin ligase activity by Mdm2. A point mutation replacing cysteine residue 464 with alanine (C464A) abrogates zinc coordination and disrupts the structure of RING domain, inhibiting the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 (175). To examine whether the E3 activity of Mdm2 is required for the interaction with p53, Mdm2 mutant C464A was included in the co-immunoprecipitation analysis. Mdm2 C464A protein interacted with p53175/ΔI similarly to wild type Mdm2 (Fig.3.7), indicating that the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 is not important, but that the entire RING finger domain is required for the interaction of Mdm2 with mutant p53. These results also suggest that binding of p53 to Mdm2 is distinct from E2-binding, which is abrogated by C464A mutation. Mdm $2\Delta R$ mutant lacks the RING domain and the extreme C-terminus, which also contributes to ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 (270).



FIGURE 3.7. Deletion of the RING domain on Mdm2 abrogates its ability to interact with $p53175/\Delta I$.

H1299 cells were co-transfected with indicated p53 and Mdm2 constructs. Cells were treated with MG132. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with p53- and Mdm2-specific antibodies. IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

To test which part of the C-terminus of Mdm2 contributes to the interaction with mutant p53 Mdm2 Δ C lacking the last 14 amino acids, but retaining the RING domain and construct expressing GFP tagged RING domain was used (Fig.3.8). Co-immunoprecipitation assay of p53 175/ Δ I with GFP-RING or Mdm2 mutant lacking the extreme C-terminus from 483aa - Mdm2 Δ C - was carried out (Fig.3.8). RING has been also reported to interact with the acidic domain of Mdm2 (586), therefore in this experiment GFP-RING was also co-expressed with Mdm2 Δ R to test if RING can rescue the ability of Mdm2 Δ R to interact with mutant p53. GFP-RING is expressed in cells and is readily detected with the GFP-specific antibody as a single band (Fig.3.8). RING co-immunoprecipitated with p53175/ Δ I, suggesting that RING binds to mutant p53, however it remains to be confirmed *in vitro*.





whether the interaction is direct. Mdm $2\Delta C$, retaining RING, associated with mutant p53 (Fig.3.8), implying that extreme C-terminus is not required for the interaction. Expression of RING did not rescue the ability of Mdm $2\Delta R$ to interact with p53 mutant. Taken together these results show that while both mutant and wild type p53 bind Mdm2, the mechanisms of binding are quite distinct. Whereas wild type p53 and Mdm2 associate via the corresponding N-termini of each protein, interaction of mutant p53 and Mdm2 can occur outside N-terminus on mutant p53. These results suggest, that in addition to the N-terminus, RING domain of Mdm2 is involved in the interaction with both wild type and mutant p53.

3.2 Analysis of the ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2.

3.2.1 p53 mutants are less efficiently ubiquitinated by Mdm2 in vitro.

To test whether the difference in the interaction between Mdm2 and mutant p53 affects the ability of Mdm2 to ubiquitinate mutant p53, the efficiency of Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53 mutants *in vitro* was examined. *In vitro* translated wild type p53 or p53 DBD mutants were prebound to GST-purified Mdm2 and *in vitro* ubiquitination reactions were set up with E1 enzyme, ubiquitin and ATP in the presence or

absence of E2 enzyme as a negative control. Wild type p53 was extensively polyubiquitinated by Mdm2 when all components of ubiquitination reaction were present (Fig.3.9). It should be noted that in the negative control reactions, where E2 was omitted, some modified forms of p53 were present (Fig.3.9), suggesting that some of the E2 activity came from the reticulocyte lysate. Interestingly, each of the p53 deletion mutants was substantially less well ubiquitinated than wild type p53 (Fig. 3.9A). A similar reduction in the ability to be ubiquitinated by Mdm2 was also seen using the p53175H point mutant (Fig. 3.9B). This suggests that the wild type conformation of the DBD is required for the efficient ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2. The difference in the interactions of wild type and mutant p53 with Mdm2 could be the reason. Binding of p53 to the N-terminus of Mdm2 is required for activation of the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2. Interaction of mutant p53 with Mdm2 does not require the N-terminus, suggesting that the ubiquitin ligase activity might not be activated properly.



FIGURE 3.9. Analysis of ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants in vitro.

A, B. Wild type p53 and p53 mutants with deletions of the indicated conserved and p53175H (B) were *in vitro* translated and bound to GST-Mdm2. *In vitro* ubiquitination reactions were carried out and analyzed by Western blot with a p53 specific antibody (DO1). **B** (right panel). *In vitro* translated reactions prior to *in vitro* ubiquitination reaction were subject to Western blot analysis

3.2.2 p53 mutants are more highly ubiquitinated *in vivo* independently of Mdm2.

The results presented so far showed that Mdm2 less efficiently ubiquitinates mutant p53 in *in vitro* reactions than wild type p53. To detect ubiquitinated p53 in cells, the *in vivo* ubiquitination assay was carried out in p53-/-mdm2-/- mouse embryonic fibroblasts (DKO), which provide a clean system to analyze the activity of transfected Mdm2. Wild type p53 was expressed with wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2C464A, a mutant that is inactive for E3 activity along with HA-tagged ubiquitin. Use of HA-tagged ubiquitin allows to specifically detect ubiquitinated p53, and not other ubiquitin-like modifications. To prevent degradation of ubiquitinated p53, cells were treated with proteasome inhibitor MG132. Cells were lysed under strong denaturing conditions in order to disrupt the interaction of p53 with its binding partners, so that only p53 would be immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibodies. Following the lysis, p53 was immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody. Some weak residual ubiquitination was detected when p53 was expressed on its own in DKO cells (Fig. 3.10), possibly due to some contribution of other endogenous ubiquitin ligases.

p53-/-mdm2-/-



FIGURE 3.10. *In vivo* ubiquitination assay.

p53-/-mdm2-/cells were transfected with wild type p53 and HA-tagged ubiquitin (HA-Ub) and with empty vector, wild type (wt) Mdm2 Mdm2 C464A or mutant (464). Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53specific CM1 antibody.

Consistent with previous reports, when wild type Mdm2, but not E3-inactive Mdm-464, was co-expressed, heavily polyubiquitinated p53 was detected (Fig.3.10). Some modified

forms of p53 were detectable in the total cell lysate by direct Western blotting with the p53-specific antibodies, which may be monoubiquitinated p53. Polyubiquitinated p53 was not visible with p53-specific antibodies, possibly due to masking of p53 by ubiquitination. This assay was repeated in other cell types with similar results and was routinely used to analyze ubiquitination of p53.



p53-/-mdm2-/- MEF

FIGURE 3.11. Analysis of ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants in p53-/-mdm2-/- cells.

p53-/-mdm2-/- cells were transfected with wild type p53 or the indicated p53 mutants and HA-tagged ubiquitin (HA-Ub) and with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody.

Next, ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2 *in vivo* was tested in DKO cells (3.11). While little ubiquitination of wild type p53 was detected in the absence of co-expressed Mdm2 (Fig.3.11), all of the p53 mutants that adopt an altered conformation (DBD deletions and p53175H) were already heavily ubiquitinated in the absence of Mdm2 (Fig.3.11). This may be due to the activity of the endogenous ubiquitin ligases, which selectively ubiquitinate mutant, but not wild type p53. This suggests that mutation in the DBD promotes Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of p53. To test if "mutant" conformation of DBD is required for Mdm2-independent ubiquitination, the contact p53 mutant 273H was included. The p53273H mutant behaved much more like wild type p53 in the *in vivo* ubiquitination assay. The p53273H was not ubiquitinated in the absence of Mdm2, and only when Mdm2 was co-expressed polyubiquitination was detected (Fig.3.11).

Expression of Mdm2 substantially increased the levels of ubiquination of the wild type p53 protein, but had a less pronounced effect on enhancing the ubiquitination of the p53 mutants (Fig.3.11). This is consistent with the less efficient ubiquitination of p53 mutants by Mdm2 seen *in vitro* (Fig.3.9). In other words, though wild type p53 and p53 mutants are ubiquitinated to similar levels when Mdm2 is overexpressed, ubiquitination of wild type p53 is almost entirely mediated by Mdm2, whereas ubiquitination of p53 mutants results from Mdm2-independent and Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination. Given that Mdm2 is overexpressed, it seems that the contribution of endogenous ubiquitin ligase to ubiquitination of mutant p53 is quite pronounced. These results were reproduced several times. To confirm the results in other cell types, the ubiquitination assay was repeated in H1299 cells (Fig.3.12).





H1299 cells were transfected with wild type p53 or the indicated p53 mutants and HAtagged ubiquitin (HA-Ub) and with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody.

To test if the endogenous Mdm2 can contribute to ubiquitination of mutant p53 in H1299 cells, the assay was carried out with wild type p53, p53 Δ I, p53 Δ V and p53 Δ V/ Δ I, a DBD mutant, deficient in N-terminal interaction with Mdm2 (Fig.3.13). The weak

polyubiquitination signal on wild type p53 was observed in this experiment (Fig.3.13), and p53 lacking box I, incapable of interacting with Mdm2, was ubiquitinated similarly to wild type p53, suggesting that residual ubiquitination of wild type p53 observed in these cells was not mediated by Mdm2 (Fig.3.13). Consistent with previous data, p53 Δ V was hyperubiquitinated, and deletion of box I did not reduce ubiquitination (Fig.3.13). These data confirm the result in DKO and were reproduced in 3 independent experiments. The observation that box I is not required for this alternative ubiquitination also suggests there is no competition between Mdm2 and this other E3.



FIGURE 3.13. Deletion of Mdm2binding site on p53 mutant does not reduce ubiquitination in H1299 cells.

H1299 cells were transfected with wt p53 or indicated p53 mutants with empty vector or wild type Mdm2 and with HA-ubiquitin and treated with MG132. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody.

In summary, Mdm2 contributes to ubiquitination of mutant p53, though to a lesser extent than to that of wild type p53. The conformational change in the DNA binding domain promotes the Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of p53 mutants. The Mdm2-independent ubiquitination is discussed in more details in chapter 4.

3.3 Analysis of degradation of p53 DBD mutants by Mdm2.

Despite the weak effect of Mdm2 on ubiquitination of the mutant p53s, previous reports have shown clearly that Mdm2 can contribute to the degradation of the p53 DBD mutants in cells (246, 519). The data of previous subchapter suggest that Mdm2 may play a role in the degradation of mutant p53s that is distinct from ubiquitination. Indeed, two

roles for Mdm2 in the degradation of wild type p53 have been suggested recently – one to ubiquitinate p53 and one to deliver it to the proteasomes (328-330). The ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 DBD mutants and the contribution of its ubiquitin ligase activity were investigated in this subchapter.

First, the degradation ability of Mdm2 towards wild type p53 was verified in the DKO cells. In this experiment DKO cells were transfected with wild type p53 along with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. In order to analyze the degradation of p53 protein more accurately, GFP was co-transfected to control for the transfection efficiency. Cells were untreated or treated with proteasome inhibitor MG132 and protein levels of p53 and GFP were assessed with the p53- and GFP-specific antibodies by Western blotting (Fig.3.14). p53 protein levels were significantly decreased upon the co-expression of Mdm2.

p53-/-mdm2-/-MEF



FIGURE 3.14. Mdm2-mediated proteasomal degradation of p53.

p53-/-mdm2-/- MEFs were transfected with wild type p53 and with empty vector or wild type Mdm2 and were untreated or treated with proteasome inhibitor MG132 where indicated. GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was done with p53 and GFP-specific antibodies.

(Fig.3.14). This was inhibited when cells were treated with proteasome inhibitors, confirming that Mdm2 degrades p53 by targeting it to the proteasomes. Appearance of higher modified forms of p53 was seen, when cells were treated with proteasome inhibitors, which may be ubiquitinated p53. It should be noted, that the efficiency of Mdm2-mediated degradation varied to a certain extent between the experiments, however usually the ratio 3:1 of Mdm2 to p53 plasmids was used for degradation effect.

3.3.1 p53 DBD mutants are degraded by Mdm2 *in vivo* independent of the N-terminal interaction.

After the system was set up, the degradation of p53 DBD mutants - p53175H, p53273H, p53 Δ V and p53 Δ III - was tested in DKO cells. All experiments in this subchapter were done in the absence of proteasome inhibitors (Fig.3.15). Though mutant p53 protein accumulates to high levels in tumours and was shown to have an extended half life in some tumour cell lines (41, 517-519), p53 mutant proteins were expressed at levels similar to wild type p53 protein when transiently expressed in cells (Fig.3.15). This was observed in many experiments, though with some variation of the expression levels. Equal levels of GFP were expressed in this experiment, suggesting similar transfection p53-/-mdm2-/-MEF





p53-/-mdm2-/- cells were transfected with indicated p53 plasmids and with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (DO1), Mdm2-specific and GFP-specific antibodies.

efficiency. Similarly to Fig. 3.14, wild type p53 was degraded by Mdm2 in this experiment (Fig.3.15), though the degradation appeared to be somewhat less efficient than in the result in Fig.3.14. However, there was no apparent difference in the ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 DBD mutants (Fig.3.15), consistent with previous reports (158). Mdm2 degraded conformational 175H and contact 273H p53 mutants with similar efficiency to wild type p53 (Fig.3.15), suggesting the ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 does not depend on conformation of p53 DBD. The result of this experiment was confirmed in several independent experiments, some of which are discussed later.

As shown above, Mdm2 can interact with mutant p53 lacking the N-terminal binding site (Fig.3.3). Therefore, the ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 proteins lacking box I was tested in DKO cells (Fig. 3.16). Consistent with published reports (246), wild type p53 was efficiently degraded by Mdm2, whereas deletion of box I rendered p53 resistant to degradation (Fig.3.16). This is consistent with the crucial role of the N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2 in the ability of Mdm2 to ubiquitinate and degrade wild type p53 (Fig.3.16). Interestingly, Mdm2 was also able to target the degradation of p53 DBD mutants lacking box I, although clearly to a lesser extent than p53 DBD mutants that retain box I (Fig.3.16). This is consistent with the ability of Mdm2 to interact with the p53 DBD mutants lacking box I. This result was confirmed in at least four independent experiments. In this experiment the levels of Mdm2 were slightly higher when co-transfected with mutant p53, which can be explained by higher transfection efficiency as evidenced by higher GFP levels. This result implies that the mechanism of Mdm2-mediated degradation of mutant p53 does not require the N-terminal interaction between p53 mutant and Mdm2, suggesting that the E3 activity of Mdm2 does not need to be activated. This suggests that Mdm2 can directly target p53 mutants that have been ubiquitinated by other E3 to the proteasomes.

To support these observations, the effect of Mdm2 mutant lacking the N-terminus Mdm2 Δ N (Δ 58-89) was examined. The N-terminus of p53 has been reported to interact only with the N-terminal p53 binding site on Mdm2 (266, 587). Therefore, if box I is not required for degradation of p53 mutants by Mdm2, Mdm2 Δ N should still be able to degrade mutant p53. To test this, wild type p53, p53 Δ V or p53175H mutants were expressed along with wild type Mdm2 or with Mdm2 Δ N (Fig.3.17). In agreement with the published data (563), Mdm2 Δ N only weakly degraded wild type p53, confirming that the N-terminal p53 binding site on Mdm2 is required for efficient degradation of wild type p53. (Fig.3.17). Mdm2 (Δ 58-89aa) retained some ability to degrade the p53 mutants (Fig.3.17), consistent with the ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 mutants in the absence of





p53-/-mdm2-/- cells (A, B, C) were transfected with wild type p53 and ΔI and p53 DBD mutants: ΔV and $\Delta V/\Delta I$ (A); 175H and 175H/ ΔI (B); ΔII and $\Delta II/\Delta I$ (C) along with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (1801), Mdm2-specific and GFP-specific antibodies.

the N-terminal interaction. The result of this experiment was reproduced in two independent experiments.

These results are consistent with a model, in which mutant p53 has been ubiquitinated independently of Mdm2 and can be targeted to the proteasome by Mdm2. This activity of Mdm2 does not appear to require the interaction between N-terminal domains of Mdm2 and p53. However, it was consistently noticed that this degradation of mutant p53 was less efficient than that seen when the N-terminal interaction site was intact (Fig.3.16, 3.17), suggesting that the mechanisms that degrade wild type p53 still contribute to the degradation of the mutant p53s.



p53-/-mdm2-/-MEF

FIGURE 3.17. Mdm2 lacking N-terminus retains the ability to degrade p53 DBD mutants.

p53-/-mdm2-/- cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants along with empty vector or wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2 with deletion of 58-89aa (Δ N). GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (1801), Mdm2-specific and GFP-specific antibodies.

To test the contribution of the N-terminal interaction to degradation of p53 mutants by Mdm2 in another cell type the experiment was repeated in H1299 cells (Fig.3.18). Wild type p53 or p53 Δ I and p53175H or p53175/ Δ I were co-transfected with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. In these cells wild type p53 was degraded by Mdm2 much less efficiently than in DKO (Fig.3.18). Similarly to the result in DKO cells, p53 Δ I was resistant to degradation by Mdm2 (Fig.3.18). In this experiment, the expression levels of different p53 mutants were somewhat variable, although this was not seen in other experiments in H1299 (Fig.3.18). Both p53 DBD mutants lacking box I were resistant to degradation by Mdm2 (Fig.3.18), which is inconsistent with the observation seen in DKO cells (Fig.3.18). This result was observed in another independent experiment. It is not clear



FIGURE 3.18. p53 DBD mutants lacking box I are resistant to degradation by Mdm2 in H1299 cells.

H1299 cells were transfected with wild type p53 or the indicated p53 mutants with empty vector or wild type Mdm2. GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (1801), Mdm2-specific and GFP-specific antibodies.

why Mdm2 fails to degrade mutant p53 lacking box I in this system and may be due to less potent ability of Mdm2 to degrade wild type p53 in this system. It is possible that in the process of tumourigenesis H1299 have lost one of the factors necessary for the efficient degradation of p53 in the proteasomes. It would therefore seem possible that the efficiency with which Mdm2 can target mutant p53 for degradation varies between cell types.

The binding studies showed that the interaction of mutant p53 that is independent of the N-terminal binding region (box I) requires the C-terminal RING domain (Fig.3.7). Therefore the ability of Mdm2 lacking this region to target the degradation of the DBD p53 mutants (Δ V and 175H) lacking box I in DKO cells was tested. Consistent with studies by others (270), ubiquitin ligase inactive Mdm2 mutants Δ R and 464 were expressed higher than wild type Mdm2 (Fig.3.19). This is probably due to inability of these mutants to autoubiquitinate and degrade themselves (175). As expected, deletion of box I in wild type p53 prevented degradation by all forms of Mdm2 (Fig.3.19). As shown above (Fig.3.13), wild type Mdm2 retained some ability to degrade p53 DBD mutants, lacking the box I (Fig.3.16). This activity was lost by deletion of the RING domain of Mdm2 (Mdm2 Δ R) but was retained by the Mdm2-464 (Fig. 3.19), which has lost E3 activity but still binds to the p53 DBD mutant (Fig.3.7). These results therefore support the model in which Mdm2 can target degradation of the mutant p53s through a mechanism, which does not require the E3 activity of Mdm2.



FIGURE 3.19. Mdm2C464A is able to degrade p53 DBD mutants lacking box I.

p53-/-mdm2-/- cells were transfected with indicated p53 mutants with empty vector or with wild type Mdm2, Mdm2 truncated from amino acid 440 (Δ R) or the Mdm2C464A mutant (464). GFP was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (1801), Mdm2-specific (Ab-1, Ab-2) and GFP-specific antibodies.

Most of the studies described so far depend on the transient expression of p53 and Mdm2 mutants. Next the contribution of the endogenous Mdm2 to to the degradation of the endogenous wild type p53 and stably expressed mutant p53 was analysed. To this end MCF7 breast carcinoma cells, which express endogenous wild type p53 and stably express exogenous p53 DBD mutant (p53 Δ II) were used (567). The p53 Δ II mutant has a deletion of the conserved box II in the DBD. These cells express endogenous Mdm2 to a level that can drive the degradation of both the wild type and mutant p53 - although somewhat higher basal levels of mutant p53 are maintained in these cells – and exposure of these cells to stress leads to the coordinate stabilization of both the mutant and wild type p53 proteins (567). In this system, p53 mutant lacking the N-terminal Mdm2 binding domain (Δ I) – p53 Δ II/I is expressed at high levels and not further stabilized in response to stress (567).

The advantage of this system is that p53AII mutant migrates slightly slower than wild type p53 on the gel, which allows the analysis of both wild type and p53 Δ II proteins in the same cell, under exactly the same experimental conditions. To examine the contribution of Mdm2 to the stability of wild type p53 and the p53AII mutant in this system, an siRNA-mediated approach to reduce endogenous Mdm2 was used. Cells were transfected with control or Mdm2-specific siRNA oligonucleotides and protein levels of p53 and Mdm2 were analyzed (Fig.3.20A). In this and the subsequent experiments to control for equal amount of total protein, cdk4 expression was monitored. In agreement with previous publications (567), $p53\Delta II$ was expressed at higher levels than wild type p53(Fig.3.20A). This can be due to higher stability of $p53\Delta II$ in these cells or could be due to expression from the efficient CMV-driven promoter. Using previously published Mdm2specific siRNA oligonucleotides, Mdm2 expression was significantly reduced (Fig.3.20A). Consistent with the ability of Mdm2 to degrade both wild type and mutant p53, wild type p53 and the p53∆II mutant were stabilized to a similar extent when Mdm2 expression was down-regulated (Fig.3.20A). This result was confirmed with another pair of Mdm2specific siRNA oligonucleotides in independent experiments. As shown above, degradation of wild type p53 is entirely dependent on the N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2, whereas mutant p53 can be degraded by Mdm2 independently of Nterminal interaction (Fig.3.15, 3.16). Therefore it can be predicted that blocking N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2 would have a stronger effect on stabilization of wild type p53 than on mutant p53. To examine the effect of disrupting the N-terminal p53/Mdm2 interaction a small-molecule inhibitor nutlin-3 was used. Nutlin-3 specifically binds to the p53-binding pocket in the N-terminus of Mdm2, preventing the interaction through the N-terminal domains and stabilizing wild type p53 (282). The effect of treatment with nutlin-3 on stabilization of wild type and mutant p53 proteins was tested in MCF7 cells expressing $p53\Delta II$ (Fig.3.20B). For initial test of the effect of nutlin-3, cells were treated with 5µM nutlin-3 for 3h and 6h and with 15µM nutlin for 6h (Fig.3.20B). As expected wild type p53 was substantially stabilized upon treatment with nutlin-3, consistent with a major role of the N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2 in regulation of wild type p53 stability (Fig.3.20B). The stabilization of wild type p53 was very pronounced already after 3h of treatment with 5µM of nutlin-3 and was further stabilized when cells were treated for 6h with 15µM of nutlin-3 (Fig.3.20B). Interestingly, the p53AII mutant was stabilised by nutlin-3 to a much lesser extent than wild type p53 (Fig.3.20B). And on the short exposure it was observed that wild type p53 was stabilized to higher levels than mutant p53, even though wild type p53 was expressed at lower levels than $p53\Delta II$ in untreated cells (Fig.3.20B). This result is consistent with the observation that degradation of mutant p53 does not completely depend on the N-terminal interaction between p53 and Mdm2. To test if accumulation of p53∆II upon treatment with nutlin-3 was due to contribution of the N-terminal interaction to degradation of mutant p53, MCF7 cells expressing p53 mutant lacking box I - $p53\Delta II/\Delta I$ – were treated with nutlin-3 (Fig.3.20C). In these cells wild type p53 was stabilized upon treatment with nutlin-3, however nutlin-3 did not lead to accumulation of $p53\Delta II/\Delta I$ (Fig.3.20C). This could be explained by inability of $p53\Delta II/\Delta I$ to interact with Mdm2 via N-termini. This suggests that nutlin-3 specifically inhibits the N-terminal binding of Mdm2 to p53, and therefore does not stabilize $p53\Delta II/\Delta I$. Therefore, weak accumulation of $p53\Delta II$ upon treatment with nutlin-3 (Fig.3.20B) is dependent on box I. This is consistent with some resistance of p53DBD mutants lacking box I to degradation by Mdm2 (Fig.3.16). In this experiment it was also noted that wild type p53 in MCF7p53AII/AI was stabilized less well than in MCF7p53 Δ II cells, which suggests that p53 Δ II/ Δ I inhibits accumulation of wild type p53 (Fig.3.20C). The experiment was repeated in a different clone of the MCF7/p53ΔII cells. Since the most efficient stabilization of wild type p53 was observed at higher concentration, the experiment was repeated with 20µM of nutlin-3 and cells were treated for 4h and 7h (Fig.3.20D). Consistent with previous data, upon treatment with nutlin-3 wild type p53 protein accumulated, whereas the levels of p53AII only weakly increased (Fig.3.20D). The result discussed here was observed in at least four independent experiments. When the film was exposed for longer, modified forms of p53 were noted, which increase with longer treatment (Fig.3.20D). This could be ubiquitinated p53, which is inefficiently degraded. In this system it was not possible to distinguish between
ubiquitinated wild type and mutant p53 proteins. Nutlin-3 also leads to upregulation of Mdm2, which has been noted previously (282) and has been suggested to be due to



FIGURE 3.20 p53AII is stabilized by nutlin-3 treatment less than wild type p53.

A. MCF7 cells stably transfected with p53 Δ II and expressing endogenous wild type p53 (MCF7- Δ II) were transfected twice with non-targetting (ctrl) or Mdm2-specific siRNA oligonucleotides. Cells were lysed 48 hours later and Western blot analysis was carried out with p53-specific (1801), Mdm2-specific or cdk4 specific antibodies. B, C. MCF7- Δ II (B) or MCF7- Δ II/ Δ I (C) cells were treated with indicated concentrations of Nutlin-3 for 3h and 6 h. D. MCF7- Δ II cells were treated with 20µM nutlin-3 for 4h and 7h hours. B,C,D. Cell lysates were analysed by Western blot with p53-specific (1801) and cdk4 specific antibodies.

transactivation by p53 (Fig.3.20D). This can suggest that p53 Δ II does not impair transcriptional activity of wild type p53. It would be interesting to check other target genes of p53 in this system and to compare MCF7/ Δ II to parental MCF7 cells. However in this experiment the levels of Mdm2 protein are markedly increased already after four hours of nutlin-3 treatment, suggesting that protein stabilization mechanism can be involved.

These results are consistent with the observation that Mdm2 can degrade p53 mutants through a mechanism that does not depend on the N-terminal interaction (Fig.3.16). Degradation of wild type p53 is entirely dependent on the N-terminal interaction with Mdm2, therefore nutlin-3 has a much more pronounced effect on accumulation of wild type p53 than of p53 mutant. The fact that wild type p53 is stabilised more by treatment with nutlin-3 than mutant p53 might have an important implication for cancer treatments of tumours expressing mutant and wild type p53. It would be interesting to test the effect of nutlin-3 on endogenous mutant p53 in tumour-derived cell lines.

3.3.2 Mdm2 interacts with the proteasomal subunits.

The observation that Mdm2 can degrade p53 mutants independently of its ubiquitin ligase activity (Fig.3.19) suggests that Mdm2 can play a role in delivery of p53 to the proteasomes. Some evidence suggest that the acidic domain of Mdm2 can be involved in postubiquitination role of Mdm2 (328-330). Others have shown that Mdm2 can interact with the C8 subunit of the proteasome, which is necessary for degradation of Rb protein (243). The ability of Mdm2 to interact with subunits of the proteasome was therefore tested by co-immunoprecipitation analysis in H1299 cells. These cells were used due to the low levels of endogenous Mdm2 and their high transfection efficiency. As shown above, RING domain of Mdm2 was important for the interaction and the ability to degrade mutant p53. Wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2 lacking RING domain (ΔR) were co-expressed with V5-tagged proteasome subunits: S4, S5 α , S6 α and S β (Fig.3.21). The V5 tag allows to easily detect the transfected proteins in cells and to discriminate between transfected and endogenous proteasome subunits. S5 α is the non-ATPase subunit, S4, S6 α and S6 β are ATPases, which are contained within the regulatory 19S part of proteasome. Cells were treated with proteasome inhibitors to prevent degradation of Mdm2. Mdm2 was immunoprecipitated with Mdm2-specific antibodies and the proteasome subunits in the immunoprecipitates were detected with antibody specific for V5. Direct western blotting analysis was carried out with Mdm2-specific and V5-specific antibodies to control for the levels of expression. Although cells were treated with proteasome inhibitors, somewhat higher levels of Mdm $2\Delta R$ were observed, which could be due to more efficient transfection or expression of these constructs in this experiment (Fig.3.21). This resulted in larger ammounts of immunoprecipitated Mdm2 mutants compared to wild type (Fig.3.21). All proteasome subunits were expressed, as visualized by the detection with V5-specific antibody (Fig.3.21). Some background band was detected with V5 antibody in the immunoprecipitates where no Mdm2 was expressed (Fig.3.21). Interaction between all proteasome subunits with wild type Mdm2 was detected, which was quite strong with V5-S6 β subunit, but interaction with other subunits - S4, S5 α , and S6 α - was only slightly above the background (Fig.3.21). However, all proteasome subunits interacted with the Mdm2AR (Fig.3.21). ATPase subunits appeared to interact with Mdm2 better than non-ATPase subunit $S5\alpha$. The ability of Mdm2 to interact with several proteasomal subunits tested here suggests that Mdm2 might be engaged in complex with the entire proteasome. This would suggest that the RING domain is not involved in the interaction of Mdm2 with the proteasome, probably due to its binding to p53. To confirm the interaction of Mdm2 with some proteasome subunits and to test the involvement of other functional domains of Mdm2, the co-immunoprecipitation analysis was repeated with wild type Mdm2, Mdm2 lacking part of the acidic domain (245-295aa) - ΔA and Mdm2 lacking N-terminus ΔN with S4 and S6β subunits (Fig.3.22). Some studies have shown the involvement of this part of the acidic domain in post-ubiquitination function of Mdm2 (328, 329). The levels of wild type Mdm2 and Mdm2 mutant proteins were more similar in this experiment (Fig.3.22). In this experiment both S4 and S6^β subunits interacted with Mdm2 more efficiently than in the previous experiment (Fig.3.20). Mdm2 lacking acidic domain (ΔA) or N-terminus (Δ N) interacted with S4 and S6 β subunits similarly to wild type Mdm2 (Fig.3.22), suggesting that other regions on Mdm2 mediate the interaction. These suggest that Mdm2 can form complex with the proteasome, which can contribute to its degradation function. The region Mdm2 involved in interaction with proteasome remains to be determined in future experiments.



FIGURE 3.21. Interaction of wild type Mdm2 and Mdm2 Δ R with the proteasomal subunits.

U2OS cells were tranfected with wild type Mdm2, Mdm2 Δ N or Mdm2 Δ R along with V5-tagged proteasomal subunits S4, S5 α , S6 α and S β . Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed 4h later. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with Mdm2-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with Mdm2 or V5.



FIGURE 3.22. Analysis of the involvement of the N-terminus and the acidic domain of Mdm2 to the interaction with the proteasomal subunits.

U2OS cells were tranfected with wild type Mdm2, Mdm2 Δ N (58-89aa) or Mdm2 Δ A (245-295aa) along with V5-tagged proteasomal subunits S4 and S6 β . Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed 4h later. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with Mdm2-specific antibodies and immunoblotted with Mdm2 or V5.

3.4 Summary and discussion.

In this chapter it has been shown that while Mdm2 retains the ability to interact with conformationally altered p53 DBD mutants, this interaction appears to be shifted from the N-terminal binding site that is predominantly used on wild type p53, to an alternative site on mutant p53. Whereas N-terminus of Mdm2 binds to N-terminus of with wild type p53, here it has been found that RING domain of Mdm2 is involved in binding to mutant p53. Several recent studies have shown that p53 can bind to Mdm2 through the DBD (265, 266, 578) and it seems likely that the conformational shift in mutant p53 reveals this binding site, thereby enhancing the interaction of mutant p53 with Mdm2 in a conserved box I-independent manner. The exact binding site on the DBD of p53 has not been mapped and one report suggests it can be between the boxes IV and V (578).

Mdm2 also contains several sites of interaction with p53 (256, 264-266). Recent studies have suggested that N-terminal interaction between Mdm2 and p53 triggers a conformational switch in Mdm2 that is required to promote a second interaction that involves the acidic domain of Mdm2 and DBD of p53 (265). Taken together with this study, it would appear that a conformational change in both p53 and Mdm2 contributes to their interaction through regions distinct from the N-terminus.

While other studies have shown an importance of the acidic domain of Mdm2 in alternative interactions with p53 (264-266), this study shows that the RING finger domain of Mdm2 is involved in binding to mutant p53. Although the RING finger domain of Mdm2 is required for ubiquitin ligase activity (564), this function is not necessary for the binding to mutant p53, as demonstrated by the E3 dead Mdm2 point mutant C464A. Furthermore, the interaction of Mdm2 with mutant p53 does not lead to the strong ubiquitination of p53 that is seen following interaction with the wild type p53 protein. This may reflect – to some extent – a lack of interaction with the N-terminus of Mdm2 that has been suggested to be required to activate E3 function (265). It is also possible that engagement of the RING domain in the interaction with mutant p53 impedes the binding of E2. Mdm2 can function with several E2s – UbcH5-A, -B, -C and E2-25K to ubiquitinate p53 in vitro. However, only UbcH5B and C appear to contribute to the regulation of p53 protein levels in cells (177). It is an intriguing possibility that binding of mutant p53 to the RING domain Mdm2 promotes pairing with different E2, which may result in less efficient ubiquitination or promote other type of linkage of ubiquitin chain, and remains to be elucidated in future.

Binding of mutant p53 to the RING domain of Mdm2 might impair its ubiquitin ligase activity towards its other substrates. Mdm2 can autoubiquitinate itself (564) and Mdmx (588, 589). Therefore it is possible that mutant p53 may lead to accumulation of Mdm2 and Mdmx, which would inactivate wild type p53. In some tumor cell lines high levels of mutant p53 and high levels of Mdm2 are detected (518), supporting this idea.

The interesting question remains whether Mdm2 is able to interact with mixed tetramers of wild type and mutant p53 and which regions on Mdm2 would be involved in such interaction. It would be interesting to determine which protein, wild type or mutant, is dominant in determining whether Mdm2 interacts with the N-terminus or RING and whether Mdm2 is able to ubiquitinate and degrade the complex of wild type and mutant p53. This question can be investigated by using tagged versions of p53 proteins.

It would be also interesting to test whether the RING domain of Mdmx, which is highly similar to RING domain of Mdm2, plays a role in the interaction with mutant p53. Though Mdmx fails to ubiquitinate p53 on its own, Mdmx can restore the E3 activity of inactive Mdm2 mutants with point mutations in the extreme C-terminus and promote degradation of p53 (270). The interesting question whether Mdmx can ubiquitinate p53 mutants, which are not efficiently ubiquitinated by Mdm2, remains to be determined in future.

Results of this chapter show that though the ability of Mdm2 to ubiquitinate p53 mutants is compromised, it can still efficiently degrade p53 mutants, though through a different mechanism. The ability to degrade did not absolutely require N-terminal interaction between mutant p53 and Mdm2 and was also independent of the ability of Mdm2 to function as an E3. Previous reports have also suggested that the ubiquitination function of Mdm2 can be uncoupled from its ability to target to degradation (328-330). This study provides further evidence that Mdm2 can play a post-ubiquitination role in degrading p53. The details of such a function of Mdm2 are not yet clear, but have been suggested to involve cooperation with hHR23A – a protein thought to be an adaptor between ubiquitinated substrates and the proteasome (330, 331). Another study has also shown that Mdm2 can play a role in transport to the proteasomes by directly interacting with the C8 subunit of the 20S proteasomes (243). This mechanism of degradation is important for the degradation of another substrate of Mdm2 - Rb. It has been further shown here that Mdm2 can also interact with 19S proteasomal subunits. This data suggests that Mdm2 can form a complex with the proteasome and may play a role in the entry of the ubiquitinated p53 to the proteasome.

In summary, the data presented here suggest that there are differences in the mechanism of degradation of wild type p53 and mutant p53 by Mdm2. Mdm2 interacts

with wild type p53 via the corresponding N-termini, this activates E3 activity of Mdm2 and leads to efficient ubiquitination of p53. Ubiquitinated p53 is then delivered to the proteasomes by Mdm2. This step may require the binding of Mdm2 via the RING. It is possible that ubiquitination unfolds p53 to promote the secondary interaction of Mdm2 with p53. Mutant p53 is already unfolded and is ubiquitinated by another E3. Therefore the second interaction involving the RING of Mdm2 is promoted, which results in proteasomal degradation of mutant p53. This suggests Mdm2 plays a postubiquitination role in degrading mutant p53 and is able to mediate the delivery of mutant p53 to the proteasome.

The important observation of this chapter is the distinct the mechanism of Mdm2mediated degradation of mutant p53 which can have an important implication for tumour therapy. It was found here that inhibition of the N-terminal interaction by treatment with nutlin can stabilize wild type p53 much more than mutant p53. It would be interesting to test the effect of the inhibitors of E3 activity of Mdm2 on the levels of wild type and utant p53 proteins. The prediction would be that wild type p53 will accumulate more than mutant p53, as its degradation is more dependent on the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2. This remains for future investigations. Chapter 4. Analysis of Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants.

4 Analysis of Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants.

The results described in chapter 3 showed that conformational p53 mutants were hyperubiquitinated by Mdm2-independent mechanism. It was therefore of interest to try and identify the E3 responsible for this ubiquitination. Wild type p53 is known to be ubiquitinated by many different E3s (83, 84, 178, 185, 354, 360, 361, 590) (Table 2), some of which may also ubiquitinate mutant p53. In this chapter the contribution of Mdm2-dependent and some Mdm2-independent mechanisms to ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants was assessed.

4.1 Contribution of Mdm2-dependent and Mdm2-independent mechanisms to ubiquitination of mutant p53.

First, an siRNA-mediated approach to downregulate the expression of the ubiquitin ligases was carried out using pools of four siRNA oligonucleotides (Dharmacon). The effect of reduction of endogenous Mdm2, Cop1, ARF-BP1 (Fig.4.1, 4.2) and CHIP (Fig.4.3, 4.4) on the ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H was examined in U2OS cells and H1299 cells. U2OS cells express endogenous wild type p53 and endogenous wild type Mdm2 and are efficiently transfected by siRNAs. The expression of the Mdm2, Cop1 and ARF-BP1 was down-regulated in both cell types by the siRNA oligonucleotides. To reduce the expression of Mdm2, previously published siRNA oligonucleotides were used. The down-regulation of these E3s was verified by the Western blotting analysis. Equal amount of total proteins was verified by actin or Hsp90 proteins levels. The expression of endogenous Cop1 could not be detected in H1299 cells. Wild type p53 was weakly ubiquitinated in U2OS cells, and down-regulation of Mdm2 reduced this ubiquitination of wild type p53 in U2OS cells, suggesting contribution of the endogenous Mdm2 (Fig.4.1). However, down-regulation of Cop1 and ARF-BP1 also reduced ubiquitination of wild type p53 in U2OS cells, suggesting that all these E3s target wild type p53 (Fig.4.1). The weak signal of ubiquitination of wild type p53 did not allow an assessment of the individual contribution of each of them. In H1299 in this experiment ubiquitination of wild type p53 was not detected (Fig.4.2), which is probably due to lower levels of expression of endogenous Mdm2 than in U2OS cells. Confirming the data shown above, p53175H was



FIGURE 4.1. Contribution of Mdm2, Cop1 and ARF-BP1 to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H in U2OS cells.

U2OS cells were transfected twice with non-targetting (ctrl) or Mdm2, Cop1, ARF-BP1 specific siRNA oligonucleotides with 24 h between transfections. Cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HA-ubiquitin. Cells were treated with MG132 24h later and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody. Direct Western blot analysis was carried out with Mdm2 Hsp90, Cop1, actin and ARF-BP1 specific antibodies. IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

hyperubiquitinated in U2OS (Fig.4.1) and in H1299 cells (Fig.4.2) and the reduction of Mdm2 expression did not decrease its ubiquitination. Therefore, similarly to DKO and H1299, mutant p53 is ubiquitinated by Mdm2-independent mechanism in U2OS cells. Down-regulation of Cop1 weakly reduced ubiquitination of mutant p53 in U2OS cells (Fig.4.1), but not in H1299 cells (Fig.4.2). ARF-BP1 did not affect ubiquitination of mutant p53 in U2OS cells (Fig.4.1) and weakly increased the ubiquitination of mutant p53 in H1299 cells (Fig.4.2). This experiment was repeated two times and no striking effect of Cop1 or ARF-BP1 knock-down was detected.



FIGURE 4.2. Contribution of Mdm2, Cop1 and ARF-BP1 to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H in H1299 cells.

H1299 cells were transfected twice with non-targetting (ctrl) or Mdm2, Cop1, ARF-BP1 specific siRNA oligonucleotides with 24 h between transfections. Cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HA-ubiquitin. Cells were treated with MG132 24h later and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody. Direct Western blot analysis was carried out with Mdm2 Hsp90, Cop1, actin and ARF-BP1 specific antibodies. IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

Next, the contribution of ubiquitin ligase CHIP was investigated. Conformational p53 mutants are known to interact with chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90. CHIP ubiquitinates the substrates bound by these chaperones (355), and therefore is an attractive candidate for mutant-p53 specific ubiquitin ligase. The contribution of chaperone-associated ubiquin ligase CHIP to ubiquitination of mutant p53 was examined (Fig.4.3, 4.4). Down-regulation of CHIP resulted in a pronounced reduction of ubiquitination of mutant p53 and also reduced the ubiquitination of wild type p53 to a lesser extent (Fig. 4.3). These results are in agreement with a previous report showing that CHIP can target to degradation both wild type and mutant p53 (355). To confirm this result the experiment was repeated with individual siRNA oligonucleotides. As alternative control GFP-specific siRNA oligonucleotides were used in this experiment. The CHIP protein levels were difficult to

detect (Fig.4.3), therefore in this experiment the expression of CHIP mRNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (Fig.4.4). Similarly to Fig.4.3 downregulation of CHIP expression significantly decreased ubiquitination of both p53 DBD mutants - p53175H and p53 Δ V mutants (Fig. 4.4). This observation was reproduced in at least three independent experiments. The remaining ubiquitination of mutant p53 leaves the possibility that other unidentified ubiquitin ligases may contribute.



FIGURE. 4.3. Contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H.

U2OS cells were transfected twice with with non-targetting (ctrl) or with a a pool of CHIP specific siRNA oligonucleotides (Dharmacon) with 72 h between transfections. Cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HAubiquitin. Cells were treated with MG132 lysed and under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53specific CM1 antibody. Direct Western blot analysis was carried out CHIP and actin specific antibodies.

IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

Conformational p53 mutants are specifically recognized by molecular chaperones cells (41, 453), which can present substrates to the ubiquitin ligase CHIP (C-terminal of Hsp-70-interacting protein) (591). To test whether interaction with Hsp70 is required for the specific ubiquitination of mutant p53, expression of Hsp70 was reduced by siRNA-mediated knockdown (Fig.4.5). Down-regulation of Hsp70 only partially inhibited ubiquitination of p53 mutants (Fig.4.5), suggesting that other molecular chaperones may be involved.



FIGURE. 4.4. Contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H.

U2OS cells were transfected twice with with nontargetting (ctrl) or with a single pair of CHIP specific siRNA oligonucleotides with 72 h between transfections. Cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HA-ubiquitin. Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either anti-HA an antibody or the p53-specific antibody. CM1 **RT-PCR** analysis was carried out with CHIP and GAPDH specific primers.

IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.

The contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of mutant p53 suggests that CHIP may play a role in regulation of stability of mutant p53. Tumour cells accumulate high levels of mutant p53 protein, suggesting that inactivation of CHIP would be an advantageous event in tumourigenesis. Consistent with this prediction, a locus 16p13 where the CHIP gene is located is frequently deleted in papillary carcinomas of the breast (592). The data of Oncomine database suggests that the expression of CHIP mRNA is reduced in several types of brain cancers (Oncomine <u>www.oncomine.org</u>) (Fig.4.6). Interestingly, data from GEO profiling database (NIH GEO profiling) suggest that downregulation of CHIP expression can be associated with advanced stage of colorectal cancer (Fig.4.6). Comparison of polysomal RNA from isogenic cell lines derived from primary colorectal cancer and its metastasis to the lymph node shows that CHIP is downregulated in metastasis (Fig.4.6). However, these studies have not analyzed status of p53 and this remains to be investigated in future.



FIGURE. 4.5. Effect of siRNA-mediated reduction of Hsp70 expression on ubiquitination of wild type p53 and p53175H.

U2OS cells were transfected twice with with non-targetting (ctrl) or with Hsp70 specific siRNA oligonucleotides with 40 h between transfections. Cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HA-ubiquitin. Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either an anti-HA antibody or the p53-specific CM1 antibody. Direct western blotting was carried out with actin or Hsp70 specific antibodies.

IP: immunoprecipitation. IB: immunoblotting.



FIGURE 4.6. Anaysis of CHIP expression in cancers.

A. CHIP mRNA expression data in normal tissue (blue) and brain cancers (red) has been obtained from Oncomine expression profiling database.

B. CHIP expression is downregulated in metastatic tumor. Graph shows comparison of polysomal RNA from cell lines derived from human primary colorectal cancer and lymph node metastasis was obtained from NIH GEO profiling database.

4.2 Increase in ubiquitination of p53 mutants is not reflected in increased degradation.

To investigate the consequences of hyperubiquitination of mutant p53 first the degradation rate of p53 mutants was tested. To this end half-life of wild type p53 and p53 mutants was measured in DKO cells. DKO cells were used in order to observe the effect of Mdm2-independent ubiquitination. Firstly, the half-life of wild type and mutant p53 was analyzed by blocking protein synthesis with cycloheximide treatment (Fig. 4.7). As a control, the levels of actin protein, which is known to have a long half-life in normal cells (48h) were monitored (593). The intensity of the protein bands was quantitated and the values of p53 were normalized to the values of actin. The results are presented on the graph. As expected, transfected wild type p53 had a prolonged half-life in Mdm2-null cells (Fig. 4.7), suggesting that p53 is not efficiently degraded by Mdm2-independent mechanisms. p53 DBD mutants with deletions of conserved boxes and point mutants p53175H and p53273H also had a long half-life, and with minor variation were slightly less stable than wild type p53 (Fig.4.7). This observation was reproduced in another independent experiment. To confirm this observation, the half-life of wild type p53, p53175H, p53 Δ V and p53 Δ IV proteins was also measured by pulse-chase with ³⁵Smethionine in DKO cells (Fig. 4.8). The intensity of p53 protein was quantified and presented as a graph. Similarly, wild type p53 had a prolonged half-life and all the p53 DBD mutants were stable similarly to wild type p53 in this experiment. The conclusion of this experiment was confirmed in another independent experiment. To confirm these observations in another cell type, the half-life of wild type p53 and p53 DBD mutants was measured by cycloheximide treatment in H1299 cells (Fig.4.9). Similarly to DKO, wild type p53 had a prolonged half-life in these cells, suggesting that endogenous Mdm2 in these cells does not degrade transfected wild type p53. Simirlarly to DKO, p53 DBD mutants were only slightly less stable than wild type p53 in these cells, but had quite long half-life and around 50% of the protein was present after 9 hours (Fig.4.9). In future it would be interesting to test the stability of wild type p53 and p53 DBD mutants in cells with higher levels of Mdm2 such as U2OS cells.

This suggests that though p53 mutants are ubiquitinated much more than wild type p53, they are not less stable, suggesting that ubiquitination does not target them efficiently to the proteasomes. Ubiquitination can promote nuclear export of p53 (371) and therefore localization of p53 mutants is analyzed in Chapter 5.





p53-/-mdm2-/- cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants. Cells were treated with cycloheximide 24h after transfection and collected at the indicated time points. Western blot analysis was carried out with the p53 specific (DO1) antibody and an anti-actin antibody. The results were quantitated using Scion image software (NIH) and the values of p53 were normalized to the values of actin.

p53-/-mdm2-/-MEF



Analysis of half-life of p53



FIGURE 4.8. Analysis of half-life of p53 in DKO cells by pulse chase.

p53-/-mdm2-/- (DKO) cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants. 24h after transfection DKO cells were pulsed [³⁵S] methionine/cysteine and chased for the times indicated. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53 specific antibody DO1 and analysed by SDS-PAGE. The results were quantitated using Scion image software (NIH).



FIGURE 4.9. Analysis of half-life of p53 in H1299 cells by cycloheximide treatment.

H1299 cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants. Cells were treated with cycloheximide 24h after transfection and collected at the indicated time points. Western blot analysis was carried out with the p53 specific (DO1) antibody and an anti-actin antibody. The results were quantitated using Scion image software (NIH) and the values of p53 were normalized to the values of actin.

4.3 Summary and discussion.

In this chapter it was found that despite the reduced sensitivity to Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination, conformational p53 mutants are recognized and ubiquitinated by another E3. The increased ubiquitination of some p53 mutants with altered conformation has been noted previously (594, 595) although here it has been shown that this effect is Mdm2independent. A number of other E3s that can target wild type p53 have been described recently (83, 84, 178, 185, 354, 360, 361, 590) and it is possible that some of them are responsible for the ubiquitination of mutant p53. The contribution of some E3s to ubiquitination of wild type and mutant p53 has been evaluated here and these data suggest that E3 ligases might differ in their sensitivity to the conformation of the DBD. Consistent with previous studies, which have shown that both wild type and mutant p53s are targeted to the proteasomes by CHIP (355), here it is shown that CHIP ubiquitinates wild type p53 and mutant p53. These results suggest that CHIP may play a role in the ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53, and reduced expression of CHIP in some cancers (Oncomine database) could contribute to the enhanced stability of mutant p53s. CHIP is implicated in the endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD), which represents an important means of quality control of its target proteins. Therefore ubiquitination of mutant p53 by CHIP can be part of the mechanism of p53 folding control. Given that the contribution of CHIP to ubiquitination of mutant p53 was only partial and the existence variety of E3s, there may be other E3s that target only mutant p53. It would be interesting to investigate if Mdmx contributes to ubiquitination of mutant p53. The other possibility is that wild type and mutant p53s differ in their sensitivity to deubiquitinases.

These data imply that Mdm2-independent ubiquitination does not result in efficient degradation of mutant p53 proteins, suggesting that it lacks a degradation signal. It is thought that polyubiquitination consisting of at least 4 ubiquitins linked via K48 target proteins to the proteasomes (202). In addition, there are 6 more lysines in the ubiquitin, which can be used in the formation of the ubiquitin chain and have different functional consequences on the substrate. It is possible that Mdm2-independent ubiquitination of mutant p53 is linked via alternative lysine and therefore does not target mutant p53 for degradation. This possibility remains to be checked in future. Ubiquitinated mutant p53 can be degraded by overexpression of Mdm2, suggesting it provides the necessary degradation signal.

Chapter 5. Localization of p53 DBD mutants.

5 Localization of p53 DBD mutants.

Ubiquitination of the C-terminus of p53 exposes the nuclear export signal (NES) and results in translocation of p53 to the cytoplasm (224, 371). Therefore it was of interest to check the localization of hyperubiquitinated mutant p53. The conformation of DBD of p53 can also be an important determinant of nuclear localization. Several studies have shown that temperature sensitive p53 mutant V135 localizes to the nucleus at 32°C when in wild type conformation but is in the cytoplasm at 37°C, when it is in "mutant" conformation, suggesting that conformation of p53 can be important determinant of nuclear localization determinant of localization of p53 (552, 596-598). Another study has correlated mutant conformation of mutant p53 with cytoplasmic localization and transformation potential of 3T3 cells (599).

In this chapter localization of p53 DBD mutants was analyzed.

5.1 Ubiquitinated p53 mutant proteins localize to the cytoplasm.

First, subcellular localization of p53 mutants was analyzed in DKO cells. As expected wild type p53 located to the nucleus in the majority of the cells. Though it was reproducibly seen that some small percentage of cells displayed wild type p53 in the cytoplasm. This could be due to overexpression of p53 in cells, which is not efficiently imported into the nucleus. p53273H mutant, which was not ubiquitinated in these cells (Figs. 3.11), was also located in the nucleus (Fig.5.1). However, the ubiquitinated p53 mutants 175H and ΔV were present in the cytoplasm in majority of cells with a variable degree of nuclear localization (Fig. 5.1). The results were quantitated by counting the cells with cytoplasmic p53 in three independent experiments. This suggests that conformational p53 DBD mutants locate to the cytoplasm. This result was reproduced in at least four independent experiments. To confirm the results in another cell type the experiments were repeated in U2OS cells. U2OS cells express endogenous wild type p53, which could complicate the analysis of localization of the transfected p53 with p53-specific antibodies. However no signal of endogenous p53 was detected by p53-specific antibodies (Fig.5.2). When wild type p53 was transfected, it was detected mostly in the nuclei in U2OS cells, as expected (Fig.5.2). Therefore it was possible to use U2OS cells to analyze localization of transfected wild type p53 and p53 DBD mutants. Cytoplasmic localization of p53175H and p53∆V was also observed in U2OS cells (Fig. 5.3), though 175H displayed more nuclear localization in these cells compared to DKO (Fig. 5.3). As another method of looking at

localization of p53, the subcellular fractionation of U2OS cells transfected with wild type p53, p53175H or p53 Δ V was carried out (Fig. 5.4). The fractionation of nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments was confirmed by the expression of nuclear protein lamin A/C and cytoplasmic protein Hsp70 (Fig. 5.4). The conclusion of the localization data was reflected by subcellular fractionation in U2OS cells, where most of the wild type p53 was in the nucleus, 175H protein was found in both nuclear and cytoplasmic fraction and p53 Δ V was present more in the cytoplasmic fraction than in the nucleus (Fig.5.4). It was consistently noticed that Δ V displayed more cytoplasmic localization than 175H (Fig. 5.1, 5.3). The U2OS cells appeared to be a better system to analyze the localization of p53 than DKO cells, as they were transfected with higher efficiency and cells retained a normal morphology after staining. Localization of contact mutant 273H to the nucleus suggests that unfolded conformation of mutant p53 is required for localization to the cytoplasmic localization of mutant p53 correlates with their ubiquitination.



FIGURE 5.4. Mutant p53 is detected in the cytoplasmic fraction of U2OS cells.

U2OS cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants. Cells were fractionated and cytoplasmic (C) and nuclear (N) proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blotting with p53-specific (DO1), Hsp70-specific and Lamin A/C specific antibodies.

5.2 Cytoplasmic localization is not due to enhanced export.

Cytoplasmic localization of an otherwise nuclear protein can be a result of enhanced nuclear export or less efficient nuclear import. To analyze the contribution of the nuclear localization (NLS) and nuclear export signals (NES) to localization of wild type p53 and p53 175H with mutated c-NES and NLS was analyzed (Fig. 5.5). Mutation of NLS, (produced by substituting Lys 305, 319, 320, 321 and Arg 306 to Ala) and has been shown to prevent nuclear import of p53 (224, 600). Mutation of c-NES (L348A and L350A) has been shown to prevent nuclear export of p53 (157). Subcellular localization (Fig.5.6) of these p53 mutants was analyzed in U2OS cells. To inhibit nuclear export cells were treated with leptomycin B, which blocks CRM-1-dependent nuclear export (601) (Fig.5.6). Percentage of cells with cytoplasmic p53 is presented on the graph (Fig.5.7).





TA - transactivation domain, DBD - DNA binding domain, PD - proline-rich domain, OD - oligomerization domain.

The average of four independent experiments for wild type and p53175H and of two independent experiments for p53 with mutation of NLS and NES is presented (Fig.5.7). Wild type p53 located to the nucleus with small percentage of the cells having cytoplasmic p53 (Fig.5.6). The cytoplasmic localization p53 was not prevented by treatment with leptomycin B or by mutating the c-NES (Fig.5.6, 5.7). This suggests that cytoplasmic fraction of wild type p53 is not imported into the nucleus, possibly due to overexpression. Leptomycin B treatment or mutation of c-NES did not decrease cytoplasmic localization of

175H in this experiment and 175H with mutation of c-NES located to the cytoplasm similarly to 175H p53 mutant. This suggests that cytoplasmic localization of 175H is not due to enhanced nuclear export (Fig.5.6, 5.7). p53 Δ NLS and p53175H/ Δ NLS were seen almost exclusively in the cytoplasm, with no cells displaying distinct nuclear staining of p53 (Fig.5.6). This suggests that both wild type and mutant p53 can be recognized by nuclear import machinery, which is mediated via c-terminal NLS and other NLSs do not appear to contribute. To confirm these results the experiments were repeated in the DKO cells (Fig.5.8, 5.9). Similarly to observations made in U2OS cells, blockage of nuclear export by leptomycin B treatment did not prevent cytoplasmic localization of p53 Δ V or p53175H in these cells (Fig.5.8). 175H with mutation of NES displayed cytoplasmic staining similar to 175H, whereas 175H Δ NLS located almost exclusively to the cytoplasm (Fig.5.9). These results confirm the finding in U2OS cells and suggest that mutant p53 localization to the cytoplasm is not due to enhanced nuclear export, but could be due to cytoplasmic sequestration.

In addition to C-terminal NES, p53 contains NES in its N-terminus (11-27aa). It is possible that due to binding of Mdm2 to the N-terminus of p53, n-NES is not easily accessible to nuclear export machinery. According to the binding data presented here Mdm2 can interact outside N-terminus on mutant p53, therefore the contribution of n-NES to nuclear export of mutant p53 was tested (Fig.5.10). To this end subcellular localization of p53 DBD mutants – 175H, ΔV , and the corresponding p53 mutants lacking box I -175H/ ΔI and $\Delta V/\Delta I$ - was analyzed (Fig.5.10). It should be noted, that deletion of box I (13-18aa) does not cover the whole region of the described n-NES (11-27aa). The cells with cytoplasmic p53 were counted and presented on the graph (Fig.5.10). Deletion of box I did not affect localization of wild type p53, which was nuclear in most of the cells (Fig.5.10). The cytoplasmic localization of p53 DBD mutants was not decreased when n-NES was mutated (Fig.5.10).

These results suggest that mutant p53 localizes to the cytoplasm not due to enhanced nuclear export, but nuclear import may be less efficient. It should be also noted that the percentage of cells with wild type p53 in the cytoplasm did not change when nuclear export was inhibited by leptomycin B or N- or C-terminal NES were deleted, suggesting that some population of wild type p53 is also sequestered in the cytoplasm. This might suggest that a small fraction of wild type p53 adopts a mutant conformation in cells.

5.3 Mutant p53 is sequestered in the cytoplasm by interaction with Parc.

The results described above suggest that mutant p53 is sequestered in the cytoplasm, rather than showing enhanced nuclear export. Parc has been shown to play a role as a cytoplasmic anchor protein forming complexes with p53 (375). To test whether mutant p53 interacts with Parc, co-immunoprecipitation analysis following co-transfection of wild type p53 and p53 DBD mutants along with Parc or empty vector control in U2OS cells was carried out. In agreement with previous reports interaction between wild type p53 and Parc was very weak, which may be due to mostly nuclear localization of p53 (Fig.5.11). Although Parc was also less well expressed in this experiment. Deletion of the NLS on p53, which leads to localization of wild type p53 to the cytoplasm, promoted interaction with Parc (Fig.5.11). p53 DBD mutants, which locate to the cytoplasm, all interacted with Parc (Fig.5.11). Though p53175H/ANLS located more to the cytoplasm than p53175H, there was no increase in amount of Parc bound to p53175H/ANLS, probably due to saturation of Parc (Fig.5.11). The experiment was repeated two more times and similar observation was made. Consistent with previous reports (375), these data show that Parc interacts with cytoplasmic p53, independently of the mutation of DBD of p53. This result suggests that p53 mutants can be sequestered in the cytoplasm by interaction with Parc. This could be tested by downregulating Parc expression by siRNA-mediated approach. Parc is known to interact with the oligomerization domain of p53, and their interaction could be inhibited by a p53 C-terminal peptide (602).



FIGURE 5.11. p53 DBD mutants interact with Parc.

U₂OS cells were transfected with indicated p53 constructs and with FLAG-tagged Parc construct. Cell lysates analyzed were by immunoprecipitation with p53-specific antibodies and immunoblotting with p53-specific and FLAGspecific antibodies.

5.4 Localization of p53 mutants in H1299.

To extend the study to other cell types, the localization of p53 mutants was tested in H1299 cells (Fig.5.12). Intriguingly, in this cell type p53175H located to the nucleus in most cells (Fig.5.12). Wild type p53 and p53273H also localized to the nucleus (Fig.5.12). p53 Δ V located to the cytoplasm in some cells but much less than in U2OS cells (Fig.5.12).



FIGURE 5.12. p53175H displays nuclear staining in H1299 cells.

H1299 cells were transfected with wild type p53 or indicated p53 DBD mutants. Cells were fixed and stained with anti-p53 DO1 and DAPI.

Therefore, cytoplasmic localization of p53 mutants seems to be dependent on the cell type. p53 DBD mutants were hyperubiquitinated in H1299 cells (Fig.3.12), implying that ubiquitination does not sequester p53 mutants in the cytoplasm. It is possible that ubiquitination is required but not sufficient for cytoplasmic localization. There are possibly other changes in H1299 cells which prevent cytoplasmic retention. It is possible that H1299 do not express enough Parc to sequester mutant p53 in the cytoplasm.

It is of interest to check where endogenous mutant p53 localizes in tumour-derived cell lines. The preliminary analysis of tumour cell lines expressing contact mutant p53273H mutant shows nuclear localization of this mutant, consistently with the experiments when 273H was transiently expressed (Fig.5.1, 5.3).

5.5 Summary and discussion.

Whereas wild type p53 localizes mostly to the nucleus, here it was found that ubiquitinated p53 DBD mutants display cytoplasmic localization in some cell types. The results shown in this chapter indicate that the unfolded conformation of mutant p53 is associated with cytoplasmic sequestration, as conformationally unfolded p53 mutants but not contact mutant 273H located to the cytoplasm. In agreement with the results presented here, another report has associated ubiquitination of p53 DBD mutants and their cytoplasmic localization (594). Interestingly, sequestration of wild type p53 in neuroblastomas has been recently shown to be due to hyperubiquitination of p53 (603). The results in this chapter suggest that mutant p53 is not subject to enhanced nuclear export and is sequestered in the cytoplasm. The mechanism for p53 sequestration in the cytoplasm has been suggested to involve interaction with Parc (375), which inhibits nuclear import. However, some fraction of p53 undergoes normal nuclear import, suggesting that there are two populations of mutant p53 in the cells, one is sequestered in the cytoplasm and the other fraction undergoes normal nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling. This suggests that mutant p53 may exist in mutant conformation sequestered in the cytoplasm and wild type conformation, which locates to the nucleus. However, cytoplasmic sequestration of mutant p53 depends on the cell type and in other cells, like H1299, mutant p53 is efficiently imported to the nucleus. It is possible that the localization of mutant p53 to the cytoplasm is representative of protective mechanism against misfolded p53, and further in tumourigenesis, cells select for nuclear accumulation of mutant p53. This study suggests that ubiquitination of p53 mutants occurs in the cytoplasm. Mutant p53 may be ubiquitinated by the activity of cytoplasmic E3s. Interestingly, CHIP localizes to the cytoplasm and has been shown to cooperate with Parc in ubiquitination of its substrates. It would be interesting to determine what is the biological function of localization of mutant p53 to the cytoplasm and to extend the study to other tumour-derived cell lines expressing mutant p53.

Chapter 6. Interaction of p53 DBD mutants with p73.
6 Interaction of p53 DBD mutants with p73.

Several p53 DBD mutants can associate with p63 and p73 in cells, both endogenous and overexpressed, which leads to inactivation of p63/p73 (458-464). The interaction is mediated via the DNA binding domains of p53 and p63/p73 (461), though the exact binding site has not been mapped. In this chapter the contribution of the conserved boxes of DBD to the interaction with one of the family members p73 and the effect of the interaction on the stability of mutant p53 and p73 proteins were studied.

6.1 p53 with deletions of the conserved boxes of DBD interact with p73.

p53 with deletions of conserved boxes of DBD ΔV , ΔIV , ΔIII and ΔII adopt a "mutant" conformation (582) and therefore predicted to interact with p73. To detect the interaction and to test if any of the conserved boxes can be the binding site of p73, co-immunoprecipitation analysis of p53 DBD mutants with p73 following their co-expression in cells was carried out. The polymorphism status of p53 modulates the interaction and mutant p53 with 72R associates with p73 more efficiently than mutants with 72P polymorphism (459, 463). Therefore p53 mutants with 72R polymorphism were used in **U2OS**



FIGURE 6.1. p53 DBD mutants interact with p73.

U2OS cells were transfected with wild type or indicated p53 DBD mutants and with HAp73 α . Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and analyzed by immunoblotting with CM1 or HA-specific antibodies. this experiment. U2OS cells were co-transfected with p53 Δ V, Δ IV, Δ III and Δ II as well as p53175H and p53273H along with with p73 α . Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody and p73 was detected with a p73-specific antibody. In this experiment p73 α was used, which is the full-length TAp73 transcriptionally active isoform. TAp73 α has been previously reported to associate with several p53 DBD point mutants. Wild type p53 failed to interact with p73 whereas all p53 DBD deletion and point mutants interacted with p73 α (Fig.6.1). This result was observed in three independent experiments. Contact mutant 273H interacted with p73 less well than conformational p53 mutants. In agreement with other reports, these data suggest that unfolded conformation of DBD of p53 unveils the cryptic p73 binding site, not accessible in wild type conformation of DBD.

6.2 Effect of interaction of p53 mutants with p73 on degradation of p53 and p73.

Mdm2 interacts with p73, however Mdm2 fails to degrade p73 or export p73 to the cytoplasm (416, 418). The effect of the interaction between mutant p53 and p73 on Mdm2mediated degradation was analyzed. Specifically, the following questions were addressed. 1) Can interaction of p73 with mutant p53 lead to degradation of p73 by Mdm2? 2) Can p73 protect mutant p53 from being degraded by Mdm2? To address these questions, p73a was expressed along with Mdm2 and with wild type p53 or p53 DBD mutants Δ III and Δ II (Fig.6.2A), which interacted with p73 better than other p53 deletion mutants. GFP was used to control for transfection efficiency. The apparent slower migration of GFP in the last lane is due to the fracture of the gel (Fig.6.2A). Consistent with the data presented above, both wild type and mutant p53 were efficiently degraded by Mdm2, regardless of expression of p73, suggesting that p73 does not protect mutant p53 from degradation (Fig.6.2A). Consistent with previous reports, p73 was resistant to degradation by Mdm2, whereas wild type p53 and p53 DBD mutants were efficiently degraded by Mdm2 (Fig.6.2A). Co-expression of p53 DBD mutants seemed to slightly reduce levels of p73, but this was difficult to assess due to strong signal of p73 on this gel. Therefore, the western blotting analysis was repeated with the smaller quantity of the cell lysates from this experiment using gel with broader lanes (Fig. 6.2B). This result more clearly shows that degradation of p53ΔIII was not affected by the presence of p73 (Fig.6.2B). Interestingly, though p73 was not degraded by Mdm2 when co-expressed with wild type p53, p73 protein levels decreased when p53∆III was present. This suggests that mutant p53

promotes degradation of p73 by Mdm2. Interestingly, it was noticed that p73 increases the expression of Mdm2 – both endogenous and transfected. The mechanism of increasing levels of transfected Mdm2 protein may involve protein stability. To analyze if p73 can stabilize Mdm2 protein, p73 mutant lacking Mdm2-interaction site or Mdm2 lacking N-terminus can be tested in future. These observations were reproduced in two independent experiments.





The effect of p53 DBD mutant on p73 degradation was quite weak, possibly due to rapid degradation of p53 by Mdm2. The aim of the next experiment was to confirm the result and to test if p53 175H could also promote degradation of p73 and increase the amount of p53 mutant bound to p73, p73 was co-expressed with Mdm2 and p53 Δ II and p53175H were titrated in (Fig.6.3). Interestingly, when p53175H or p53 Δ II mutants were expressed at higher levels the p73 protein levels decreased (Fig.6.3). In agreement with Figure 6.2B, this suggests that p53175H and p53 Δ II promote degradation of p73 by Mdm2, however this needs to be confirmed by treatment with proteasome inhibitors or analysing half-life of p73. It will be interesting to test if ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 is required for the ability to degrade p73 by testing Mdm2-464 mutant. These results suggest, that p53 mutant can promote degradation of p73 by Mdm2. In future, p53 and p73 mutants lacking the N-terminal binding to Mdm2 will be tested. The *in vivo* ubiquitination assay of p73 will also be set up to test if mutant p53 promotes ubiquitination of p73 by Mdm2.



FIGURE 6.3. Effect of p53 DBD mutants on degradation of p73α by Mdm2.

U2OS cells were transfected with HA-p73a and empty vector or wildtype Mdm2 and with increasing amounts of p53ΔII (A) or p53175H (B) mutants. GFP was cotransfected to control for transfection efficiency. Western blot analysis was carried out with p53specific (DO1), HAspecific and GFP-specific antibodies.

6.3 p73 inhibits ubiquitination of mutant p53.

As shown above, conformational p53 mutants are subject to Mdm2-independent ubiquitination and can interact with p73. Therefore it was tested if p73-specfic Itch ubiquitin ligase can target p53 mutants. To this end Itch expression was down-regulated by siRNA-mediated approach with previously published Itch-specific siRNA oligonucleotides and the ubiquitination of transfected p53175H was analyzed in U2OS cells. Ubiquitination of mutant p53 was only weakly reduced when Itch-specific siRNA was transfected. However, to confirm this the reduction of Itch expression needs to be verified (Fig. 6.4).



FIGURE 6.4. siRNA-mediated knockdown of Itch expression does not affect the ubiquitination of p53175H.

U2OS cells were transfected with nontargetting (NT) or Itch-specific siRNA oligonucleotides. Cells were transfected with p53175H along with HA-ubiquitin 24h later. Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either HA-specific or the p53specific CM1 antibody.

Next, the effect of p73 on ubiquitination of mutant p53 was examined. To this end wild type p53 or p53175H were expressed in U2OS cells along with the p73 isoforms α or β and HA-ubiquitin and *in vivo* ubiquitination assay was carried out (Fig.6.5). p73 β is a splice variant of TA p73 isoform, which is functionally very similar to p73 α . p73 β interacts with p53175H similarly to p73 α . Interestingly both p73 α and p73 β decreased the ubiquitination of p53 175H, without any effect on the residual ubiquitination of wild type p53 (Fig.6.5). This observation was reproduced in two other independent experiments. However, p73 did not stabilize mutant p53 protein in cells (Fig.6.2). This could be explained by the previously described observation that ubiquitination does not efficiently degrade mutant p53. It would be interesting to confirm this observation in Mdm2-null cells and to test the effects of p73 on the Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of mutant p53. A preliminary experiment suggests that p73 α does not inhibit Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of mutant p53.



FIGURE 6.5. p73 inhibits ubiquitination of p53175H.

U2OS cells were transfected with wild type p53 or p53175H along with HA-tagged ubiquitin (HA-Ub) and with empty vector or FLAG-p73 α or FLAG-p73 β . Cells were treated with MG132 and lysed under denaturing conditions. Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with p53-specific antibody (DO1) and Western blotted with either HA-specific or the p53-specific CM1 antibody. Direct western blotting analysis was carried out with p73-specific antibody (sc-20).

6.4 Localization of mutant p53 and p73.

To study if the interaction between mutant p53 and p73 affects the localization of each of the proteins, subcellular localization of wild type p53, p53175H or p53 ΔV expressed along with p73a was analyzed U2OS cells (Fig.6.6). Similarly to results shown above, wild type p53 localized to the nucleus (Fig.6.6A) and p53175H and p53 ΔV displayed some cytoplasmic localization (Fig.6.6B, C). Endogenous p73 was not detected in these cells with p73-specific antibody, however overexpressed p73 was clearly visible. In agreement with previous studies (373, 604, 605) transfected p73 resided in the nucleus in most cells with small percentage of cells where p73 was detected in the cytoplasm (Fig.6.6A). The colocalization of p73 with wild type p53 was visualized by confocal microscope by merging the channels of green (p53) and red (p73) fluorescence which displays colocalization as yellow color. The technical caveat of this experiment is that the intensity of the p53 staining was stronger than p73 in this experiment. Wild type p53 and p73 only partially colocalized in the nucleus (Fig.6.6A), suggesting that function of p73 may differ from p53. In addition, p73 was found in distinct structures in the nuclei of some cells (Fig.6.6A). The biological significance of these structures is not clear, however they seem to localize to heterochromatin regions, as seen by staining with DAPI (Fig6.6A). The pattern of localization of p53175H and p53AV mutants was similar to described above (Fig.5.2). The expression of p53 mutants did not relocalize p73, as it remained in the nucleus in most cells when p53175H and p53 Δ V were co-expressed (Fig.6.6B,C). The p53 DBD mutants and p73 also partially colocalized in the nucleus (Fig.6.6B,C). In some cells mutant p53 colocalized with p73 in the distinct nuclear aggregates (Fig.6.6B,C). These findings are still preliminary. These data suggest that only a fraction of mutant p53 is involved in interaction with p73, which takes place mostly in the nucleus. In future experiments it will be important to determine the stoichiometry of the p53/p73 interaction. Though p73 inhibits ubiquitination of mutant p53, this might be indirect, as the data of this study suggests that ubiquitination of mutant p53 takes place in the cytoplasm.

6.5 Summary and discussion.

In this chapter the interaction of mutant p53 and p73 was analyzed. It was shown here that all p53 DBD mutants with deletions of the conserved boxes interacted with p73. This together with previous reports (461, 606) suggests that the altered conformation of DBD of p53 is the determinant for the interaction. As shown previously, all the p53 DBD deletion mutants have "mutant" conformation of DBD and similarly to tumour-derived conformational mutants display a cryptic epitope (213-217aa), recognized by the conformation-sensitive antibody. The possibility that this region is the binding site for p73 remains to be checked in future.

Whereas others have shown that Mdm2 inhibits transcriptional activity of p73, the data shown here suggest that mutant p53 can promote degradation of p73 by Mdm2, which is not degraded by Mdm2 on its own (416, 418). Studies of p53-p73 chimeras have shown that lack of the homology to the region of 92-112aa of p53 can be the reason for resistance of p73 to degradation by Mdm2 (419). The data presented here suggest that p73 can be degraded when in complex with mutant p53, which may provide such degradation signal. This could contribute to the inactivation of p73 by Mdm2.

As shown here, p73 can inhibit the ubiquitination if mutant p53. It is not clear whether inhibition of ubiquitination by p73 can contribute to accumulation of mutant p53. p73 does not seem to protect p53 mutants from degradation by Mdm2, suggesting that p73 might not inhibit ubiquitination by Mdm2, which has been confirmed in the preliminary experiment.

Since the unfolded conformation of the DBD of p53 is the determinant of both binding to p73 and of ubiquitination of mutant p53, it is possible that the ubiquitin ligase and p73 compete for binding to the DBD of p53. However, this is unlikely, as localization data suggest that mutant p53 and p73 colocalize only partially. It is possible that p73 inhibits the ubiquitination of mutant p53 indirectly, by sequestering the ubiquitin ligase in the nucleus. Another interesting possibility could be that p73 promotes deubiquitination of mutant p53 in the nucleus. This also implies that ubiquitination does not sequester mutant p53 in the cytoplasm. This is also confirmed by the nuclear localization of p53 mutants in H1299 cells, in which ubiquitination of these mutants was clearly detected.

The interaction of mutant p53 and p73 has been suggested to contribute to oncogenic properties of mutant p53 and further characterization of the molecular mechanisms of the interaction and functional consequences can be important for clinical implications.

Chapter 7. Discussion.

7 Discussion.

Mutations in p53 are very frequently found in cancers, suggesting they are selected for during malignant progression. Many of the p53 mutations affect the DNA binding domain (DBD) of p53, which partially or completely distort its conformation (436, 579). Mutations of DBD result in loss of the tumour suppressive function of p53, by inactivating its transcriptional activity. Moreover, mutant p53 acquires novel functions and actively contributes to cancer progression, known as "gain-of-function" effect. Mutant p53 often accumulates to high levels in tumour cells (581), although the reason why mutant p53 is not degraded in cancer cells remains unclear. In mice engineered to express only mutant p53, stabilization of p53 is seen only in tumours but not in normal cells (484, 485). While these mutants do not activate expression of Mdm2, it is apparent that normal cells retain sufficient Mdm2 levels to keep the levels of mutant p53 protein low. Secondary events may occur which contribute to stabilization of mutant p53 in tumours. It is possible that the stabilization of mutant p53 in tumours is related to ARF expression - an inhibitor of Mdm2 – that is specifically activated in tumours (16). This idea is also supported by a recent observation that p16 is lost in a proportion of tumours in mice expressing mutant p53. By inhibiting E2F activity, the CDK inhibitor p16 leads to inhibition of ARF, a transcriptional target of E2F (520). However, siRNA mediated inhibition of ARF expression in a tumour cell line expressing high levels of mutant p53 did not decrease the stability of the p53 (Horn and Vousden, personal communication), suggesting that ARF is not the only determinant of mutant p53 stability. The ongoing DNA damage signalling in tumour cells can also contribute to accumulation of p53. It is therefore possible that although Mdm2 is able to control the basal levels of mutant p53, it fails to degrade high levels of mutant p53 after stress. However, clearly many tumours express high levels of Mdm2 and high levels of mutant p53, suggesting that other mechanisms account for accumulation of mutant p53. In addition, there are some tissue-specific components of regulation of stability of mutant p53, such as Mdm2-independent regulation of mutant p53 in liver (520). Therefore it appears that a number of different mechanisms can lead to accumulation of mutant p53.

Although p53 mutants are quite heterogeneous, they have common determinants of their structure and function, which divide them into conformational and contact mutants. The results described in this study suggest a distinct pathway that regulates the degradation of conformational p53 mutants. Here it has been demonstrated that mutant and wild type

p53 can be degraded through overlapping, but distinct pathways. Unlike wild type p53, mutant p53 is specifically ubiquitinated in Mdm2-independent manner. It is therefore possible that the selective stabilization of mutant p53 reflects a tumour-specific defect in the pathways that target mutant p53 for degradation. This study suggests there are differences in the degradation pathways that regulate the conformational and contact mutants. It is clear however that other factors contribute to the stability of contact mutant p53 forms in cancers, since p53s mutated at codon 273 – which are ubiquitinated like wild type p53 in this study – are frequently found to be stabilized in human cancers.

Although both wild type p53 and mutant p53 are degraded by Mdm2, there are clear differences in the mechanisms of degradation. Whereas wild type p53 degradation is entirely dependent on ubiquitination by Mdm2, the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 is less important for degradation of mutant p53. The results of this study propose the following model of degradation of wild type and mutant p53 (Fig.7.1). In the first step, the N-terminal domain of Mdm2 interacts with N-terminus of p53 which activates the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 leading to polyubiquitination of p53. In the next step polyubiquitination causes unfolding of p53, which promotes interaction of RING domain of Mdm2 with p53, possibly in its DBD. This leads to the next step in which Mdm2 delivers p53 to the proteasomes, which involves the interaction of Mdm2 with the proteasome. In case of mutant p53 the ubiquitination step by Mdm2 is less important. Mutant p53 is already unfolded and also highly ubiquitinated in cells by another E3. Therefore the second interaction involving RING domain of Mdm2 and mutant p53 is promoted. At this step Mdm2 delivers mutant p53 ubiquitinated by another E3 to the proteasomes.



FIGURE 7.1. Model of degradation pathways of wild type and mutant p53.

This study suggests the following model of degradation of wild type p53 and mutant p53. Wild type p53 is ubiquitinated and targeted to the proteasomes for degradation mainly by Mdm2. Mutant p53 is ubiquitinated by other ubiquitin ligases, such as CHIP and others unknown (E3X). Mdm2 may play a role in delivery of the ubiquitinated mutant p53 to the proteasomes for degradation.

Hence, it is interesting to investigate whether this function of Mdm2 is compromised in tumours with mutant p53. The other possibility is that mutant p53 is not ubiquitinated in tumor cells, which could be due to loss of expression of mutant p53-specific E3.

This study shows that degradation of mutant p53 is dependent on Mdm2, however it does not require the N-terminal interaction of both proteins. This has an important potential implication for treatment of tumours with the inhibitor of N-terminal interaction - nutlin-3. Nutlin-3 may be a promising strategy for the treatment of tumours that retain wild type p53. However, given the oncogenic activity, further stabilization of mutant p53 would be unfavourable for treating cancer. Our study has shown that while nutlin-3 leads to efficient stabilization of wild type p53, it only weakly stabilizes mutant p53. This suggests that nutlin-3 can be used to treat tumours, which retain both wild type and mutant forms of p53.

Whereas degradation of wild type p53 is dependent on the E3 activity of Mdm2, the data shown in this study suggest that E3 activity is not absolutely required for the degradation of mutant p53. This suggests the possibility of using the inhibitors of E3 activity of Mdm2 to selectively stabilize wild type p53 but not mutant p53.

Conformationally altered p53 mutants are selectively ubiquitinated by other E3s, independent of Mdm2. Despite being ubiquitinated, mutant p53 is not efficiently degraded, which implies the existence of additional signals for proteasomal destruction. Mdm2 may provide such a signal, as it readily degrades mutant p53, ubiquitinated by other E3. A number of different ubiquitin ligases, which can target wild type p53 have been described recently (83, 84, 178, 185, 354, 360, 361, 590). In agreement with other reports (355, 455), CHIP contributes to ubiquitination of both wild type and mutant p53. CHIP is involved in protein folding control by ubiquitinating and degrading its substrates (607, 608). This suggests that ubiquitination of mutant p53 can be a part of the protective mechanism of the cell to eliminate misfolded p53. This also suggests an interesting possibility that mutant p53 may induce ER stress, which can be triggered by accumulation of misfolded proteins in cells. ER stress has been described to accompany different stages of tumour progression, however it has been unclear whether it inhibits or promotes tumour development (609). Recent report suggests that HRas induced senescence is mediated by ER-associated unfolded protein response, suggesting its anti-oncogenic role (610). It is possible that tumours overcome this barrier by deregulating the components of the ER associated degradation. This role of CHIP in ubiquitination of mutant p53 implies that CHIP can be inactivated in cancers, contributing to accumulation of mutant p53. In agreement with this hypothesis, CHIP expression is reduced in some cancers, however it is not clear whether these cancers have mutant p53.

The contribution of CHIP seems to be partial, leaving the possibility that other E3s exist that specifically target mutant p53, or that wild type and mutant p53 differ in their sensitivity to deubiquitinases. Discovery of other ubiquitin ligases that specifically ubiquitinate mutant p53 can be addressed by analysis of specific binding partners of mutant p53 by proteomics approach. Alternatively, screening of all human ubiquitin ligases can be carried out using the siRNA library that targets all known human E3s for the effect of the down-regulation of their expression on mutant p53 ubiquitination.

Unlike wild type p53, which is mostly nuclear, it has been found here that the conformationally altered p53 mutants display enhanced cytoplasmic localization. The data presented here suggest that "mutant" conformation of the DBD of p53 is an important determinant for localization to the cytoplasm, as contact mutant locates to the nucleus similarly to wild type p53. Cytoplasmic localization of wild type p53 has been noted in neuroblastomas and has been attributed to enhanced nuclear export. However, according to the results presented in this study mutant p53 is sequestered in the cytoplasm and its nuclear import is reduced. The mechanism of such sequestration is not known, however it can involve interaction with Parc. It is likely, that cytoplasmic localization of mutant p53 requires the cryptic epitope in DBD, which can be involved in protein interactions. It should be noted that some population of mutant p53 undergoes functional nuclear import. The reason for heterogeneous behaviour of mutant p53 is not clear, and could be dependent on the stage of cell cycle. The findings of this study also suggest that mutant p53 residing in the cytoplasm is ubiquitinated. CHIP, which contributes to this ubiquitination of mutant p53, has been shown to locate to the cytoplasm. Interestingly CHIP has been shown to cooperate with Parc in ubiquitination of the substrates. There are many other cytoplasmic ubiquitin ligases, which may contribute to ubiquitination of mutant p53. Inhibition of ubiquitination of mutant p53 by p73 does not relocate mutant p53 to the nucleus, suggesting that ubiquitination does not sequester mutant p53 in the cytoplasm and is rather a consequence of cytoplasmic localization of mutant p53. Interaction of mutant p53 and p63/p73 occurs mostly in the nucleus, therefore the nuclear fraction of mutant p53 might be contributing to the gain-of-function effect. The function of mutant p53 in the cytoplasm is unknown. Although the cytoplasmic function of wild type p53 has been suggested to promote apoptosis, mutant p53 does not induce cell death. One speculation can be that keeping mutant p53 in the cytoplasm is the means to inactivate it, which could reflect the existence of the cellular mechanism to degrade misfolded p53. Inactivation of CHIP or Parc at later stages of tumourigenesis can lead to relocation of mutant p53 to the nucleus

where it can exert gain-of-function effect. This may indicate that the nuclear localization of mutant p53 would be favoured by tumour. Therefore, it would be interesting to check localization of mutant p53 in normal cells and in tumour cells in p53 knock-in mice.

The data presented here suggest that mutant p53 can target p73 for degradation by Mdm2, which can contribute to inactivation of p73 function. By inhibiting ubiquitination of mutant p53, p73 can play a role in regulation of stability of mutant p53 and contribute to its accumulation in tumours.

The data of this study suggest that the regulation of stability of mutant p53 differs from that of wild type p53. Identifying the E3 responsible for the hyper-ubiquitination of mutant p53 and investigation into the mechanism of Mdm2-mediated delivery to proteasomes may have important implication in understanding the mechanisms that specifically down-regulate mutant, but not wild type p53 in tumours. Further studies of the interaction of mutant p53 with its family members and its functional consequences can also provide the way of inactivation of the mutant p53 oncogenic function. This could potentially have therapeutic advantages, since mutant p53s are highly expressed in cancer cells and show a clear ability to promote various aspects of tumourigenesis, including metastatic spread (484, 485).

Whereas the strategy to develop cancer treatments for tumors with wild type p53 would be to stabilize p53, in case of tumors bearing mutant p53 the accumulation of mutant p53 will have adverse effects due to the gain-of-function activites of mutant p53. The differences in the mechanisms of degradation of wild type and mutant p53 suggest the possibility to develop cancer treatments that specifically stabilize wild type p53 but not mutant p53.

References.

 Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature. 1999 Jul 29;400(6743):464-8.

2. Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. Modelling the molecular circuitry of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002 May;2(5):331-41.

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000 Jan 7;100(1):57 70.

4. Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006 Oct;6(10):715-27.

5. Kroemer G, Pouyssegur J. Tumor cell metabolism: cancer's Achilles' heel. Cancer Cell. 2008 Jun;13(6):472-82.

Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nat Med.
 2004 Aug;10(8):789-99.

 Karnoub AE, Weinberg RA. Ras oncogenes: split personalities. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Jul;9(7):517-31.

8. Land H, Parada LF, Weinberg RA. Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature. 1983 Aug 18-24;304(5927):596-602.

9. Newbold RF, Overell RW. Fibroblast immortality is a prerequisite for transformation by EJ c-Ha-ras oncogene. Nature. 1983 Aug 18-24;304(5927):648-51.

10. Ruley HE. Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. Nature. 1983 Aug 18-24;304(5927):602-6.

11. Isobe M, Emanuel BS, Givol D, Oren M, Croce CM. Localization of gene for human p53 tumour antigen to band 17p13. Nature. 1986 Mar 6-12;320(6057):84-5.

12. Knudson AG. Cancer genetics. Am J Med Genet. 2002 Jul 22;111(1):96-102.

Sherr CJ. The INK4a/ARF network in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.
 2001 Oct;2(10):731-7.

14. Sherr CJ. Divorcing ARF and p53: an unsettled case. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Sep;6(9):663-73.

15. van den Heuvel S, Dyson NJ. Conserved functions of the pRB and E2F families. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Sep;9(9):713-24. 16. Lowe SW, Sherr CJ. Tumor suppression by Ink4a-Arf: progress and puzzles. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2003 Feb;13(1):77-83.

17. Friedberg EC. DNA damage and repair. Nature. 2003 Jan 23;421(6921):436-40.

18. Jonkers J, Berns A. Oncogene addiction: sometimes a temporary slavery. Cancer Cell. 2004 Dec;6(6):535-8.

19. Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science. 2008 Sep 26;321(5897):1801-6.

20. McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, Van Meir EG, Brat DJ, Mastrogianakis M, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature. 2008 Sep 4.

21. Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science. 2008 Sep 26;321(5897):1807-12.

22. Esteller M. Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2008 Mar 13;358(11):1148-59.

23. Feinberg AP, Tycko B. The history of cancer epigenetics. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Feb;4(2):143-53.

24. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature. 2000 Nov 16;408(6810):307-10.

25. Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC. p53 mutations in human cancers. Science. 1991 Jul 5;253(5015):49-53.

26. Soussi T, Wiman KG. Shaping genetic alterations in human cancer: the p53 mutation paradigm. Cancer Cell. 2007 Oct;12(4):303-12.

27. Varley JM. Germline TP53 mutations and Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Hum Mutat. 2003 Mar;21(3):313-20.

28. Vousden KH, Lane DP. p53 in health and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007 Apr;8(4):275-83.

29. Lane DP, Crawford LV. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40-transformed cells. Nature. 1979 Mar 15;278(5701):261-3.

30. Linzer DI, Levine AJ. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell. 1979 May;17(1):43-52.

31. DeLeo AB, Jay G, Appella E, Dubois GC, Law LW, Old LJ. Detection of a transformation-related antigen in chemically induced sarcomas and other transformed cells of the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1979 May;76(5):2420-4.

32. Oren M, Levine AJ. Molecular cloning of a cDNA specific for the murine p53 cellular tumor antigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1983 Jan;80(1):56-9.

33. Zakut-Houri R, Bienz-Tadmor B, Givol D, Oren M. Human p53 cellular tumor antigen: cDNA sequence and expression in COS cells. EMBO J. 1985 May;4(5):1251-5.

34. Zakut-Houri R, Oren M, Bienz B, Lavie V, Hazum S, Givol D. A single gene and a pseudogene for the cellular tumour antigen p53. Nature. 1983 Dec 8-14;306(5943):594-7.

35. Eliyahu D, Raz A, Gruss P, Givol D, Oren M. Participation of p53 cellular tumour antigen in transformation of normal embryonic cells. Nature. 1984 Dec 13-19;312(5995):646-9.

36. Parada LF, Land H, Weinberg RA, Wolf D, Rotter V. Cooperation between gene encoding p53 tumour antigen and ras in cellular transformation. Nature. 1984 Dec 13-19;312(5995):649-51.

37. Jenkins JR, Rudge K, Currie GA. Cellular immortalization by a cDNA clone encoding the transformation-associated phosphoprotein p53. Nature. 1984 Dec 13-19;312(5995):651-4.

38. Eliyahu D, Michalovitz D, Oren M. Overproduction of p53 antigen makes established cells highly tumorigenic. Nature. 1985 Jul 11-17;316(6024):158-60.

39. Wolf D, Harris N, Rotter V. Reconstitution of p53 expression in a nonproducer Ab-MuLV-transformed cell line by transfection of a functional p53 gene. Cell. 1984 Aug;38(1):119-26.

40. Eliyahu D, Michalovitz D, Eliyahu S, Pinhasi-Kimhi O, Oren M. Wild-type p53 can inhibit oncogene-mediated focus formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989 Nov;86(22):8763-7.

41. Finlay CA, Hinds PW, Tan TH, Eliyahu D, Oren M, Levine AJ. Activating mutations for transformation by p53 produce a gene product that forms an hsc70-p53 complex with an altered half-life. Mol Cell Biol. 1988 Feb;8(2):531-9.

42. Hinds P, Finlay C, Levine AJ. Mutation is required to activate the p53 gene for cooperation with the ras oncogene and transformation. J Virol. 1989 Feb;63(2):739-46.

43. Finlay CA, Hinds PW, Levine AJ. The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. Cell. 1989 Jun 30;57(7):1083-93.

44. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Nelson CE, Kim DH, et al. Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. Science. 1990 Nov 30;250(4985):1233-8.

45. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA, Jr., Butel JS, et al. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature. 1992 Mar 19;356(6366):215-21.

46. Jacks T, Remington L, Williams BO, Schmitt EM, Halachmi S, Bronson RT, et al. Tumor spectrum analysis in p53-mutant mice. Curr Biol. 1994 Jan 1;4(1):1-7.

47. Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MN, Nakano K, Bartrons R, et al. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. Cell. 2006 Jul 14;126(1):107-20.

48. Bensaad K, Vousden KH. p53: new roles in metabolism. Trends Cell Biol. 2007 Jun;17(6):286-91.

49. Crighton D, Wilkinson S, O'Prey J, Syed N, Smith P, Harrison PR, et al. DRAM, a p53-induced modulator of autophagy, is critical for apoptosis. Cell. 2006 Jul 14;126(1):121-34.

50. Murray-Zmijewski F, Slee EA, Lu X. A complex barcode underlies the heterogeneous response of p53 to stress. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Sep;9(9):702-12.

51. Gu W, Shi XL, Roeder RG. Synergistic activation of transcription by CBP and p53. Nature. 1997 Jun 19;387(6635):819-23.

52. Thut CJ, Chen JL, Klemm R, Tjian R. p53 transcriptional activation mediated by coactivators TAFII40 and TAFII60. Science. 1995 Jan 6;267(5194):100-4.

53. Farmer G, Colgan J, Nakatani Y, Manley JL, Prives C. Functional interaction between p53, the TATA-binding protein (TBP), and TBP-associated factors in vivo. Mol Cell Biol. 1996 Aug;16(8):4295-304.

54. Gu W, Roeder RG. Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. Cell. 1997 Aug 22;90(4):595-606.

55. el-Deiry WS, Harper JW, O'Connor PM, Velculescu VE, Canman CE, Jackman J, et al. WAF1/CIP1 is induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. Cancer Res. 1994 Mar 1;54(5):1169-74.

56. Hermeking H, Lengauer C, Polyak K, He TC, Zhang L, Thiagalingam S, et al. 14-3-3 sigma is a p53-regulated inhibitor of G2/M progression. Mol Cell. 1997 Dec;1(1):3-11.

57. Kastan MB, Zhan Q, el-Deiry WS, Carrier F, Jacks T, Walsh WV, et al. A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. Cell. 1992 Nov 13;71(4):587-97.

58. Ohki R, Nemoto J, Murasawa H, Oda E, Inazawa J, Tanaka N, et al. Reprimo, a new candidate mediator of the p53-mediated cell cycle arrest at the G2 phase. J Biol Chem. 2000 Jul 28;275(30):22627-30.

59. Chipuk JE, Green DR. Dissecting p53-dependent apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):994-1002.

60. Owen-Schaub LB, Zhang W, Cusack JC, Angelo LS, Santee SM, Fujiwara T, et al.
Wild-type human p53 and a temperature-sensitive mutant induce Fas/APO-1 expression.
Mol Cell Biol. 1995 Jun;15(6):3032-40.

61. Wu GS, Burns TF, McDonald ER, 3rd, Jiang W, Meng R, Krantz ID, et al. KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. Nat Genet. 1997 Oct;17(2):141-3.

62. Miyashita T, Reed JC. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. Cell. 1995 Jan 27;80(2):293-9.

63. Oda E, Ohki R, Murasawa H, Nemoto J, Shibue T, Yamashita T, et al. Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. Science. 2000 May 12;288(5468):1053-8.

64. Nakano K, Vousden KH. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. Mol Cell. 2001 Mar;7(3):683-94.

65. Yu J, Zhang L, Hwang PM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell. 2001 Mar;7(3):673-82.

66. Moll UM, Wolff S, Speidel D, Deppert W. Transcription-independent proapoptotic functions of p53. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2005 Dec;17(6):631-6.

67. Chipuk JE, Bouchier-Hayes L, Kuwana T, Newmeyer DD, Green DR. PUMA couples the nuclear and cytoplasmic proapoptotic function of p53. Science. 2005 Sep 9;309(5741):1732-5.

68. Crighton D, Wilkinson S, Ryan KM. DRAM links autophagy to p53 and programmed cell death. Autophagy. 2007 Jan-Feb;3(1):72-4.

69. Chang TC, Wentzel EA, Kent OA, Ramachandran K, Mullendore M, Lee KH, et al. Transactivation of miR-34a by p53 broadly influences gene expression and promotes apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2007 Jun 8;26(5):745-52.

70. Raver-Shapira N, Marciano E, Meiri E, Spector Y, Rosenfeld N, Moskovits N, et al. Transcriptional activation of miR-34a contributes to p53-mediated apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2007 Jun 8;26(5):731-43.

71. Bommer GT, Gerin I, Feng Y, Kaczorowski AJ, Kuick R, Love RE, et al. p53mediated activation of miRNA34 candidate tumor-suppressor genes. Curr Biol. 2007 Aug 7;17(15):1298-307.

72. He L, He X, Lim LP, de Stanchina E, Xuan Z, Liang Y, et al. A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. Nature. 2007 Jun 28;447(7148):1130-4.

73. Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell. 2004 Jan 23;116(2):281-97.

74. Tanaka H, Arakawa H, Yamaguchi T, Shiraishi K, Fukuda S, Matsui K, et al. A ribonucleotide reductase gene involved in a p53-dependent cell-cycle checkpoint for DNA damage. Nature. 2000 Mar 2;404(6773):42-9.

75. Gatz SA, Wiesmuller L. p53 in recombination and repair. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):1003-16.

76. Budanov AV, Sablina AA, Feinstein E, Koonin EV, Chumakov PM. Regeneration of peroxiredoxins by p53-regulated sestrins, homologs of bacterial AhpD. Science. 2004 Apr 23;304(5670):596-600.

77. Yoon KA, Nakamura Y, Arakawa H. Identification of ALDH4 as a p53-inducible gene and its protective role in cellular stresses. J Hum Genet. 2004;49(3):134-40.

78. Matoba S, Kang JG, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, et al. p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. Science. 2006 Jun 16;312(5780):1650-3.

79. Sablina AA, Budanov AV, Ilyinskaya GV, Agapova LS, Kravchenko JE, Chumakov PM. The antioxidant function of the p53 tumor suppressor. Nat Med. 2005 Dec;11(12):1306-13.

80. Barak Y, Juven T, Haffner R, Oren M. mdm2 expression is induced by wild type p53 activity. EMBO J. 1993 Feb;12(2):461-8.

81. Wu X, Bayle JH, Olson D, Levine AJ. The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. Genes Dev. 1993 Jul;7(7A):1126-32.

82. Brooks CL, Gu W. p53 ubiquitination: Mdm2 and beyond. Mol Cell. 2006 Feb 3;21(3):307-15.

83. Dornan D, Wertz I, Shimizu H, Arnott D, Frantz GD, Dowd P, et al. The ubiquitin ligase COP1 is a critical negative regulator of p53. Nature. 2004 May 6;429(6987):86-92.

84. Leng RP, Lin Y, Ma W, Wu H, Lemmers B, Chung S, et al. Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. Cell. 2003 Mar 21;112(6):779-91.

85. Ceribelli M, Alcalay M, Vigano MA, Mantovani R. Repression of new p53 targets revealed by ChIP on chip experiments. Cell Cycle. 2006 May;5(10):1102-10.

86. Budhram-Mahadeo V, Morris PJ, Smith MD, Midgley CA, Boxer LM, Latchman DS. p53 suppresses the activation of the Bcl-2 promoter by the Brn-3a POU family transcription factor. J Biol Chem. 1999 May 21;274(21):15237-44.

87. Innocente SA, Lee JM. p53 is a NF-Y- and p21-independent, Sp1-dependent repressor of cyclin B1 transcription. FEBS Lett. 2005 Feb 14;579(5):1001-7.

88. Kanaya T, Kyo S, Hamada K, Takakura M, Kitagawa Y, Harada H, et al. Adenoviral expression of p53 represses telomerase activity through down-regulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase transcription. Clin Cancer Res. 2000 Apr;6(4):1239-47.

89. Murphy M, Ahn J, Walker KK, Hoffman WH, Evans RM, Levine AJ, et al. Transcriptional repression by wild-type p53 utilizes histone deacetylases, mediated by interaction with mSin3a. Genes Dev. 1999 Oct 1;13(19):2490-501.

90. Harms KL, Chen X. Histone deacetylase 2 modulates p53 transcriptional activities through regulation of p53-DNA binding activity. Cancer Res. 2007 Apr 1;67(7):3145-52.

91. Godar S, Ince TA, Bell GW, Feldser D, Donaher JL, Bergh J, et al. Growthinhibitory and tumor- suppressive functions of p53 depend on its repression of CD44 expression. Cell. 2008 Jul 11;134(1):62-73.

92. Roger L, Gadea G, Roux P. Control of cell migration: a tumour suppressor function for p53? Biol Cell. 2006 Mar;98(3):141-52.

93. Dameron KM, Volpert OV, Tainsky MA, Bouck N. Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. Science. 1994 Sep 9;265(5178):1582-4.

94. Teodoro JG, Parker AE, Zhu X, Green MR. p53-mediated inhibition of angiogenesis through up-regulation of a collagen prolyl hydroxylase. Science. 2006 Aug 18;313(5789):968-71.

95. D'Orazi G, Cecchinelli B, Bruno T, Manni I, Higashimoto Y, Saito S, et al. Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2 phosphorylates p53 at Ser 46 and mediates apoptosis. Nat Cell Biol. 2002 Jan;4(1):11-9.

96. Hofmann TG, Moller A, Sirma H, Zentgraf H, Taya Y, Droge W, et al. Regulation of p53 activity by its interaction with homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2. Nat Cell Biol. 2002 Jan;4(1):1-10.

97. Taira N, Nihira K, Yamaguchi T, Miki Y, Yoshida K. DYRK2 is targeted to the nucleus and controls p53 via Ser46 phosphorylation in the apoptotic response to DNA damage. Mol Cell. 2007 Mar 9;25(5):725-38.

98. Oda K, Arakawa H, Tanaka T, Matsuda K, Tanikawa C, Mori T, et al. p53AIP1, a potential mediator of p53-dependent apoptosis, and its regulation by Ser-46-phosphorylated p53. Cell. 2000 Sep 15;102(6):849-62.

99. Sykes SM, Mellert HS, Holbert MA, Li K, Marmorstein R, Lane WS, et al. Acetylation of the p53 DNA-binding domain regulates apoptosis induction. Mol Cell. 2006 Dec 28;24(6):841-51.

100. Tang Y, Luo J, Zhang W, Gu W. Tip60-dependent acetylation of p53 modulates the decision between cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2006 Dec 28;24(6):827-39.

101. Le Cam L, Linares LK, Paul C, Julien E, Lacroix M, Hatchi E, et al. E4F1 is an atypical ubiquitin ligase that modulates p53 effector functions independently of degradation. Cell. 2006 Nov 17;127(4):775-88.

102. Flores ER, Tsai KY, Crowley D, Sengupta S, Yang A, McKeon F, et al. p63 and p73 are required for p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage. Nature. 2002 Apr 4;416(6880):560-4.

103. Trigiante G, Lu X. ASPP [corrected] and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Mar;6(3):217-26.

104. Gorina S, Pavletich NP. Structure of the p53 tumor suppressor bound to the ankyrin and SH3 domains of 53BP2. Science. 1996 Nov 8;274(5289):1001-5.

105. Samuels-Lev Y, O'Connor DJ, Bergamaschi D, Trigiante G, Hsieh JK, Zhong S, et al. ASPP proteins specifically stimulate the apoptotic function of p53. Mol Cell. 2001 Oct;8(4):781-94.

106. Bergamaschi D, Samuels Y, O'Neil NJ, Trigiante G, Crook T, Hsieh JK, et al.iASPP oncoprotein is a key inhibitor of p53 conserved from worm to human. Nat Genet.2003 Feb;33(2):162-7.

107. Vives V, Su J, Zhong S, Ratnayaka I, Slee E, Goldin R, et al. ASPP2 is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor that cooperates with p53 to suppress tumor growth. Genes Dev. 2006 May 15;20(10):1262-7.

108. Horn HF, Vousden KH. Coping with stress: multiple ways to activate p53. Oncogene. 2007 Feb 26;26(9):1306-16.

109. Tibbetts RS, Brumbaugh KM, Williams JM, Sarkaria JN, Cliby WA, Shieh SY, et al. A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. Genes Dev. 1999 Jan 15;13(2):152-7.

110. Banin S, Moyal L, Shieh S, Taya Y, Anderson CW, Chessa L, et al. Enhanced phosphorylation of p53 by ATM in response to DNA damage. Science. 1998 Sep 11;281(5383):1674-7.

111. Siliciano JD, Canman CE, Taya Y, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Kastan MB. DNA damage induces phosphorylation of the amino terminus of p53. Genes Dev. 1997 Dec 15;11(24):3471-81.

112. Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y, Prives C. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell. 1997 Oct 31;91(3):325-34.

113. Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Appel M, Halazonetis TD. Chk2/hCds1 functions as a DNA damage checkpoint in G(1) by stabilizing p53. Genes Dev. 2000 Feb 1;14(3):278-88.

114. Hirao A, Kong YY, Matsuoka S, Wakeham A, Ruland J, Yoshida H, et al. DNA damage-induced activation of p53 by the checkpoint kinase Chk2. Science. 2000 Mar 10;287(5459):1824-7.

115. Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K, Taya Y, Prives C. The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. Genes Dev. 2000 Feb 1;14(3):289-300.

116. Matheu A, Maraver A, Serrano M. The Arf/p53 pathway in cancer and aging. Cancer Res. 2008 Aug 1;68(15):6031-4.

117. Quelle DE, Zindy F, Ashmun RA, Sherr CJ. Alternative reading frames of the INK4a tumor suppressor gene encode two unrelated proteins capable of inducing cell cycle arrest. Cell. 1995 Dec 15;83(6):993-1000.

118. Palmero I, Pantoja C, Serrano M. p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. Nature. 1998 Sep 10;395(6698):125-6.

119. de Stanchina E, McCurrach ME, Zindy F, Shieh SY, Ferbeyre G, Samuelson AV, et al. E1A signaling to p53 involves the p19(ARF) tumor suppressor. Genes Dev. 1998 Aug 1;12(15):2434-42.

120. Zindy F, Eischen CM, Randle DH, Kamijo T, Cleveland JL, Sherr CJ, et al. Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. Genes Dev. 1998 Aug 1;12(15):2424-33.

121. Honda R, Yasuda H. Association of p19(ARF) with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. Embo J. 1999 Jan 4;18(1):22-7.

122. Kamijo T, Weber JD, Zambetti G, Zindy F, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Functional and physical interactions of the ARF tumor suppressor with p53 and Mdm2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Jul 7;95(14):8292-7.

123. Lohrum MA, Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Contribution of two independent MDM2-binding domains in p14(ARF) to p53 stabilization. Curr Biol. 2000 May 4;10(9):539-42.

124. Pomerantz J, Schreiber-Agus N, Liegeois NJ, Silverman A, Alland L, Chin L, et al. The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell. 1998 Mar 20;92(6):713-23.

125. Kamijo T, Zindy F, Roussel MF, Quelle DE, Downing JR, Ashmun RA, et al. Tumor suppression at the mouse INK4a locus mediated by the alternative reading frame product p19ARF. Cell. 1997 Nov 28;91(5):649-59.

126. Kamijo T, Bodner S, van de Kamp E, Randle DH, Sherr CJ. Tumor spectrum in ARF-deficient mice. Cancer Res. 1999 May 1;59(9):2217-22.

127. Kamijo T, van de Kamp E, Chong MJ, Zindy F, Diehl JA, Sherr CJ, et al. Loss of the ARF tumor suppressor reverses premature replicative arrest but not radiation hypersensitivity arising from disabled atm function. Cancer Res. 1999 May 15;59(10):2464-9.

128. Bartkova J, Rezaei N, Liontos M, Karakaidos P, Kletsas D, Issaeva N, et al. Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints. Nature. 2006 Nov 30;444(7119):633-7.

129. Halazonetis TD, Gorgoulis VG, Bartek J. An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development. Science. 2008 Mar 7;319(5868):1352-5.

130. Bartkova J, Horejsi Z, Koed K, Kramer A, Tort F, Zieger K, et al. DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. Nature. 2005 Apr 14;434(7035):864-70.

131. Gorgoulis VG, Vassiliou LV, Karakaidos P, Zacharatos P, Kotsinas A, Liloglou T, et al. Activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and genomic instability in human precancerous lesions. Nature. 2005 Apr 14;434(7035):907-13.

132. Christophorou MA, Ringshausen I, Finch AJ, Swigart LB, Evan GI. The pathological response to DNA damage does not contribute to p53-mediated tumour suppression. Nature. 2006 Sep 14;443(7108):214-7.

133. Efeyan A, Garcia-Cao I, Herranz D, Velasco-Miguel S, Serrano M. Tumour biology: Policing of oncogene activity by p53. Nature. 2006 Sep 14;443(7108):159.

134. Lohrum MA, Ludwig RL, Kubbutat MH, Hanlon M, Vousden KH. Regulation of HDM2 activity by the ribosomal protein L11. Cancer Cell. 2003 Jun;3(6):577-87.

135. Zhang Y, Wolf GW, Bhat K, Jin A, Allio T, Burkhart WA, et al. Ribosomal protein L11 negatively regulates oncoprotein MDM2 and mediates a p53-dependent ribosomalstress checkpoint pathway. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Dec;23(23):8902-12.

136. Dai MS, Zeng SX, Jin Y, Sun XX, David L, Lu H. Ribosomal protein L23 activates p53 by inhibiting MDM2 function in response to ribosomal perturbation but not to translation inhibition. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Sep;24(17):7654-68.

137. Jin A, Itahana K, O'Keefe K, Zhang Y. Inhibition of HDM2 and activation of p53 by ribosomal protein L23. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Sep;24(17):7669-80.

138. Horn HF, Vousden KH. Cooperation between the ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 in the p53 pathway. Oncogene. 2008 Jun 16.

139. Jones RG, Plas DR, Kubek S, Buzzai M, Mu J, Xu Y, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase induces a p53-dependent metabolic checkpoint. Mol Cell. 2005 Apr 29;18(3):283-93.

140. Hammond EM, Giaccia AJ. The role of p53 in hypoxia-induced apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005 Jun 10;331(3):718-25.

141. Murray-Zmijewski F, Lane DP, Bourdon JC. p53/p63/p73 isoforms: an orchestra of isoforms to harmonise cell differentiation and response to stress. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):962-72.

142. Harms KL, Chen X. The functional domains in p53 family proteins exhibit both common and distinct properties. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):890-7.

143. Soussi T, Caron de Fromentel C, May P. Structural aspects of the p53 protein in relation to gene evolution. Oncogene. 1990 Jul;5(7):945-52.

144. Candau R, Scolnick DM, Darpino P, Ying CY, Halazonetis TD, Berger SL. Two tandem and independent sub-activation domains in the amino terminus of p53 require the adaptor complex for activity. Oncogene. 1997 Aug 14;15(7):807-16.

145. Venot C, Maratrat M, Sierra V, Conseiller E, Debussche L. Definition of a p53 transactivation function-deficient mutant and characterization of two independent p53 transactivation subdomains. Oncogene. 1999 Apr 8;18(14):2405-10.

146. Dawson R, Muller L, Dehner A, Klein C, Kessler H, Buchner J. The N-terminal domain of p53 is natively unfolded. J Mol Biol. 2003 Oct 3;332(5):1131-41.

147. Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structural biology of the tumor suppressor p53. Annu Rev Biochem. 2008;77:557-82.

148. Kussie PH, Gorina S, Marechal V, Elenbaas B, Moreau J, Levine AJ, et al. Structure of the MDM2 oncoprotein bound to the p53 tumor suppressor transactivation domain. Science. 1996 Nov 8;274(5289):948-53.

149. Walker KK, Levine AJ. Identification of a novel p53 functional domain that is necessary for efficient growth suppression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Dec 24;93(26):15335-40.

150. Venot C, Maratrat M, Dureuil C, Conseiller E, Bracco L, Debussche L. The requirement for the p53 proline-rich functional domain for mediation of apoptosis is correlated with specific PIG3 gene transactivation and with transcriptional repression. Embo J. 1998 Aug 17;17(16):4668-79.

151. Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. Science. 1994 Jul 15;265(5170):346-55.

152. Canadillas JM, Tidow H, Freund SM, Rutherford TJ, Ang HC, Fersht AR. Solution structure of p53 core domain: structural basis for its instability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Feb 14;103(7):2109-14.

153. Joo WS, Jeffrey PD, Cantor SB, Finnin MS, Livingston DM, Pavletich NP. Structure of the 53BP1 BRCT region bound to p53 and its comparison to the Brca1 BRCT structure. Genes Dev. 2002 Mar 1;16(5):583-93.

154. Bullock AN, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Quantitative analysis of residual folding and DNA binding in mutant p53 core domain: definition of mutant states for rescue in cancer therapy. Oncogene. 2000 Mar 2;19(10):1245-56.

 Kitayner M, Rozenberg H, Kessler N, Rabinovich D, Shaulov L, Haran TE, et al.
 Structural basis of DNA recognition by p53 tetramers. Mol Cell. 2006 Jun 23;22(6):741-53. 156. Jeffrey PD, Gorina S, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of the tetramerization domain of the p53 tumor suppressor at 1.7 angstroms. Science. 1995 Mar 10;267(5203):1498-502.

157. Stommel JM, Marchenko ND, Jimenez GS, Moll UM, Hope TJ, Wahl GM. A leucine-rich nuclear export signal in the p53 tetramerization domain: regulation of subcellular localization and p53 activity by NES masking. EMBO J. 1999 Mar 15;18(6):1660-72.

158. Kubbutat MH, Ludwig RL, Ashcroft M, Vousden KH. Regulation of Mdm2directed degradation by the C terminus of p53. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Oct;18(10):5690-8.

159. Weinberg RL, Freund SM, Veprintsev DB, Bycroft M, Fersht AR. Regulation of DNA binding of p53 by its C-terminal domain. J Mol Biol. 2004 Sep 17;342(3):801-11.

160. Liu Y, Kulesz-Martin MF. Sliding into home: facilitated p53 search for targets by the basic DNA binding domain. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):881-4.

161. Yang Y, Li CC, Weissman AM. Regulating the p53 system through ubiquitination.Oncogene. 2004 Mar 15;23(11):2096-106.

162. Ciechanover A. Intracellular protein degradation from a vague idea through the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and on to human diseases and drug targeting: Nobel Lecture, December 8, 2004. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007 Nov;1116:1-28.

163. Fang S, Weissman AM. A field guide to ubiquitylation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2004 Jul;61(13):1546-61.

164. Hershko A. The ubiquitin system for protein degradation and some of its roles in the control of the cell-division cycle (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2005 Sep 19;44(37):5932-43.

165. Hochstrasser M. Lingering mysteries of ubiquitin-chain assembly. Cell. 2006 Jan 13;124(1):27-34.

166. Breitschopf K, Bengal E, Ziv T, Admon A, Ciechanover A. A novel site for ubiquitination: the N-terminal residue, and not internal lysines of MyoD, is essential for conjugation and degradation of the protein. EMBO J. 1998 Oct 15;17(20):5964-73.

167. Ciechanover A. N-terminal ubiquitination. Methods Mol Biol. 2005;301:255-70.

168. Handley-Gearhart PM, Stephen AG, Trausch-Azar JS, Ciechanover A, Schwartz AL. Human ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E1. Indication of potential nuclear and cytoplasmic subpopulations using epitope-tagged cDNA constructs. J Biol Chem. 1994 Dec 30;269(52):33171-8.

169. Hershko A, Heller H, Elias S, Ciechanover A. Components of ubiquitin-protein ligase system. Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown. J Biol Chem. 1983 Jul 10;258(13):8206-14.

170. Sommer T, Jentsch S. A protein translocation defect linked to ubiquitin conjugation at the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature. 1993 Sep 9;365(6442):176-9.

171. Zheng N, Wang P, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Structure of a c-Cbl-UbcH7 complex:RING domain function in ubiquitin-protein ligases. Cell. 2000 Aug 18;102(4):533-9.

172. Huang L, Kinnucan E, Wang G, Beaudenon S, Howley PM, Huibregtse JM, et al. Structure of an E6AP-UbcH7 complex: insights into ubiquitination by the E2-E3 enzyme cascade. Science. 1999 Nov 12;286(5443):1321-6.

173. Eletr ZM, Huang DT, Duda DM, Schulman BA, Kuhlman B. E2 conjugating enzymes must disengage from their E1 enzymes before E3-dependent ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like transfer. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2005 Oct;12(10):933-4.

174. Schwarz SE, Rosa JL, Scheffner M. Characterization of human hect domain family members and their interaction with UbcH5 and UbcH7. J Biol Chem. 1998 May 15;273(20):12148-54.

175. Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett. 1997 Dec 22;420(1):25-7.

176. Nuber U, Scheffner M. Identification of determinants in E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes required for hect E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase interaction. J Biol Chem. 1999 Mar 12;274(11):7576-82.

177. Saville MK, Sparks A, Xirodimas DP, Wardrop J, Stevenson LF, Bourdon JC, et al.
Regulation of p53 by the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes UbcH5B/C in vivo. J Biol Chem.
2004 Oct 1;279(40):42169-81.

178. Rajendra R, Malegaonkar D, Pungaliya P, Marshall H, Rasheed Z, Brownell J, et al. Topors functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase with specific E2 enzymes and ubiquitinates p53. J Biol Chem. 2004 Aug 27;279(35):36440-4.

179. Glickman MH, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. Physiol Rev. 2002 Apr;82(2):373-428.

180. Ardley HC, Robinson PA. E3 ubiquitin ligases. Essays Biochem. 2005;41:15-30.

181. Scheffner M, Huibregtse JM, Vierstra RD, Howley PM. The HPV-16 E6 and E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. Cell. 1993 Nov 5;75(3):495-505.

Scheffner M, Staub O. HECT E3s and human disease. BMC Biochem. 2007;8
 Suppl 1:S6.

183. Zhong Q, Gao W, Du F, Wang X. Mule/ARF-BP1, a BH3-only E3 ubiquitin ligase, catalyzes the polyubiquitination of Mcl-1 and regulates apoptosis. Cell. 2005 Jul 1;121(7):1085-95.

184. Adhikary S, Marinoni F, Hock A, Hulleman E, Popov N, Beier R, et al. The ubiquitin ligase HectH9 regulates transcriptional activation by Myc and is essential for tumor cell proliferation. Cell. 2005 Nov 4;123(3):409-21.

185. Chen D, Kon N, Li M, Zhang W, Qin J, Gu W. ARF-BP1/Mule is a critical mediator of the ARF tumor suppressor. Cell. 2005 Jul 1;121(7):1071-83.

186. Joazeiro CA, Weissman AM. RING finger proteins: mediators of ubiquitin ligase activity. Cell. 2000 Sep 1;102(5):549-52.

187. Petroski MD, Deshaies RJ. Function and regulation of cullin-RING ubiquitin ligases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Jan;6(1):9-20.

188. Jackson PK, Eldridge AG. The SCF ubiquitin ligase: an extended look. Mol Cell.2002 May;9(5):923-5.

189. Coscoy L, Ganem D. PHD domains and E3 ubiquitin ligases: viruses make the connection. Trends Cell Biol. 2003 Jan;13(1):7-12.

190. Koegl M, Hoppe T, Schlenker S, Ulrich HD, Mayer TU, Jentsch S. A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. Cell. 1999 Mar 5;96(5):635-44.

191. Connell P, Ballinger CA, Jiang J, Wu Y, Thompson LJ, Hohfeld J, et al. The cochaperone CHIP regulates protein triage decisions mediated by heat-shock proteins. Nat Cell Biol. 2001 Jan;3(1):93-6.

192. Meacham GC, Patterson C, Zhang W, Younger JM, Cyr DM. The Hsc70 cochaperone CHIP targets immature CFTR for proteasomal degradation. Nat Cell Biol. 2001 Jan;3(1):100-5.

193. Cyr DM, Hohfeld J, Patterson C. Protein quality control: U-box-containing E3 ubiquitin ligases join the fold. Trends Biochem Sci. 2002 Jul;27(7):368-75.

194. Imai Y, Soda M, Hatakeyama S, Akagi T, Hashikawa T, Nakayama KI, et al. CHIP is associated with Parkin, a gene responsible for familial Parkinson's disease, and enhances its ubiquitin ligase activity. Mol Cell. 2002 Jul;10(1):55-67.

195. Shih SC, Sloper-Mould KE, Hicke L. Monoubiquitin carries a novel internalization signal that is appended to activated receptors. EMBO J. 2000 Jan 17;19(2):187-98.

196. Hoeller D, Crosetto N, Blagoev B, Raiborg C, Tikkanen R, Wagner S, et al. Regulation of ubiquitin-binding proteins by monoubiquitination. Nat Cell Biol. 2006 Feb;8(2):163-9.

197. Hicke L. Protein regulation by monoubiquitin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Mar;2(3):195-201. 198. Li W, Tu D, Brunger AT, Ye Y. A ubiquitin ligase transfers preformed polyubiquitin chains from a conjugating enzyme to a substrate. Nature. 2007 Mar 15;446(7133):333-7.

199. Pickart CM. Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. Annu Rev Biochem. 2001;70:503-33.

200. Kim HT, Kim KP, Lledias F, Kisselev AF, Scaglione KM, Skowyra D, et al. Certain pairs of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3s) synthesize nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains containing all possible isopeptide linkages. J Biol Chem. 2007 Jun 15;282(24):17375-86.

201. Pickart CM, Fushman D. Polyubiquitin chains: polymeric protein signals. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 2004 Dec;8(6):610-6.

202. Thrower JS, Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M, Pickart CM. Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. EMBO J. 2000 Jan 4;19(1):94-102.

203. Flick K, Ouni I, Wohlschlegel JA, Capati C, McDonald WH, Yates JR, et al. Proteolysis-independent regulation of the transcription factor Met4 by a single Lys 48-linked ubiquitin chain. Nat Cell Biol. 2004 Jul;6(7):634-41.

204. Deng L, Wang C, Spencer E, Yang L, Braun A, You J, et al. Activation of the IkappaB kinase complex by TRAF6 requires a dimeric ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme complex and a unique polyubiquitin chain. Cell. 2000 Oct 13;103(2):351-61.

205. Hoege C, Pfander B, Moldovan GL, Pyrowolakis G, Jentsch S. RAD6-dependent DNA repair is linked to modification of PCNA by ubiquitin and SUMO. Nature. 2002 Sep 12;419(6903):135-41.

206. Wang M, Pickart CM. Different HECT domain ubiquitin ligases employ distinct mechanisms of polyubiquitin chain synthesis. EMBO J. 2005 Dec 21;24(24):4324-33.

207. Nishikawa H, Ooka S, Sato K, Arima K, Okamoto J, Klevit RE, et al. Mass spectrometric and mutational analyses reveal Lys-6-linked polyubiquitin chains catalyzed by BRCA1-BARD1 ubiquitin ligase. J Biol Chem. 2004 Feb 6;279(6):3916-24.

208. Morris JR, Solomon E. BRCA1 : BARD1 induces the formation of conjugated ubiquitin structures, dependent on K6 of ubiquitin, in cells during DNA replication and repair. Hum Mol Genet. 2004 Apr 15;13(8):807-17.

209. Hicke L, Schubert HL, Hill CP. Ubiquitin-binding domains. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Aug;6(8):610-21.

210. Wilkinson KD. Ubiquitination and deubiquitination: targeting of proteins for degradation by the proteasome. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2000 Jun;11(3):141-8.

211. Amerik AY, Hochstrasser M. Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004 Nov 29;1695(1-3):189-207.

212. Yao T, Song L, Xu W, DeMartino GN, Florens L, Swanson SK, et al. Proteasome recruitment and activation of the Uch37 deubiquitinating enzyme by Adrm1. Nat Cell Biol. 2006 Sep;8(9):994-1002.

213. Verma R, Aravind L, Oania R, McDonald WH, Yates JR, 3rd, Koonin EV, et al. Role of Rpn11 metalloprotease in deubiquitination and degradation by the 26S proteasome. Science. 2002 Oct 18;298(5593):611-5.

214. Cummins JM, Vogelstein B. HAUSP is required for p53 destabilization. Cell Cycle. 2004 Jun;3(6):689-92.

215. Li M, Chen D, Shiloh A, Luo J, Nikolaev AY, Qin J, et al. Deubiquitination of p53 by HAUSP is an important pathway for p53 stabilization. Nature. 2002 Apr 11;416(6881):648-53.

216. Kovalenko A, Chable-Bessia C, Cantarella G, Israel A, Wallach D, Courtois G. The tumour suppressor CYLD negatively regulates NF-kappaB signalling by deubiquitination. Nature. 2003 Aug 14;424(6950):801-5.

217. Trompouki E, Hatzivassiliou E, Tsichritzis T, Farmer H, Ashworth A, Mosialos G. CYLD is a deubiquitinating enzyme that negatively regulates NF-kappaB activation by TNFR family members. Nature. 2003 Aug 14;424(6950):793-6.

218. Nijman SM, Luna-Vargas MP, Velds A, Brummelkamp TR, Dirac AM, Sixma TK, et al. A genomic and functional inventory of deubiquitinating enzymes. Cell. 2005 Dec 2;123(5):773-86.

219. Kerscher O, Felberbaum R, Hochstrasser M. Modification of proteins by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2006;22:159-80.

220. Hoeller D, Hecker CM, Dikic I. Ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins in cancer pathogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Oct;6(10):776-88.

221. Palvimo JJ. PIAS proteins as regulators of small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) modifications and transcription. Biochem Soc Trans. 2007 Dec;35(Pt 6):1405-8.

222. Weger S, Hammer E, Heilbronn R. Topors acts as a SUMO-1 E3 ligase for p53 in vitro and in vivo. FEBS Lett. 2005 Sep 12;579(22):5007-12.

223. Xirodimas DP, Saville MK, Bourdon JC, Hay RT, Lane DP. Mdm2-mediated NEDD8 conjugation of p53 inhibits its transcriptional activity. Cell. 2004 Jul 9;118(1):83-97.

224. Carter S, Bischof O, Dejean A, Vousden KH. C-terminal modifications regulate MDM2 dissociation and nuclear export of p53. Nat Cell Biol. 2007 Apr;9(4):428-35.

225. Pungaliya P, Kulkarni D, Park HJ, Marshall H, Zheng H, Lackland H, et al. TOPORS functions as a SUMO-1 E3 ligase for chromatin-modifying proteins. J Proteome Res. 2007 Oct;6(10):3918-23.

226. Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Midgley CA, Lane DP, Hay RT. SUMO-1 modification activates the transcriptional response of p53. EMBO J. 1999 Nov 15;18(22):6455-61.

227. Kawakami T, Chiba T, Suzuki T, Iwai K, Yamanaka K, Minato N, et al. NEDD8 recruits E2-ubiquitin to SCF E3 ligase. EMBO J. 2001 Aug 1;20(15):4003-12.

228. Osaka F, Kawasaki H, Aida N, Saeki M, Chiba T, Kawashima S, et al. A new NEDD8-ligating system for cullin-4A. Genes Dev. 1998 Aug 1;12(15):2263-8.

229. Ritchie KJ, Zhang DE. ISG15: the immunological kin of ubiquitin. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2004 Apr;15(2):237-46.

230. Hanna J, Finley D. A proteasome for all occasions. FEBS Lett. 2007 Jun 19;581(15):2854-61.

231. Groll M, Ditzel L, Lowe J, Stock D, Bochtler M, Bartunik HD, et al. Structure of 20S proteasome from yeast at 2.4 A resolution. Nature. 1997 Apr 3;386(6624):463-71.

232. Groll M, Bajorek M, Kohler A, Moroder L, Rubin DM, Huber R, et al. A gated channel into the proteasome core particle. Nat Struct Biol. 2000 Nov;7(11):1062-7.

233. Glickman MH, Rubin DM, Coux O, Wefes I, Pfeifer G, Cjeka Z, et al. A subcomplex of the proteasome regulatory particle required for ubiquitin-conjugate degradation and related to the COP9-signalosome and eIF3. Cell. 1998 Sep 4;94(5):615-23.

234. Braun BC, Glickman M, Kraft R, Dahlmann B, Kloetzel PM, Finley D, et al. The base of the proteasome regulatory particle exhibits chaperone-like activity. Nat Cell Biol. 1999 Aug;1(4):221-6.

235. Lam YA, Lawson TG, Velayutham M, Zweier JL, Pickart CM. A proteasomal ATPase subunit recognizes the polyubiquitin degradation signal. Nature. 2002 Apr 18;416(6882):763-7.

236. Verma R, Oania R, Graumann J, Deshaies RJ. Multiubiquitin chain receptors define a layer of substrate selectivity in the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Cell. 2004 Jul 9;118(1):99-110.

237. Elsasser S, Gali RR, Schwickart M, Larsen CN, Leggett DS, Muller B, et al. Proteasome subunit Rpn1 binds ubiquitin-like protein domains. Nat Cell Biol. 2002 Sep;4(9):725-30.

238. Raasi S, Orlov I, Fleming KG, Pickart CM. Binding of polyubiquitin chains to ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domains of HHR23A. J Mol Biol. 2004 Aug 27;341(5):1367-79.

239. Hartmann-Petersen R, Gordon C. Protein degradation: recognition of ubiquitinylated substrates. Curr Biol. 2004 Sep 21;14(18):R754-6.

240. Crosas B, Hanna J, Kirkpatrick DS, Zhang DP, Tone Y, Hathaway NA, et al. Ubiquitin chains are remodeled at the proteasome by opposing ubiquitin ligase and deubiquitinating activities. Cell. 2006 Dec 29;127(7):1401-13.

241. Chen X, Chi Y, Bloecher A, Aebersold R, Clurman BE, Roberts JM. N-acetylation and ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degradation of p21(Cip1). Mol Cell. 2004 Dec 3;16(5):839-47.

242. Asher G, Lotem J, Sachs L, Kahana C, Shaul Y. Mdm-2 and ubiquitin-independent p53 proteasomal degradation regulated by NQO1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Oct 1;99(20):13125-30.

243. Sdek P, Ying H, Chang DL, Qiu W, Zheng H, Touitou R, et al. MDM2 promotes proteasome-dependent ubiquitin-independent degradation of retinoblastoma protein. Mol Cell. 2005 Dec 9;20(5):699-708.

244. Momand J, Zambetti GP, Olson DC, George D, Levine AJ. The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. Cell. 1992 Jun 26;69(7):1237-45.

245. Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 1997 May 15;387(6630):296-9.

246. Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature. 1997 May 15;387(6630):299-303.

247. Fakharzadeh SS, Rosenblum-Vos L, Murphy M, Hoffman EK, George DL. Structure and organization of amplified DNA on double minutes containing the mdm2 oncogene. Genomics. 1993 Feb;15(2):283-90.

248. Cahilly-Snyder L, Yang-Feng T, Francke U, George DL. Molecular analysis and chromosomal mapping of amplified genes isolated from a transformed mouse 3T3 cell line. Somat Cell Mol Genet. 1987 May;13(3):235-44.

249. Jones SN, Roe AE, Donehower LA, Bradley A. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. Nature. 1995 Nov 9;378(6553):206-8.

250. Montes de Oca Luna R, Wagner DS, Lozano G. Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. Nature. 1995 Nov 9;378(6553):203-6.

251. Li M, Brooks CL, Wu-Baer F, Chen D, Baer R, Gu W. Mono- versus polyubiquitination: differential control of p53 fate by Mdm2. Science. 2003 Dec 12;302(5652):1972-5.

252. Momand J, Wu HH, Dasgupta G. MDM2--master regulator of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Gene. 2000 Jan 25;242(1-2):15-29.

253. Oliner JD, Pietenpol JA, Thiagalingam S, Gyuris J, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Oncoprotein MDM2 conceals the activation domain of tumour suppressor p53. Nature. 1993 Apr 29;362(6423):857-60.

254. Itahana K, Mao H, Jin A, Itahana Y, Clegg HV, Lindstrom MS, et al. Targeted inactivation of Mdm2 RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase activity in the mouse reveals mechanistic insights into p53 regulation. Cancer Cell. 2007 Oct;12(4):355-66.

255. Iwakuma T, Lozano G. MDM2, an introduction. Mol Cancer Res. 2003 Dec;1(14):993-1000.

256. Chen J, Marechal V, Levine AJ. Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. Mol Cell Biol. 1993 Jul;13(7):4107-14.

257. Olson DC, Marechal V, Momand J, Chen J, Romocki C, Levine AJ. Identification and characterization of multiple mdm-2 proteins and mdm-2-p53 protein complexes. Oncogene. 1993 Sep;8(9):2353-60.

258. Perry ME, Piette J, Zawadzki JA, Harvey D, Levine AJ. The mdm-2 gene is induced in response to UV light in a p53-dependent manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Dec 15;90(24):11623-7.

259. Bartel F, Taubert H, Harris LC. Alternative and aberrant splicing of MDM2 mRNA in human cancer. Cancer Cell. 2002 Jul;2(1):9-15.

260. Evans SC, Viswanathan M, Grier JD, Narayana M, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. An alternatively spliced HDM2 product increases p53 activity by inhibiting HDM2. Oncogene. 2001 Jul 5;20(30):4041-9.

261. Kawai H, Wiederschain D, Yuan ZM. Critical contribution of the MDM2 acidic domain to p53 ubiquitination. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Jul;23(14):4939-47.

262. Meulmeester E, Frenk R, Stad R, de Graaf P, Marine JC, Vousden KH, et al. Critical role for a central part of Mdm2 in the ubiquitylation of p53. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Jul;23(14):4929-38.

263. Dai MS, Lu H. Inhibition of MDM2-mediated p53 ubiquitination and degradation by ribosomal protein L5. J Biol Chem. 2004 Oct 22;279(43):44475-82.

264. Kulikov R, Winter M, Blattner C. Binding of p53 to the Central Domain of Mdm2 Is Regulated by Phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2006 Sep 29;281(39):28575-83.

265. Wallace M, Worrall E, Pettersson S, Hupp TR, Ball KL. Dual-site regulation of MDM2 E3-ubiquitin ligase activity. Mol Cell. 2006 Jul 21;23(2):251-63.

266. Yu GW, Rudiger S, Veprintsev D, Freund S, Fernandez-Fernandez MR, Fersht AR. The central region of HDM2 provides a second binding site for p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Jan 31;103(5):1227-32. 267. Lindstrom MS, Jin A, Deisenroth C, White Wolf G, Zhang Y. Cancer-associated mutations in the MDM2 zinc finger domain disrupt ribosomal protein interaction and attenuate MDM2-induced p53 degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2007 Feb;27(3):1056-68.

268. Kostic M, Matt T, Martinez-Yamout MA, Dyson HJ, Wright PE. Solution structure of the Hdm2 C2H2C4 RING, a domain critical for ubiquitination of p53. J Mol Biol. 2006 Oct 20;363(2):433-50.

269. Poyurovsky MV, Priest C, Kentsis A, Borden KL, Pan ZQ, Pavletich N, et al. The Mdm2 RING domain C-terminus is required for supramolecular assembly and ubiquitin ligase activity. EMBO J. 2007 Jan 10;26(1):90-101.

270. Uldrijan S, Pannekoek WJ, Vousden KH. An essential function of the extreme C-terminus of MDM2 can be provided by MDMX. Embo J. 2007 Jan 10;26(1):102-12.

271. Poyurovsky MV, Jacq X, Ma C, Karni-Schmidt O, Parker PJ, Chalfie M, et al. Nucleotide binding by the Mdm2 RING domain facilitates Arf-independent Mdm2 nucleolar localization. Mol Cell. 2003 Oct;12(4):875-87.

272. Roth J, Dobbelstein M, Freedman DA, Shenk T, Levine AJ. Nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the hdm2 oncoprotein regulates the levels of the p53 protein via a pathway used by the human immunodeficiency virus rev protein. EMBO J. 1998 Jan 15;17(2):554-64.

273. Lohrum MA, Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Identification of a cryptic nucleolar-localization signal in MDM2. Nat Cell Biol. 2000 Mar;2(3):179-81.

274. Freedman DA, Epstein CB, Roth JC, Levine AJ. A genetic approach to mapping the p53 binding site in the MDM2 protein. Mol Med. 1997 Apr;3(4):248-59.

275. Bottger A, Bottger V, Garcia-Echeverria C, Chene P, Hochkeppel HK, Sampson W, et al. Molecular characterization of the hdm2-p53 interaction. J Mol Biol. 1997 Jun 27;269(5):744-56.

276. Bottger A, Bottger V, Sparks A, Liu WL, Howard SF, Lane DP. Design of a synthetic Mdm2-binding mini protein that activates the p53 response in vivo. Curr Biol. 1997 Nov 1;7(11):860-9.

277. Bottger V, Bottger A, Howard SF, Picksley SM, Chene P, Garcia-Echeverria C, et al. Identification of novel mdm2 binding peptides by phage display. Oncogene. 1996 Nov 21;13(10):2141-7.

278. Lin J, Chen J, Elenbaas B, Levine AJ. Several hydrophobic amino acids in the p53 amino-terminal domain are required for transcriptional activation, binding to mdm-2 and the adenovirus 5 E1B 55-kD protein. Genes Dev. 1994 May 15;8(10):1235-46.

279. Chao C, Saito S, Kang J, Anderson CW, Appella E, Xu Y. p53 transcriptional activity is essential for p53-dependent apoptosis following DNA damage. EMBO J. 2000 Sep 15;19(18):4967-75.

280. Jimenez GS, Nister M, Stommel JM, Beeche M, Barcarse EA, Zhang XQ, et al. A transactivation-deficient mouse model provides insights into Trp53 regulation and function. Nat Genet. 2000 Sep;26(1):37-43.

281. Johnson TM, Hammond EM, Giaccia A, Attardi LD. The p53QS transactivationdeficient mutant shows stress-specific apoptotic activity and induces embryonic lethality. Nat Genet. 2005 Feb;37(2):145-52.

282. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, et al. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science. 2004 Feb 6;303(5659):844-8.

283. Bode AM, Dong Z. Post-translational modification of p53 in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Oct;4(10):793-805.

284. Maya R, Balass M, Kim ST, Shkedy D, Leal JF, Shifman O, et al. ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. Genes Dev. 2001 May 1;15(9):1067-77.

285. Goldberg Z, Vogt Sionov R, Berger M, Zwang Y, Perets R, Van Etten RA, et al. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Mdm2 by c-Abl: implications for p53 regulation. EMBO J. 2002 Jul 15;21(14):3715-27.

286. Ashcroft M, Ludwig RL, Woods DB, Copeland TD, Weber HO, MacRae EJ, et al. Phosphorylation of HDM2 by Akt. Oncogene. 2002 Mar 27;21(13):1955-62.

287. Canman CE, Lim DS, Cimprich KA, Taya Y, Tamai K, Sakaguchi K, et al. Activation of the ATM kinase by ionizing radiation and phosphorylation of p53. Science. 1998 Sep 11;281(5383):1677-9.

288. Khanna KK, Keating KE, Kozlov S, Scott S, Gatei M, Hobson K, et al. ATM associates with and phosphorylates p53: mapping the region of interaction. Nat Genet. 1998 Dec;20(4):398-400.

289. Lakin ND, Hann BC, Jackson SP. The ataxia-telangiectasia related protein ATR mediates DNA-dependent phosphorylation of p53. Oncogene. 1999 Jul 8;18(27):3989-95.

290. Toledo F, Wahl GM. Regulating the p53 pathway: in vitro hypotheses, in vivo veritas. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Dec;6(12):909-23.

291. Wahl GM. Mouse bites dogma: how mouse models are changing our views of how P53 is regulated in vivo. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):973-83.

292. Chao C, Herr D, Chun J, Xu Y. Ser18 and 23 phosphorylation is required for p53dependent apoptosis and tumor suppression. EMBO J. 2006 Jun 7;25(11):2615-22.
293. Zacchi P, Gostissa M, Uchida T, Salvagno C, Avolio F, Volinia S, et al. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 reveals a mechanism to control p53 functions after genotoxic insults. Nature. 2002 Oct 24;419(6909):853-7.

294. Zheng H, You H, Zhou XZ, Murray SA, Uchida T, Wulf G, et al. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 is a regulator of p53 in genotoxic response. Nature. 2002 Oct 24;419(6909):849-53.

295. Berger M, Vogt Sionov R, Levine AJ, Haupt Y. A role for the polyproline domain of p53 in its regulation by Mdm2. J Biol Chem. 2001 Feb 9;276(6):3785-90.

296. Toledo F, Krummel KA, Lee CJ, Liu CW, Rodewald LW, Tang M, et al. A mouse p53 mutant lacking the proline-rich domain rescues Mdm4 deficiency and provides insight into the Mdm2-Mdm4-p53 regulatory network. Cancer Cell. 2006 Apr;9(4):273-85.

297. Bech-Otschir D, Kraft R, Huang X, Henklein P, Kapelari B, Pollmann C, et al. COP9 signalosome-specific phosphorylation targets p53 to degradation by the ubiquitin system. EMBO J. 2001 Apr 2;20(7):1630-9.

298. Yang WH, Kim JE, Nam HW, Ju JW, Kim HS, Kim YS, et al. Modification of p53 with O-linked N-acetylglucosamine regulates p53 activity and stability. Nat Cell Biol. 2006 Oct;8(10):1074-83.

299. Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Lane DP, Hay RT. Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2000 Nov;20(22):8458-67.

300. Nakamura S, Roth JA, Mukhopadhyay T. Multiple lysine mutations in the C-terminal domain of p53 interfere with MDM2-dependent protein degradation and ubiquitination. Mol Cell Biol. 2000 Dec;20(24):9391-8.

301. Nakamura S, Roth JA, Mukhopadhyay T. Multiple lysine mutations in the Cterminus of p53 make it resistant to degradation mediated by MDM2 but not by human papillomavirus E6 and induce growth inhibition in MDM2-overexpressing cells. Oncogene. 2002 Apr 11;21(16):2605-10.

302. Abida WM, Nikolaev A, Zhao W, Zhang W, Gu W. FBXO11 promotes the Neddylation of p53 and inhibits its transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem. 2007 Jan 19;282(3):1797-804.

303. Gostissa M, Hengstermann A, Fogal V, Sandy P, Schwarz SE, Scheffner M, et al. Activation of p53 by conjugation to the ubiquitin-like protein SUMO-1. EMBO J. 1999 Nov 15;18(22):6462-71.

304. Kwek SS, Derry J, Tyner AL, Shen Z, Gudkov AV. Functional analysis and intracellular localization of p53 modified by SUMO-1. Oncogene. 2001 May 3;20(20):2587-99.

305. Muller S, Berger M, Lehembre F, Seeler JS, Haupt Y, Dejean A. c-Jun and p53 activity is modulated by SUMO-1 modification. J Biol Chem. 2000 May 5;275(18):13321-9.

306. Avantaggiati ML, Ogryzko V, Gardner K, Giordano A, Levine AS, Kelly K. Recruitment of p300/CBP in p53-dependent signal pathways. Cell. 1997 Jun 27;89(7):1175-84.

307. Lill NL, Grossman SR, Ginsberg D, DeCaprio J, Livingston DM. Binding and modulation of p53 by p300/CBP coactivators. Nature. 1997 Jun 19;387(6635):823-7.

308. Liu L, Scolnick DM, Trievel RC, Zhang HB, Marmorstein R, Halazonetis TD, et al. p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 Feb;19(2):1202-9.

309. Luo J, Su F, Chen D, Shiloh A, Gu W. Deacetylation of p53 modulates its effect on cell growth and apoptosis. Nature. 2000 Nov 16;408(6810):377-81.

310. Luo J, Nikolaev AY, Imai S, Chen D, Su F, Shiloh A, et al. Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell. 2001 Oct 19;107(2):137-48.

311. Ito A, Lai CH, Zhao X, Saito S, Hamilton MH, Appella E, et al. p300/CBPmediated p53 acetylation is commonly induced by p53-activating agents and inhibited by MDM2. EMBO J. 2001 Mar 15;20(6):1331-40.

312. Chuikov S, Kurash JK, Wilson JR, Xiao B, Justin N, Ivanov GS, et al. Regulation of p53 activity through lysine methylation. Nature. 2004 Nov 18;432(7015):353-60.

313. Feng L, Lin T, Uranishi H, Gu W, Xu Y. Functional analysis of the roles of posttranslational modifications at the p53 C terminus in regulating p53 stability and activity. Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Jul;25(13):5389-95.

314. Krummel KA, Lee CJ, Toledo F, Wahl GM. The C-terminal lysines fine-tune P53 stress responses in a mouse model but are not required for stability control or transactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Jul 19;102(29):10188-93.

315. Grossman SR, Deato ME, Brignone C, Chan HM, Kung AL, Tagami H, et al. Polyubiquitination of p53 by a ubiquitin ligase activity of p300. Science. 2003 Apr 11;300(5617):342-4.

316. Gronroos E, Terentiev AA, Punga T, Ericsson J. YY1 inhibits the activation of the p53 tumor suppressor in response to genotoxic stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Aug 17;101(33):12165-70.

317. Sui G, Affar el B, Shi Y, Brignone C, Wall NR, Yin P, et al. Yin Yang 1 is a negative regulator of p53. Cell. 2004 Jun 25;117(7):859-72.

318. Higashitsuji H, Itoh K, Sakurai T, Nagao T, Sumitomo Y, Masuda T, et al. The oncoprotein gankyrin binds to MDM2/HDM2, enhancing ubiquitylation and degradation of p53. Cancer Cell. 2005 Jul;8(1):75-87.

319. Brady M, Vlatkovic N, Boyd MT. Regulation of p53 and MDM2 activity by MTBP. Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Jan;25(2):545-53.

320. Higashitsuji H, Itoh K, Nagao T, Dawson S, Nonoguchi K, Kido T, et al. Reduced stability of retinoblastoma protein by gankyrin, an oncogenic ankyrin-repeat protein overexpressed in hepatomas. Nat Med. 2000 Jan;6(1):96-9.

321. Gordon S, Akopyan G, Garban H, Bonavida B. Transcription factor YY1: structure, function, and therapeutic implications in cancer biology. Oncogene. 2006 Feb 23;25(8):1125-42.

322. Iwakuma T, Tochigi Y, Van Pelt CS, Caldwell LC, Terzian T, Parant JM, et al. Mtbp haploinsufficiency in mice increases tumor metastasis. Oncogene. 2008 Mar 20;27(13):1813-20.

323. De Flora S, Balansky RM, D'Agostini F, Izzotti A, Camoirano A, Bennicelli C, et al. Molecular alterations and lung tumors in p53 mutant mice exposed to cigarette smoke. Cancer Res. 2003 Feb 15;63(4):793-800.

324. Colaluca IN, Tosoni D, Nuciforo P, Senic-Matuglia F, Galimberti V, Viale G, et al. NUMB controls p53 tumour suppressor activity. Nature. 2008 Jan 3;451(7174):76-80.

325. Juven-Gershon T, Shifman O, Unger T, Elkeles A, Haupt Y, Oren M. The Mdm2 oncoprotein interacts with the cell fate regulator Numb. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Jul;18(7):3974-82.

326. Li L, Liao J, Ruland J, Mak TW, Cohen SN. A TSG101/MDM2 regulatory loop modulates MDM2 degradation and MDM2/p53 feedback control. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Feb 13;98(4):1619-24.

327. Ruland J, Sirard C, Elia A, MacPherson D, Wakeham A, Li L, et al. p53 accumulation, defective cell proliferation, and early embryonic lethality in mice lacking tsg101. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Feb 13;98(4):1859-64.

328. Argentini M, Barboule N, Wasylyk B. The contribution of the acidic domain of MDM2 to p53 and MDM2 stability. Oncogene. 2001 Mar 15;20(11):1267-75.

329. Blattner C, Hay T, Meek DW, Lane DP. Hypophosphorylation of Mdm2 augments p53 stability. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Sep;22(17):6170-82.

330. Brignone C, Bradley KE, Kisselev AF, Grossman SR. A post-ubiquitination role for MDM2 and hHR23A in the p53 degradation pathway. Oncogene. 2004 May 20;23(23):4121-9.

331. Glockzin S, Ogi FX, Hengstermann A, Scheffner M, Blattner C. Involvement of the DNA repair protein hHR23 in p53 degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Dec;23(24):8960-9.

332. Florenes VA, Maelandsmo GM, Forus A, Andreassen A, Myklebost O, Fodstad O. MDM2 gene amplification and transcript levels in human sarcomas: relationship to TP53 gene status. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994 Sep 7;86(17):1297-302.

333. Leach FS, Tokino T, Meltzer P, Burrell M, Oliner JD, Smith S, et al. p53 Mutation and MDM2 amplification in human soft tissue sarcomas. Cancer Res. 1993 May 15;53(10 Suppl):2231-4.

334. Momand J, Jung D, Wilczynski S, Niland J. The MDM2 gene amplification database. Nucleic Acids Res. 1998 Aug 1;26(15):3453-9.

335. Nakayama T, Toguchida J, Wadayama B, Kanoe H, Kotoura Y, Sasaki MS. MDM2 gene amplification in bone and soft-tissue tumors: association with tumor progression in differentiated adipose-tissue tumors. Int J Cancer. 1995 Oct 20;64(5):342-6.

336. Oliner JD, Kinzler KW, Meltzer PS, George DL, Vogelstein B. Amplification of a gene encoding a p53-associated protein in human sarcomas. Nature. 1992 Jul 2;358(6381):80-3.

337. Bond GL, Hu W, Bond EE, Robins H, Lutzker SG, Arva NC, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the MDM2 promoter attenuates the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and accelerates tumor formation in humans. Cell. 2004 Nov 24;119(5):591-602.

338. Bond GL, Hirshfield KM, Kirchhoff T, Alexe G, Bond EE, Robins H, et al. MDM2 SNP309 accelerates tumor formation in a gender-specific and hormone-dependent manner. Cancer Res. 2006 May 15;66(10):5104-10.

339. Cummins JM, Rago C, Kohli M, Kinzler KW, Lengauer C, Vogelstein B. Tumour suppression: disruption of HAUSP gene stabilizes p53. Nature. 2004 Apr 1;428(6982):1 p following 486.

340. Li M, Brooks CL, Kon N, Gu W. A dynamic role of HAUSP in the p53-Mdm2 pathway. Mol Cell. 2004 Mar 26;13(6):879-86.

341. Stevenson LF, Sparks A, Allende-Vega N, Xirodimas DP, Lane DP, Saville MK. The deubiquitinating enzyme USP2a regulates the p53 pathway by targeting Mdm2. EMBO J. 2007 Feb 21;26(4):976-86.

342. Shvarts A, Steegenga WT, Riteco N, van Laar T, Dekker P, Bazuine M, et al. MDMX: a novel p53-binding protein with some functional properties of MDM2. EMBO J. 1996 Oct 1;15(19):5349-57.

343. Shvarts A, Bazuine M, Dekker P, Ramos YF, Steegenga WT, Merckx G, et al. Isolation and identification of the human homolog of a new p53-binding protein, Mdmx. Genomics. 1997 Jul 1;43(1):34-42.

344. Bottger V, Bottger A, Garcia-Echeverria C, Ramos YF, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG, et al. Comparative study of the p53-mdm2 and p53-MDMX interfaces. Oncogene. 1999 Jan 7;18(1):189-99.

345. Jackson MW, Lindstrom MS, Berberich SJ. MdmX binding to ARF affects Mdm2 protein stability and p53 transactivation. J Biol Chem. 2001 Jul 6;276(27):25336-41.

346. Stad R, Little NA, Xirodimas DP, Frenk R, van der Eb AJ, Lane DP, et al. Mdmx stabilizes p53 and Mdm2 via two distinct mechanisms. EMBO Rep. 2001 Nov;2(11):1029-34.

347. Tanimura S, Ohtsuka S, Mitsui K, Shirouzu K, Yoshimura A, Ohtsubo M. MDM2 interacts with MDMX through their RING finger domains. FEBS Lett. 1999 Mar 19;447(1):5-9.

348. Parant J, Chavez-Reyes A, Little NA, Yan W, Reinke V, Jochemsen AG, et al. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm4-null mice by loss of Trp53 suggests a nonoverlapping pathway with MDM2 to regulate p53. Nat Genet. 2001 Sep;29(1):92-5.

349. Migliorini D, Danovi D, Colombo E, Carbone R, Pelicci PG, Marine JC. Hdmx recruitment into the nucleus by Hdm2 is essential for its ability to regulate p53 stability and transactivation. J Biol Chem. 2002 Mar 1;277(9):7318-23.

350. Finch RA, Donoviel DB, Potter D, Shi M, Fan A, Freed DD, et al. mdmx is a negative regulator of p53 activity in vivo. Cancer Res. 2002 Jun 1;62(11):3221-5.

351. Marine JC, Francoz S, Maetens M, Wahl G, Toledo F, Lozano G. Keeping p53 in check: essential and synergistic functions of Mdm2 and Mdm4. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):927-34.

352. Francoz S, Froment P, Bogaerts S, De Clercq S, Maetens M, Doumont G, et al. Mdm4 and Mdm2 cooperate to inhibit p53 activity in proliferating and quiescent cells in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Feb 28;103(9):3232-7.

353. Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM, Levine AJ, Howley PM. The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. Cell. 1990 Dec 21;63(6):1129-36.

354. Weger S, Hammer E, Heilbronn R. Topors, a p53 and topoisomerase I binding protein, interacts with the adeno-associated virus (AAV-2) Rep78/68 proteins and enhances AAV-2 gene expression. J Gen Virol. 2002 Mar;83(Pt 3):511-6.

355. Esser C, Scheffner M, Hohfeld J. The chaperone-associated ubiquitin ligase CHIP is able to target p53 for proteasomal degradation. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jul 22;280(29):27443-8.

356. Andrews P, He YJ, Xiong Y. Cytoplasmic localized ubiquitin ligase cullin 7 binds to p53 and promotes cell growth by antagonizing p53 function. Oncogene. 2006 Aug 3;25(33):4534-48.

357. Yamasaki S, Yagishita N, Sasaki T, Nakazawa M, Kato Y, Yamadera T, et al. Cytoplasmic destruction of p53 by the endoplasmic reticulum-resident ubiquitin ligase 'Synoviolin'. EMBO J. 2007 Jan 10;26(1):113-22.

358. Laine A, Ronai Z. Regulation of p53 localization and transcription by the HECT domain E3 ligase WWP1. Oncogene. 2007 Mar 1;26(10):1477-83.

359. Yang W, El-Deiry WS. CARPs are E3 ligases that target apical caspases and p53. Cancer Biol Ther. 2007 Nov;6(11):1676-83.

360. Yamasaki S, Yagishita N, Sasaki T, Nakazawa M, Kato Y, Yamadera T, et al. Cytoplasmic destruction of p53 by the endoplasmic reticulum-resident ubiquitin ligase 'Synoviolin'. Embo J. 2006 Dec 14.

361. Tang J, Qu LK, Zhang J, Wang W, Michaelson JS, Degenhardt YY, et al. Critical role for Daxx in regulating Mdm2. Nat Cell Biol. 2006 Aug;8(8):855-62.

362. Tripathi V, Ali A, Bhat R, Pati U. CHIP chaperones wild type p53 tumor suppressor protein. J Biol Chem. 2007 Sep 28;282(39):28441-54.

363. Laine A, Topisirovic I, Zhai D, Reed JC, Borden KL, Ronai Z. Regulation of p53 localization and activity by Ubc13. Mol Cell Biol. 2006 Dec;26(23):8901-13.

364. Asher G, Bercovich Z, Tsvetkov P, Shaul Y, Kahana C. 20S proteasomal degradation of ornithine decarboxylase is regulated by NQO1. Mol Cell. 2005 Mar 4;17(5):645-55.

365. Asher G, Tsvetkov P, Kahana C, Shaul Y. A mechanism of ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degradation of the tumor suppressors p53 and p73. Genes Dev. 2005 Feb 1;19(3):316-21.

366. Liang SH, Clarke MF. Regulation of p53 localization. Eur J Biochem. 2001 May;268(10):2779-83.

367. Shaulsky G, Ben-Ze'ev A, Rotter V. Subcellular distribution of the p53 protein during the cell cycle of Balb/c 3T3 cells. Oncogene. 1990 Nov;5(11):1707-11.

368. Middeler G, Zerf K, Jenovai S, Thulig A, Tschodrich-Rotter M, Kubitscheck U, et al. The tumor suppressor p53 is subject to both nuclear import and export, and both are fast, energy-dependent and lectin-inhibited. Oncogene. 1997 Mar 27;14(12):1407-17.

369. Shaulsky G, Goldfinger N, Tosky MS, Levine AJ, Rotter V. Nuclear localization is essential for the activity of p53 protein. Oncogene. 1991 Nov;6(11):2055-65.

370. Zhang Y, Xiong Y. A p53 amino-terminal nuclear export signal inhibited by DNA damage-induced phosphorylation. Science. 2001 Jun 8;292(5523):1910-5.

371. Lohrum MA, Woods DB, Ludwig RL, Balint E, Vousden KH. C-terminal ubiquitination of p53 contributes to nuclear export. Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Dec;21(24):8521-32.

372. Boyd SD, Tsai KY, Jacks T. An intact HDM2 RING-finger domain is required for nuclear exclusion of p53. Nat Cell Biol. 2000 Sep;2(9):563-8.

373. Gu J, Nie L, Wiederschain D, Yuan ZM. Identification of p53 sequence elements that are required for MDM2-mediated nuclear export. Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Dec;21(24):8533-46.

374. Geyer RK, Yu ZK, Maki CG. The MDM2 RING-finger domain is required to promote p53 nuclear export. Nat Cell Biol. 2000 Sep;2(9):569-73.

375. Nikolaev AY, Li M, Puskas N, Qin J, Gu W. Parc: a cytoplasmic anchor for p53.Cell. 2003 Jan 10;112(1):29-40.

376. Wadhwa R, Takano S, Robert M, Yoshida A, Nomura H, Reddel RR, et al. Inactivation of tumor suppressor p53 by mot-2, a hsp70 family member. J Biol Chem. 1998 Nov 6;273(45):29586-91.

377. Chipuk JE, Green DR. Cytoplasmic p53: bax and forward. Cell Cycle. 2004 Apr;3(4):429-31.

378. Chipuk JE, Kuwana T, Bouchier-Hayes L, Droin NM, Newmeyer DD, Schuler M, et al. Direct activation of Bax by p53 mediates mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. Science. 2004 Feb 13;303(5660):1010-4.

379. Marchenko ND, Wolff S, Erster S, Becker K, Moll UM. Monoubiquitylation promotes mitochondrial p53 translocation. EMBO J. 2007 Feb 21;26(4):923-34.

380. Moll UM, Riou G, Levine AJ. Two distinct mechanisms alter p53 in breast cancer: mutation and nuclear exclusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 Aug 1;89(15):7262-6.

381. Bosari S, Viale G, Roncalli M, Graziani D, Borsani G, Lee AK, et al. p53 gene mutations, p53 protein accumulation and compartmentalization in colorectal adenocarcinoma. Am J Pathol. 1995 Sep;147(3):790-8.

382. Moll UM, LaQuaglia M, Benard J, Riou G. Wild-type p53 protein undergoes cytoplasmic sequestration in undifferentiated neuroblastomas but not in differentiated tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 May 9;92(10):4407-11.

383. Ueda H, Ullrich SJ, Gangemi JD, Kappel CA, Ngo L, Feitelson MA, et al. Functional inactivation but not structural mutation of p53 causes liver cancer. Nat Genet. 1995 Jan;9(1):41-7.

384. Schlamp CL, Poulsen GL, Nork TM, Nickells RW. Nuclear exclusion of wild-type p53 in immortalized human retinoblastoma cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997 Oct 15;89(20):1530-6.

385. Flaman JM, Waridel F, Estreicher A, Vannier A, Limacher JM, Gilbert D, et al. The human tumour suppressor gene p53 is alternatively spliced in normal cells. Oncogene. 1996 Feb 15;12(4):813-8.

386. Yin Y, Stephen CW, Luciani MG, Fahraeus R. p53 Stability and activity is regulated by Mdm2-mediated induction of alternative p53 translation products. Nat Cell Biol. 2002 Jun;4(6):462-7.

387. Ghosh A, Stewart D, Matlashewski G. Regulation of human p53 activity and cell localization by alternative splicing. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Sep;24(18):7987-97.

388. Bourdon JC, Fernandes K, Murray-Zmijewski F, Liu G, Diot A, Xirodimas DP, et al. p53 isoforms can regulate p53 transcriptional activity. Genes Dev. 2005 Sep 15;19(18):2122-37.

389. Bourdon JC. p53 and its isoforms in cancer. Br J Cancer. 2007 Aug 6;97(3):277-82.
390. Yang A, Schweitzer R, Sun D, Kaghad M, Walker N, Bronson RT, et al. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. Nature. 1999 Apr 22;398(6729):714-8.

391. Kaghad M, Bonnet H, Yang A, Creancier L, Biscan JC, Valent A, et al. Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastoma and other human cancers. Cell. 1997 Aug 22;90(4):809-19.

392. Deyoung MP, Ellisen LW. p63 and p73 in human cancer: defining the network. Oncogene. 2007 Aug 9;26(36):5169-83.

393. Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH. p73: Friend or foe in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002 Aug;2(8):605-15.

394. Moll UM, Slade N. p63 and p73: roles in development and tumor formation. Mol Cancer Res. 2004 Jul;2(7):371-86.

395. Jost CA, Marin MC, Kaelin WG, Jr. p73 is a simian [correction of human] p53related protein that can induce apoptosis. Nature. 1997 Sep 11;389(6647):191-4.

396. Lee CW, La Thangue NB. Promoter specificity and stability control of the p53-related protein p73. Oncogene. 1999 Jul 22;18(29):4171-81.

397. Nakano K, Balint E, Ashcroft M, Vousden KH. A ribonucleotide reductase gene is a transcriptional target of p53 and p73. Oncogene. 2000 Aug 31;19(37):4283-9.

398. Zhu J, Jiang J, Zhou W, Chen X. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. Cancer Res. 1998 Nov 15;58(22):5061-5.

399. Irwin M, Marin MC, Phillips AC, Seelan RS, Smith DI, Liu W, et al. Role for the p53 homologue p73 in E2F-1-induced apoptosis. Nature. 2000 Oct 5;407(6804):645-8.

400. Harms K, Nozell S, Chen X. The common and distinct target genes of the p53 family transcription factors. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2004 Apr;61(7-8):822-42.

401. De Laurenzi V, Rossi A, Terrinoni A, Barcaroli D, Levrero M, Costanzo A, et al. p63 and p73 transactivate differentiation gene promoters in human keratinocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Jun 24;273(1):342-6.

402. Sah VP, Attardi LD, Mulligan GJ, Williams BO, Bronson RT, Jacks T. A subset of p53-deficient embryos exhibit exencephaly. Nat Genet. 1995 Jun;10(2):175-80.

403. Rotter V, Schwartz D, Almon E, Goldfinger N, Kapon A, Meshorer A, et al. Mice with reduced levels of p53 protein exhibit the testicular giant-cell degenerative syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Oct 1;90(19):9075-9.

404. Yang A, Walker N, Bronson R, Kaghad M, Oosterwegel M, Bonnin J, et al. p73deficient mice have neurological, pheromonal and inflammatory defects but lack spontaneous tumours. Nature. 2000 Mar 2;404(6773):99-103.

405. Yang A, Kaghad M, Wang Y, Gillett E, Fleming MD, Dotsch V, et al. p63, a p53 homolog at 3q27-29, encodes multiple products with transactivating, death-inducing, and dominant-negative activities. Mol Cell. 1998 Sep;2(3):305-16.

406. Ishimoto O, Kawahara C, Enjo K, Obinata M, Nukiwa T, Ikawa S. Possible oncogenic potential of DeltaNp73: a newly identified isoform of human p73. Cancer Res. 2002 Feb 1;62(3):636-41.

407. Courtois S, Verhaegh G, North S, Luciani MG, Lassus P, Hibner U, et al. DeltaNp53, a natural isoform of p53 lacking the first transactivation domain, counteracts growth suppression by wild-type p53. Oncogene. 2002 Oct 3;21(44):6722-8.

408. Stiewe T, Theseling CC, Putzer BM. Transactivation-deficient Delta TA-p73 inhibits p53 by direct competition for DNA binding: implications for tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem. 2002 Apr 19;277(16):14177-85.

409. Nakagawa T, Takahashi M, Ozaki T, Watanabe Ki K, Todo S, Mizuguchi H, et al. Autoinhibitory regulation of p73 by Delta Np73 to modulate cell survival and death through a p73-specific target element within the Delta Np73 promoter. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Apr;22(8):2575-85.

410. Kartasheva NN, Contente A, Lenz-Stoppler C, Roth J, Dobbelstein M. p53 induces the expression of its antagonist p73 Delta N, establishing an autoregulatory feedback loop. Oncogene. 2002 Jul 18;21(31):4715-27.

411. Zaika AI, Slade N, Erster SH, Sansome C, Joseph TW, Pearl M, et al. DeltaNp73, a dominant-negative inhibitor of wild-type p53 and TAp73, is up-regulated in human tumors. J Exp Med. 2002 Sep 16;196(6):765-80.

412. Concin N, Becker K, Slade N, Erster S, Mueller-Holzner E, Ulmer H, et al. Transdominant DeltaTAp73 isoforms are frequently up-regulated in ovarian cancer. Evidence for their role as epigenetic p53 inhibitors in vivo. Cancer Res. 2004 Apr 1;64(7):2449-60.

413. Hibi K, Trink B, Patturajan M, Westra WH, Caballero OL, Hill DE, et al. AIS is an oncogene amplified in squamous cell carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 May 9;97(10):5462-7.

414. DeYoung MP, Johannessen CM, Leong CO, Faquin W, Rocco JW, Ellisen LW. Tumor-specific p73 up-regulation mediates p63 dependence in squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2006 Oct 1;66(19):9362-8.

415. Concin N, Hofstetter G, Berger A, Gehmacher A, Reimer D, Watrowski R, et al. Clinical relevance of dominant-negative p73 isoforms for responsiveness to chemotherapy and survival in ovarian cancer: evidence for a crucial p53-p73 cross-talk in vivo. Clin Cancer Res. 2005 Dec 1;11(23):8372-83.

416. Balint E, Bates S, Vousden KH. Mdm2 binds p73 alpha without targeting degradation. Oncogene. 1999 Jul 8;18(27):3923-9.

417. Dobbelstein M, Wienzek S, Konig C, Roth J. Inactivation of the p53-homologue p73 by the mdm2-oncoprotein. Oncogene. 1999 Mar 25;18(12):2101-6.

418. Zeng X, Chen L, Jost CA, Maya R, Keller D, Wang X, et al. MDM2 suppresses p73 function without promoting p73 degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 May;19(5):3257-66.

419. Gu J, Chen D, Rosenblum J, Rubin RM, Yuan ZM. Identification of a sequence element from p53 that signals for Mdm2-targeted degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2000 Feb;20(4):1243-53.

420. Miyazaki K, Ozaki T, Kato C, Hanamoto T, Fujita T, Irino S, et al. A novel HECTtype E3 ubiquitin ligase, NEDL2, stabilizes p73 and enhances its transcriptional activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 Aug 15;308(1):106-13.

421. Rossi M, Aqeilan RI, Neale M, Candi E, Salomoni P, Knight RA, et al. The E3 ubiquitin ligase Itch controls the protein stability of p63. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Aug 22;103(34):12753-8.

422. Rossi M, De Laurenzi V, Munarriz E, Green DR, Liu YC, Vousden KH, et al. The ubiquitin-protein ligase Itch regulates p73 stability. Embo J. 2005 Feb 23;24(4):836-48.

423. Minty A, Dumont X, Kaghad M, Caput D. Covalent modification of p73alpha by SUMO-1. Two-hybrid screening with p73 identifies novel SUMO-1-interacting proteins and a SUMO-1 interaction motif. J Biol Chem. 2000 Nov 17;275(46):36316-23.

424. Tomasini R, Tsuchihara K, Wilhelm M, Fujitani M, Rufini A, Cheung CC, et al. TAp73 knockout shows genomic instability with infertility and tumor suppressor functions. Genes Dev. 2008 Oct 1;22(19):2677-91.

425. Santibanez-Koref MF, Birch JM, Hartley AL, Jones PH, Craft AW, Eden T, et al.
p53 germline mutations in Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Lancet. 1991 Dec 14;338(8781):14901.

426. Olivier M, Goldgar DE, Sodha N, Ohgaki H, Kleihues P, Hainaut P, et al. Li-Fraumeni and related syndromes: correlation between tumor type, family structure, and TP53 genotype. Cancer Res. 2003 Oct 15;63(20):6643-50.

427. Lee SB, Kim SH, Bell DW, Wahrer DC, Schiripo TA, Jorczak MM, et al. Destabilization of CHK2 by a missense mutation associated with Li-Fraumeni Syndrome. Cancer Res. 2001 Nov 15;61(22):8062-7.

428. Vahteristo P, Tamminen A, Karvinen P, Eerola H, Eklund C, Aaltonen LA, et al. p53, CHK2, and CHK1 genes in Finnish families with Li-Fraumeni syndrome: further evidence of CHK2 in inherited cancer predisposition. Cancer Res. 2001 Aug 1;61(15):5718-22.

429. Soussi T, Lozano G. p53 mutation heterogeneity in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005 Jun 10;331(3):834-42.

430. Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, et al. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. Hum Mutat. 2007 Jun;28(6):622-9.

431. Baker SJ, Fearon ER, Nigro JM, Hamilton SR, Preisinger AC, Jessup JM, et al. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science. 1989 Apr 14;244(4901):217-21.

432. Nigro JM, Baker SJ, Preisinger AC, Jessup JM, Hostetter R, Cleary K, et al. Mutations in the p53 gene occur in diverse human tumour types. Nature. 1989 Dec 7;342(6250):705-8.

433. Takahashi T, Nau MM, Chiba I, Birrer MJ, Rosenberg RK, Vinocour M, et al. p53: a frequent target for genetic abnormalities in lung cancer. Science. 1989 Oct 27;246(4929):491-4.

434. Bastien R, Lewis TB, Hawkes JE, Quackenbush JF, Robbins TC, Palazzo J, et al. High-throughput amplicon scanning of the TP53 gene in breast cancer using high-resolution fluorescent melting curve analyses and automatic mutation calling. Hum Mutat. 2008 May;29(5):757-64.

435. Bullock AN, Henckel J, DeDecker BS, Johnson CM, Nikolova PV, Proctor MR, et al. Thermodynamic stability of wild-type and mutant p53 core domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Dec 23;94(26):14338-42.

436. Wong KB, DeDecker BS, Freund SM, Proctor MR, Bycroft M, Fersht AR. Hotspot mutants of p53 core domain evince characteristic local structural changes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Jul 20;96(15):8438-42.

437. Cook A, Milner J. Evidence for allosteric variants of wild-type p53, a tumour suppressor protein. Br J Cancer. 1990 Apr;61(4):548-52.

438. Wang PL, Sait F, Winter G. The 'wildtype' conformation of p53: epitope mapping using hybrid proteins. Oncogene. 2001 Apr 26;20(18):2318-24.

439. Gannon JV, Greaves R, Iggo R, Lane DP. Activating mutations in p53 produce a common conformational effect. A monoclonal antibody specific for the mutant form. EMBO J. 1990 May;9(5):1595-602.

440. Friedler A, DeDecker BS, Freund SM, Blair C, Rudiger S, Fersht AR. Structural distortion of p53 by the mutation R249S and its rescue by a designed peptide: implications for "mutant conformation". J Mol Biol. 2004 Feb 6;336(1):187-96.

441. Joerger AC, Ang HC, Fersht AR. Structural basis for understanding oncogenic p53 mutations and designing rescue drugs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Oct 10;103(41):15056-61.

442. Joerger AC, Ang HC, Veprintsev DB, Blair CM, Fersht AR. Structures of p53 cancer mutants and mechanism of rescue by second-site suppressor mutations. J Biol Chem. 2005 Apr 22;280(16):16030-7.

443. Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structural Biology of the Tumor Suppressor p53 and Cancer-Associated Mutants. Adv Cancer Res. 2007;97:1-23.

444. Tidow H, Melero R, Mylonas E, Freund SM, Grossmann JG, Carazo JM, et al. Quaternary structures of tumor suppressor p53 and a specific p53 DNA complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Jul 24;104(30):12324-9.

445. Di Como CJ, Prives C. Human tumor-derived p53 proteins exhibit binding site selectivity and temperature sensitivity for transactivation in a yeast-based assay. Oncogene. 1998 May 14;16(19):2527-39.

446. Zhang W, Guo XY, Hu GY, Liu WB, Shay JW, Deisseroth AB. A temperaturesensitive mutant of human p53. EMBO J. 1994 Jun 1;13(11):2535-44.

447. Shiraishi K, Kato S, Han SY, Liu W, Otsuka K, Sakayori M, et al. Isolation of temperature-sensitive p53 mutations from a comprehensive missense mutation library. J Biol Chem. 2004 Jan 2;279(1):348-55.

448. Murphy ME. Polymorphic variants in the p53 pathway. Cell Death Differ. 2006 Jun;13(6):916-20.

449. Dumont P, Leu JI, Della Pietra AC, 3rd, George DL, Murphy M. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. Nat Genet. 2003 Mar;33(3):357-65.

450. Bergamaschi D, Samuels Y, Sullivan A, Zvelebil M, Breyssens H, Bisso A, et al. iASPP preferentially binds p53 proline-rich region and modulates apoptotic function of codon 72-polymorphic p53. Nat Genet. 2006 Oct;38(10):1133-41.

451. Hinds PW, Finlay CA, Frey AB, Levine AJ. Immunological evidence for the association of p53 with a heat shock protein, hsc70, in p53-plus-ras-transformed cell lines. Mol Cell Biol. 1987 Aug;7(8):2863-9.

452. Fourie AM, Hupp TR, Lane DP, Sang BC, Barbosa MS, Sambrook JF, et al. HSP70 binding sites in the tumor suppressor protein p53. J Biol Chem. 1997 Aug 1;272(31):19471-9.

453. Whitesell L, Sutphin PD, Pulcini EJ, Martinez JD, Cook PH. The physical association of multiple molecular chaperone proteins with mutant p53 is altered by geldanamycin, an hsp90-binding agent. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Mar;18(3):1517-24.

454. Blagosklonny MV, Toretsky J, Bohen S, Neckers L. Mutant conformation of p53 translated in vitro or in vivo requires functional HSP90. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Aug 6;93(16):8379-83.

455. Muller P, Hrstka R, Coomber D, Lane DP, Vojtesek B. Chaperone-dependent stabilization and degradation of p53 mutants. Oncogene. 2008 May 29;27(24):3371-83.

456. Iwabuchi K, Bartel PL, Li B, Marraccino R, Fields S. Two cellular proteins that bind to wild-type but not mutant p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Jun 21;91(13):6098-102.

457. Ludwig RL, Bates S, Vousden KH. Differential activation of target cellular promoters by p53 mutants with impaired apoptotic function. Mol Cell Biol. 1996 Sep;16(9):4952-60.

458. Di Como CJ, Gaiddon C, Prives C. p73 function is inhibited by tumor-derived p53 mutants in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 Feb;19(2):1438-49.

459. Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. Nat Genet. 2000 May;25(1):47-54.

460. Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, et al. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. J Biol Chem. 2000 Sep 22;275(38):29503-12.

461. Gaiddon C, Lokshin M, Ahn J, Zhang T, Prives C. A subset of tumor-derived mutant forms of p53 down-regulate p63 and p73 through a direct interaction with the p53 core domain. Mol Cell Biol. 2001 Mar;21(5):1874-87.

462. Irwin MS, Kondo K, Marin MC, Cheng LS, Hahn WC, Kaelin WG, Jr. Chemosensitivity linked to p73 function. Cancer Cell. 2003 Apr;3(4):403-10.

463. Bergamaschi D, Gasco M, Hiller L, Sullivan A, Syed N, Trigiante G, et al. p53 polymorphism influences response in cancer chemotherapy via modulation of p73-dependent apoptosis. Cancer Cell. 2003 Apr;3(4):387-402.

464. Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, et al. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. J Biol Chem. 2002 May 24;277(21):18817-26.

465. Resnick MA, Inga A. Functional mutants of the sequence-specific transcription factor p53 and implications for master genes of diversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Aug 19;100(17):9934-9.

466. Liu G, Parant JM, Lang G, Chau P, Chavez-Reyes A, El-Naggar AK, et al. Chromosome stability, in the absence of apoptosis, is critical for suppression of tumorigenesis in Trp53 mutant mice. Nat Genet. 2004 Jan;36(1):63-8.

467. Kato S, Han SY, Liu W, Otsuka K, Shibata H, Kanamaru R, et al. Understanding the function-structure and function-mutation relationships of p53 tumor suppressor protein by high-resolution missense mutation analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Jul 8;100(14):8424-9.

468. Eliyahu D, Goldfinger N, Pinhasi-Kimhi O, Shaulsky G, Skurnik Y, Arai N, et al. Meth A fibrosarcoma cells express two transforming mutant p53 species. Oncogene. 1988 Sep;3(3):313-21.

469. Srivastava S, Wang S, Tong YA, Hao ZM, Chang EH. Dominant negative effect of a germ-line mutant p53: a step fostering tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 1993 Oct 1;53(19):4452-5.

470. Hachiya M, Chumakov A, Miller CW, Akashi M, Said J, Koeffler HP. Mutant p53 proteins behave in a dominant, negative fashion in vivo. Anticancer Res. 1994 Sep-Oct;14(5A):1853-9.

471. Ostermeyer AG, Runko E, Winkfield B, Ahn B, Moll UM. Cytoplasmically sequestered wild-type p53 protein in neuroblastoma is relocated to the nucleus by a C-terminal peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Dec 24;93(26):15190-4.

472. Chene P. In vitro analysis of the dominant negative effect of p53 mutants. J Mol Biol. 1998 Aug 14;281(2):205-9.

473. Willis A, Jung EJ, Wakefield T, Chen X. Mutant p53 exerts a dominant negative effect by preventing wild-type p53 from binding to the promoter of its target genes. Oncogene. 2004 Mar 25;23(13):2330-8.

474. Gottlieb E, Haffner R, von Ruden T, Wagner EF, Oren M. Down-regulation of wild-type p53 activity interferes with apoptosis of IL-3-dependent hematopoietic cells following IL-3 withdrawal. EMBO J. 1994 Mar 15;13(6):1368-74.

475. Aloni-Grinstein R, Schwartz D, Rotter V. Accumulation of wild-type p53 protein upon gamma-irradiation induces a G2 arrest-dependent immunoglobulin kappa light chain gene expression. EMBO J. 1995 Apr 3;14(7):1392-401.

476. Aloni-Grinstein R, Zan-Bar I, Alboum I, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. Wild type p53 functions as a control protein in the differentiation pathway of the B-cell lineage. Oncogene. 1993 Dec;8(12):3297-305.

477. Mekeel KL, Tang W, Kachnic LA, Luo CM, DeFrank JS, Powell SN. Inactivation of p53 results in high rates of homologous recombination. Oncogene. 1997 Apr 17;14(15):1847-57.

478. Hicks GG, Egan SE, Greenberg AH, Mowat M. Mutant p53 tumor suppressor alleles release ras-induced cell cycle growth arrest. Mol Cell Biol. 1991 Mar;11(3):1344-52.

479. Unger T, Mietz JA, Scheffner M, Yee CL, Howley PM. Functional domains of wild-type and mutant p53 proteins involved in transcriptional regulation, transdominant inhibition, and transformation suppression. Mol Cell Biol. 1993 Sep;13(9):5186-94.

480. Milner J, Medcalf EA. Cotranslation of activated mutant p53 with wild type drives the wild-type p53 protein into the mutant conformation. Cell. 1991 May 31;65(5):765-74.

481. Kern SE, Pietenpol JA, Thiagalingam S, Seymour A, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Oncogenic forms of p53 inhibit p53-regulated gene expression. Science. 1992 May 8;256(5058):827-30.

482. Shaulian E, Zauberman A, Ginsberg D, Oren M. Identification of a minimal transforming domain of p53: negative dominance through abrogation of sequence-specific DNA binding. Mol Cell Biol. 1992 Dec;12(12):5581-92.

483. Chan WM, Siu WY, Lau A, Poon RY. How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer? Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Apr;24(8):3536-51.

484. Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell. 2004 Dec 17;119(6):861-72.

485. Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell. 2004 Dec 17;119(6):847-60.

486. Kaelbling M, Burk RD, Atkin NB, Johnson AB, Klinger HP. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 17p and mutant p53 in HPV-negative cervical carcinomas. Lancet. 1992 Jul 18;340(8812):140-2.

487. Ridanpaa M, Anttila S, Husgafvel-Pursiainen K. Detection of loss of heterozygosity in the p53 tumor suppressor gene using a PCR-based assay. Pathol Res Pract. 1995 Jun;191(5):399-402.

488. Trkova M, Foretova L, Kodet R, Hedvicakova P, Sedlacek Z. A Li-Fraumeni syndrome family with retained heterozygosity for a germline TP53 mutation in two tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2003 Aug;145(1):60-4.

489. Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. Nat Genet. 1993 May;4(1):42-6.

490. Lanyi A, Deb D, Seymour RC, Ludes-Meyers JH, Subler MA, Deb S. 'Gain of function' phenotype of tumor-derived mutant p53 requires the oligomerization/nonsequence-specific nucleic acid-binding domain. Oncogene. 1998 Jun 18;16(24):3169-76.

491. Gualberto A, Aldape K, Kozakiewicz K, Tlsty TD. An oncogenic form of p53 confers a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype that disrupts spindle checkpoint control. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Apr 28;95(9):5166-71.

492. Murphy KL, Dennis AP, Rosen JM. A gain of function p53 mutant promotes both genomic instability and cell survival in a novel p53-null mammary epithelial cell model. FASEB J. 2000 Nov;14(14):2291-302.

493. El-Hizawi S, Lagowski JP, Kulesz-Martin M, Albor A. Induction of gene amplification as a gain-of-function phenotype of mutant p53 proteins. Cancer Res. 2002 Jun 1;62(11):3264-70.

494. Weisz L, Zalcenstein A, Stambolsky P, Cohen Y, Goldfinger N, Oren M, et al. Transactivation of the EGR1 gene contributes to mutant p53 gain of function. Cancer Res. 2004 Nov 15;64(22):8318-27.

495. Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Deb D, Ellis MA, Carchman EH, Das A, et al. Tumorderived p53 mutants induce oncogenesis by transactivating growth-promoting genes. Oncogene. 2004 May 27;23(25):4430-43.

496. Deb D, Scian M, Roth KE, Li W, Keiger J, Chakraborti AS, et al. Heterooligomerization does not compromise 'gain of function' of tumor-derived p53 mutants. Oncogene. 2002 Jan 10;21(2):176-89. 497. Zalcenstein A, Weisz L, Stambolsky P, Bar J, Rotter V, Oren M. Repression of the MSP/MST-1 gene contributes to the antiapoptotic gain of function of mutant p53. Oncogene. 2006 Jan 19;25(3):359-69.

498. Zalcenstein A, Stambolsky P, Weisz L, Muller M, Wallach D, Goncharov TM, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function: repression of CD95(Fas/APO-1) gene expression by tumor-associated p53 mutants. Oncogene. 2003 Aug 28;22(36):5667-76.

499. Sigal A, Matas D, Almog N, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. The C-terminus of mutant p53 is necessary for its ability to interfere with growth arrest or apoptosis. Oncogene. 2001 Aug 9;20(35):4891-8.

500. Peled A, Zipori D, Rotter V. Cooperation between p53-dependent and p53independent apoptotic pathways in myeloid cells. Cancer Res. 1996 May 1;56(9):2148-56.

501. Matas D, Sigal A, Stambolsky P, Milyavsky M, Weisz L, Schwartz D, et al. Integrity of the N-terminal transcription domain of p53 is required for mutant p53 interference with drug-induced apoptosis. EMBO J. 2001 Aug 1;20(15):4163-72.

502. Blandino G, Levine AJ, Oren M. Mutant p53 gain of function: differential effects of different p53 mutants on resistance of cultured cells to chemotherapy. Oncogene. 1999 Jan 14;18(2):477-85.

503. Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. Cancer Cell. 2006 Sep;10(3):191-202.

504. Bossi G, Marampon F, Maor-Aloni R, Zani B, Rotter V, Oren M, et al. Conditional RNA interference in vivo to study mutant p53 oncogenic gain of function on tumor malignancy. Cell Cycle. 2008 Jun;7(12):1870-9.

505. Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. Oncogene. 2006 Jan 12;25(2):304-9.

506. Flores ER, Sengupta S, Miller JB, Newman JJ, Bronson R, Crowley D, et al. Tumor predisposition in mice mutant for p63 and p73: evidence for broader tumor suppressor functions for the p53 family. Cancer Cell. 2005 Apr;7(4):363-73.

507. Luo JL, Yang Q, Tong WM, Hergenhahn M, Wang ZQ, Hollstein M. Knock-in mice with a chimeric human/murine p53 gene develop normally and show wild-type p53 responses to DNA damaging agents: a new biomedical research tool. Oncogene. 2001 Jan 18;20(3):320-8.

508. Luo JL, Tong WM, Yoon JH, Hergenhahn M, Koomagi R, Yang Q, et al. UVinduced DNA damage and mutations in Hupki (human p53 knock-in) mice recapitulate p53 hotspot alterations in sun-exposed human skin. Cancer Res. 2001 Nov 15;61(22):8158-63.

509. Song H, Hollstein M, Xu Y. p53 gain-of-function cancer mutants induce genetic instability by inactivating ATM. Nat Cell Biol. 2007 May;9(5):573-80.

510. Chin KV, Ueda K, Pastan I, Gottesman MM. Modulation of activity of the promoter of the human MDR1 gene by Ras and p53. Science. 1992 Jan 24;255(5043):459-62.

511. Lin J, Teresky AK, Levine AJ. Two critical hydrophobic amino acids in the N-terminal domain of the p53 protein are required for the gain of function phenotypes of human p53 mutants. Oncogene. 1995 Jun 15;10(12):2387-90.

512. Ludes-Meyers JH, Subler MA, Shivakumar CV, Munoz RM, Jiang P, Bigger JE, et al. Transcriptional activation of the human epidermal growth factor receptor promoter by human p53. Mol Cell Biol. 1996 Nov;16(11):6009-19.

513. O'Farrell TJ, Ghosh P, Dobashi N, Sasaki CY, Longo DL. Comparison of the effect of mutant and wild-type p53 on global gene expression. Cancer Res. 2004 Nov 15;64(22):8199-207.

514. Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Ellis MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, et al. Modulation of gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants. Cancer Res. 2004 Oct 15;64(20):7447-54.

515. Tepper CG, Gregg JP, Shi XB, Vinall RL, Baron CA, Ryan PE, et al. Profiling of gene expression changes caused by p53 gain-of-function mutant alleles in prostate cancer cells. Prostate. 2005 Dec 1;65(4):375-89.

516. Kress M, May E, Cassingena R, May P. Simian virus 40-transformed cells express new species of proteins precipitable by anti-simian virus 40 tumor serum. J Virol. 1979 Aug;31(2):472-83.

517. Oren M, Reich NC, Levine AJ. Regulation of the cellular p53 tumor antigen in teratocarcinoma cells and their differentiated progeny. Mol Cell Biol. 1982 Apr;2(4):443-9.

518. Buschmann T, Minamoto T, Wagle N, Fuchs SY, Adler V, Mai M, et al. Analysis of JNK, Mdm2 and p14(ARF) contribution to the regulation of mutant p53 stability. J Mol Biol. 2000 Jan 28;295(4):1009-21.

519. Midgley CA, Lane DP. p53 protein stability in tumour cells is not determined by mutation but is dependent on Mdm2 binding. Oncogene. 1997 Sep 4;15(10):1179-89.

520. Terzian T, Suh YA, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. Genes Dev. 2008 May 15;22(10):1337-44.

521. Cantwell BM, Hennessy C, Sawan A, Dawes PJ, Millward M, Lennard TW. Primary tumour mutant p53 gene protein and epidermal growth factor receptor expression and doxorubicin plus ifosfamide for recurrent breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 1992 Mar;3(3):246-7.

522. Crook T, Vousden KH. Properties of p53 mutations detected in primary and secondary cervical cancers suggest mechanisms of metastasis and involvement of environmental carcinogens. EMBO J. 1992 Nov;11(11):3935-40.

523. Martin HM, Filipe MI, Morris RW, Lane DP, Silvestre F. p53 expression and prognosis in gastric carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1992 Apr 1;50(6):859-62.

524. Riou G, Le MG, Travagli JP, Levine AJ, Moll UM. Poor prognosis of p53 gene mutation and nuclear overexpression of p53 protein in inflammatory breast carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993 Nov 3;85(21):1765-7.

525. Levesque MA, Katsaros D, Yu H, Zola P, Sismondi P, Giardina G, et al. Mutant p53 protein overexpression is associated with poor outcome in patients with well or moderately differentiated ovarian carcinoma. Cancer. 1995 Mar 15;75(6):1327-38.

526. Strang P, Nordstom B, Nilsson S, Bergstrom R, Tribukait B. Mutant p53 protein as a predictor of survival in endometrial carcinoma. Eur J Cancer. 1996 Apr;32A(4):598-602.

527. Haensgen G, Krause U, Becker A, Stadler P, Lautenschlaeger C, Wohlrab W, et al. Tumor hypoxia, p53, and prognosis in cervical cancers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001 Jul 15;50(4):865-72.

528. Schmitt CA, Fridman JS, Yang M, Lee S, Baranov E, Hoffman RM, et al. A senescence program controlled by p53 and p16INK4a contributes to the outcome of cancer therapy. Cell. 2002 May 3;109(3):335-46.

529. Burke L, Flieder DB, Guinee DG, Brambilla E, Freedman AN, Bennett WP, et al. Prognostic implications of molecular and immunohistochemical profiles of the Rb and p53 cell cycle regulatory pathways in primary non-small cell lung carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005 Jan 1;11(1):232-41.

530. Xue W, Zender L, Miething C, Dickins RA, Hernando E, Krizhanovsky V, et al. Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. Nature. 2007 Feb 8;445(7128):656-60.

531. Ventura A, Kirsch DG, McLaughlin ME, Tuveson DA, Grimm J, Lintault L, et al. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. Nature. 2007 Feb 8;445(7128):661-5.

532. Martins CP, Brown-Swigart L, Evan GI. Modeling the therapeutic efficacy of p53 restoration in tumors. Cell. 2006 Dec 29;127(7):1323-34.

533. Senzer N, Nemunaitis J, Nemunaitis M, Lamont J, Gore M, Gabra H, et al. p53 therapy in a patient with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Mol Cancer Ther. 2007 May;6(5):1478-82.

534. Lane DP. Exploiting the p53 pathway for the diagnosis and therapy of human cancer. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 2005;70:489-97.

535. Dey A, Verma CS, Lane DP. Updates on p53: modulation of p53 degradation as a therapeutic approach. Br J Cancer. 2008 Jan 15;98(1):4-8.

536. Vassilev LT. MDM2 inhibitors for cancer therapy. Trends Mol Med. 2007 Jan;13(1):23-31.

537. Tovar C, Rosinski J, Filipovic Z, Higgins B, Kolinsky K, Hilton H, et al. Smallmolecule MDM2 antagonists reveal aberrant p53 signaling in cancer: implications for therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Feb 7;103(6):1888-93.

538. Patton JT, Mayo LD, Singhi AD, Gudkov AV, Stark GR, Jackson MW. Levels of HdmX expression dictate the sensitivity of normal and transformed cells to Nutlin-3. Cancer Res. 2006 Mar 15;66(6):3169-76.

539. Efeyan A, Ortega-Molina A, Velasco-Miguel S, Herranz D, Vassilev LT, Serrano M. Induction of p53-dependent senescence by the MDM2 antagonist nutlin-3a in mouse cells of fibroblast origin. Cancer Res. 2007 Aug 1;67(15):7350-7.

540. Grasberger BL, Lu T, Schubert C, Parks DJ, Carver TE, Koblish HK, et al. Discovery and cocrystal structure of benzodiazepinedione HDM2 antagonists that activate p53 in cells. J Med Chem. 2005 Feb 24;48(4):909-12.

541. Ding K, Lu Y, Nikolovska-Coleska Z, Wang G, Qiu S, Shangary S, et al. Structurebased design of spiro-oxindoles as potent, specific small-molecule inhibitors of the MDM2-p53 interaction. J Med Chem. 2006 Jun 15;49(12):3432-5.

542. Issaeva N, Bozko P, Enge M, Protopopova M, Verhoef LG, Masucci M, et al. Small molecule RITA binds to p53, blocks p53-HDM-2 interaction and activates p53 function in tumors. Nat Med. 2004 Dec;10(12):1321-8.

543. Krajewski M, Ozdowy P, D'Silva L, Rothweiler U, Holak TA. NMR indicates that the small molecule RITA does not block p53-MDM2 binding in vitro. Nat Med. 2005 Nov;11(11):1135-6; author reply 6-7.

544. Tortora G, Caputo R, Damiano V, Bianco R, Chen J, Agrawal S, et al. A novel MDM2 anti-sense oligonucleotide has anti-tumor activity and potentiates cytotoxic drugs acting by different mechanisms in human colon cancer. Int J Cancer. 2000 Dec 1;88(5):804-9.

545. Zhang R, Wang H, Agrawal S. Novel antisense anti-MDM2 mixed-backbone oligonucleotides: proof of principle, in vitro and in vivo activities, and mechanisms. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2005 Feb;5(1):43-9.

546. Bianco R, Ciardiello F, Tortora G. Chemosensitization by antisense oligonucleotides targeting MDM2. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2005 Feb;5(1):51-6.

547. Davydov IV, Woods D, Safiran YJ, Oberoi P, Fearnhead HO, Fang S, et al. Assay for ubiquitin ligase activity: high-throughput screen for inhibitors of HDM2. J Biomol Screen. 2004 Dec;9(8):695-703.

548. Yang Y, Ludwig RL, Jensen JP, Pierre SA, Medaglia MV, Davydov IV, et al. Small molecule inhibitors of HDM2 ubiquitin ligase activity stabilize and activate p53 in cells. Cancer Cell. 2005 Jun;7(6):547-59.

549. Soengas MS, Capodieci P, Polsky D, Mora J, Esteller M, Opitz-Araya X, et al. Inactivation of the apoptosis effector Apaf-1 in malignant melanoma. Nature. 2001 Jan 11;409(6817):207-11.

550. Michalovitz D, Halevy O, Oren M. Conditional inhibition of transformation and of cell proliferation by a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53. Cell. 1990 Aug 24;62(4):671-80.

551. Milner J, Medcalf EA. Temperature-dependent switching between "wild-type" and "mutant" forms of p53-Val135. J Mol Biol. 1990 Dec 5;216(3):481-4.

552. Gannon JV, Lane DP. Protein synthesis required to anchor a mutant p53 protein which is temperature-sensitive for nuclear transport. Nature. 1991 Feb 28;349(6312):802-6.

553. Brachmann RK, Yu K, Eby Y, Pavletich NP, Boeke JD. Genetic selection of intragenic suppressor mutations that reverse the effect of common p53 cancer mutations. EMBO J. 1998 Apr 1;17(7):1847-59.

554. Nikolova PV, Wong KB, DeDecker B, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Mechanism of rescue of common p53 cancer mutations by second-site suppressor mutations. EMBO J. 2000 Feb 1;19(3):370-8.

555. Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structure-function-rescue: the diverse nature of common p53 cancer mutants. Oncogene. 2007 Apr 2;26(15):2226-42.

556. Foster BA, Coffey HA, Morin MJ, Rastinejad F. Pharmacological rescue of mutant p53 conformation and function. Science. 1999 Dec 24;286(5449):2507-10.

557. Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. Nat Med. 2002 Mar;8(3):282-8.

558. Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Zache N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Bergman J, et al. Reactivation of mutant p53 and induction of apoptosis in human tumor cells by maleimide analogs. J Biol Chem. 2005 Aug 26;280(34):30384-91.

559. Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Selivanova G, Wiman KG. Mutant p53-dependent growth suppression distinguishes PRIMA-1 from known anticancer drugs: a statistical analysis of information in the National Cancer Institute database. Carcinogenesis. 2002 Dec;23(12):2011-8.

560. Maniatis T, Fritsch EF, Sambrook J. Molecular cloning : a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory; 1982.

561. Marston NJ, Crook T, Vousden KH. Interaction of p53 with MDM2 is independent of E6 and does not mediate wild type transformation suppressor function. Oncogene. 1994 Sep;9(9):2707-16.

562. Chen J, Lin J, Levine AJ. Regulation of transcription functions of the p53 tumor suppressor by the mdm-2 oncogene. Mol Med. 1995 Jan;1(2):142-52.

563. Kubbutat MH, Ludwig RL, Levine AJ, Vousden KH. Analysis of the degradation function of Mdm2. Cell Growth Differ. 1999 Feb;10(2):87-92.

564. Fang S, Jensen JP, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH, Weissman AM. Mdm2 is a RING finger-dependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. J Biol Chem. 2000 Mar 24;275(12):8945-51.

565. Bodner SM, Minna JD, Jensen SM, D'Amico D, Carbone D, Mitsudomi T, et al. Expression of mutant p53 proteins in lung cancer correlates with the class of p53 gene mutation. Oncogene. 1992 Apr;7(4):743-9.

566. Ponten J, Saksela E. Two established in vitro cell lines from human mesenchymal tumours. Int J Cancer. 1967 Sep 15;2(5):434-47.

567. Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 function and stability by phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 Mar;19(3):1751-8.

568. Uchida C, Miwa S, Kitagawa K, Hattori T, Isobe T, Otani S, et al. Enhanced Mdm2 activity inhibits pRB function via ubiquitin-dependent degradation. Embo J. 2005 Jan 12;24(1):160-9.

569. Sahin O, Lobke C, Korf U, Appelhans H, Sultmann H, Poustka A, et al. Combinatorial RNAi for quantitative protein network analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Apr 17;104(16):6579-84.

570. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature. 1970 Aug 15;227(5259):680-5.

571. Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1979 Sep;76(9):4350-4.

572. Vojtesek B, Bartek J, Midgley CA, Lane DP. An immunochemical analysis of the human nuclear phosphoprotein p53. New monoclonal antibodies and epitope mapping using recombinant p53. J Immunol Methods. 1992 Jul 6;151(1-2):237-44.

573. Banks L, Matlashewski G, Crawford L. Isolation of human-p53-specific monoclonal antibodies and their use in the studies of human p53 expression. Eur J Biochem. 1986 Sep 15;159(3):529-34.

574. Harlow E, Crawford LV, Pim DC, Williamson NM. Monoclonal antibodies specific for simian virus 40 tumor antigens. J Virol. 1981 Sep;39(3):861-9.

575. Milner J, Cook A, Sheldon M. A new anti-p53 monoclonal antibody, previously reported to be directed against the large T antigen of simian virus 40. Oncogene. 1987;1(4):453-5.

576. Yewdell JW, Gannon JV, Lane DP. Monoclonal antibody analysis of p53 expression in normal and transformed cells. J Virol. 1986 Aug;59(2):444-52.

577. Midgley CA, Fisher CJ, Bartek J, Vojtesek B, Lane D, Barnes DM. Analysis of p53 expression in human tumours: an antibody raised against human p53 expressed in Escherichia coli. J Cell Sci. 1992 Jan;101 (Pt 1):183-9.

578. Shimizu H, Burch LR, Smith AJ, Dornan D, Wallace M, Ball KL, et al. The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2002 Aug 9;277(32):28446-58.

579. Bullock AN, Fersht AR. Rescuing the function of mutant p53. Nat Rev Cancer. 2001 Oct;1(1):68-76.

580. Milner J, Medcalf EA, Cook AC. Tumor suppressor p53: analysis of wild-type and mutant p53 complexes. Mol Cell Biol. 1991 Jan;11(1):12-9.

581. Sigal A, Rotter V. Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: the demons of the guardian of the genome. Cancer Res. 2000 Dec 15;60(24):6788-93.

582. Marston NJ, Jenkins JR, Vousden KH. Oligomerisation of full length p53 contributes to the interaction with mdm2 but not HPV E6. Oncogene. 1995 May 4;10(9):1709-15.

583. Webley KM, Shorthouse AJ, Royds JA. Effect of mutation and conformation on the function of p53 in colorectal cancer. J Pathol. 2000 Aug;191(4):361-7.

584. Peng Y, Chen L, Li C, Lu W, Chen J. Inhibition of MDM2 by hsp90 contributes to mutant p53 stabilization. J Biol Chem. 2001 Nov 2;276(44):40583-90.

585. Saucedo LJ, Myers CD, Perry ME. Multiple murine double minute gene 2 (MDM2) proteins are induced by ultraviolet light. J Biol Chem. 1999 Mar 19;274(12):8161-8.

586. Dang J, Kuo ML, Eischen CM, Stepanova L, Sherr CJ, Roussel MF. The RING domain of Mdm2 can inhibit cell proliferation. Cancer Res. 2002 Feb 15;62(4):1222-30.

587. Moll UM, Petrenko O. The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol Cancer Res. 2003 Dec;1(14):1001-8.

588. de Graaf P, Little NA, Ramos YF, Meulmeester E, Letteboer SJ, Jochemsen AG. Hdmx protein stability is regulated by the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 3;278(40):38315-24.

589. Pan Y, Chen J. MDM2 promotes ubiquitination and degradation of MDMX. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Aug;23(15):5113-21.

590. Corcoran CA, Huang Y, Sheikh MS. The p53 paddy wagon: COP1, Pirh2 and MDM2 are found resisting apoptosis and growth arrest. Cancer Biol Ther. 2004 Aug;3(8):721-5.

591. Jiang J, Ballinger CA, Wu Y, Dai Q, Cyr DM, Hohfeld J, et al. CHIP is a U-boxdependent E3 ubiquitin ligase: identification of Hsc70 as a target for ubiquitylation. J Biol Chem. 2001 Nov 16;276(46):42938-44.

592. Lininger RA, Park WS, Man YG, Pham T, MacGrogan G, Zhuang Z, et al. LOH at 16p13 is a novel chromosomal alteration detected in benign and malignant microdissected papillary neoplasms of the breast. Hum Pathol. 1998 Oct;29(10):1113-8.

593. Antecol MH, Darveau A, Sonenberg N, Mukherjee BB. Altered biochemical properties of actin in normal skin fibroblasts from individuals predisposed to dominantly inherited cancers. Cancer Res. 1986 Apr;46(4 Pt 1):1867-73.

594. Nie L, Sasaki M, Maki CG. Regulation of p53 Nuclear Export through Sequential Changes in Conformation and Ubiquitination. J Biol Chem. 2007 May 11;282(19):14616-25.

595. Shimizu H, Saliba D, Wallace M, Finlan L, Langridge-Smith PR, Hupp TR. Destabilizing missense mutations in the tumour suppressor protein p53 enhance its ubiquitination in vitro and in vivo. Biochem J. 2006 Jul 15;397(2):355-67.

596. Martinez J, Georgoff I, Levine AJ. Cellular localization and cell cycle regulation by a temperature-sensitive p53 protein. Genes Dev. 1991 Feb;5(2):151-9.

597. Gaitonde SV, Riley JR, Qiao D, Martinez JD. Conformational phenotype of p53 is linked to nuclear translocation. Oncogene. 2000 Aug 17;19(35):4042-9.

598. Akakura S, Yoshida M, Yoneda Y, Horinouchi S. A role for Hsc70 in regulating nucleocytoplasmic transport of a temperature-sensitive p53 (p53Val-135). J Biol Chem. 2001 May 4;276(18):14649-57.

599. Zerrahn J, Deppert W, Weidemann D, Patschinsky T, Richards F, Milner J. Correlation between the conformational phenotype of p53 and its subcellular location. Oncogene. 1992 Jul;7(7):1371-81.

600. Liang SH, Clarke MF. A bipartite nuclear localization signal is required for p53 nuclear import regulated by a carboxyl-terminal domain. J Biol Chem. 1999 Nov 12;274(46):32699-703.

601. Kudo N, Wolff B, Sekimoto T, Schreiner EP, Yoneda Y, Yanagida M, et al. Leptomycin B inhibition of signal-mediated nuclear export by direct binding to CRM1. Exp Cell Res. 1998 Aug 1;242(2):540-7.

602. Vitali R, Cesi V, Tanno B, Ferrari-Amorotti G, Dominici C, Calabretta B, et al. Activation of p53-dependent responses in tumor cells treated with a PARC-interacting peptide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008 Apr 4;368(2):350-6.

603. Becker K, Marchenko ND, Maurice M, Moll UM. Hyperubiquitylation of wildtype p53 contributes to cytoplasmic sequestration in neuroblastoma. Cell Death Differ. 2007 Mar 23.

604. Gu J, Nie L, Kawai H, Yuan ZM. Subcellular distribution of p53 and p73 are differentially regulated by MDM2. Cancer Res. 2001 Sep 15;61(18):6703-7.

605. Inoue T, Stuart J, Leno R, Maki CG. Nuclear import and export signals in control of the p53-related protein p73. J Biol Chem. 2002 Apr 26;277(17):15053-60.

606. Bensaad K, Le Bras M, Unsal K, Strano S, Blandino G, Tominaga O, et al. Change of conformation of the DNA-binding domain of p53 is the only key element for binding of and interference with p73. J Biol Chem. 2003 Mar 21;278(12):10546-55.

607. Dikshit P, Jana NR. The co-chaperone CHIP is induced in various stresses and confers protection to cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007 Jun 8;357(3):761-5.

608. Rosser MF, Washburn E, Muchowski PJ, Patterson C, Cyr DM. Chaperone functions of the E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP. J Biol Chem. 2007 Aug 3;282(31):22267-77.

609. Ma Y, Hendershot LM. The role of the unfolded protein response in tumour development: friend or foe? Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Dec;4(12):966-77.

610. Denoyelle C, Abou-Rjaily G, Bezrookove V, Verhaegen M, Johnson TM, Fullen DR, et al. Anti-oncogenic role of the endoplasmic reticulum differentially activated by mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Cell Biol. 2006 Oct;8(10):1053-63.